REFINITIV

DELTA REPORT
10-K

OPRX - OPTIMIZERX CORP
10-K - DECEMBER 31, 2023 COMPARED TO 10-K - DECEMBER 31, 2022

The following comparison report has been automatically generated

TOTAL DELTAS 3221

CHANGES 241
DELETIONS 1302
ADDITIONS 1678

REFINITIV CORPORATE DISCLOSURES | www.refinitiv.com | Contact Us 1/142

©2024 Refinitiv. All rights reserved. Republication or redistribution of Refinitiv content, including by framing or similar means, is prohibited without the prior written R E F I N I T I V
consent of Refinitiv. 'Refinitiv' and the Refinitiv logo are registered trademarks of Refinitiv and its affiliated companies. <


https://www.refinitiv.com/
https://www.refinitiv.com/en/contact-us

UNITED STATES
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION
WASHINGTON, D.C. 20549
FORM 10-K
ANNUAL REPORT UNDER SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
For the fiscal year ended December 31, 2022 2023
[0 TRANSITION REPORT UNDER SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

For the transition period from to

Commission file number: 001-38543
OptimizeRx Corporation

(Exact name of registrant as specified in its charter)

Nevada 26-1265381
(State or other jurisdiction of (LR.S. Employer
incorporation or organization) Identification No.)
302
400 Water260 Charles Street Suite 200 Waltham,
Rochester, MI MA 48307 02453
(Address of principal executive offices) (Zip Code)

Registrant’s telephone number: 248-651-6568
Securities registered under Section 12(b) of the Exchange Act:

Title of each class Trading Symbol Name of each exchange on which registered
Common Stock, par value $0.001 OPRX NASDAQ Capital Market

Securities registered under Section 12(g) of the Exchange Act: None
Indicate by check mark if the registrant is a well-known seasoned issuer, as defined in Rule 405 of the Securities Act. Yes (J No
Indicate by check mark if the registrant is not required to file reports pursuant to Section 13 or Section 15(d) of the Act. Yes (J No

Indicate by checkmark whether the registrant (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 during the preceding 12 months (or for such
shorter period that the registrant was required to file such reports), and (2) has been subject to such filing requirements for the past 90 days. Yes X No O

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant has submitted electronically every Interactive Data File required to be submitted pursuant to Rule 405 of Regulation S-T (§ 232.405 of this chapter)
during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to submit such files). Yes X No O

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, a non-accelerated filer, a smaller reporting company, or an emerging growth company. See the definitions
of “large accelerated filer,” “accelerated filer,” “smaller reporting company,” and “emerging growth company” in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act.

»

O  Large accelerated filer O  Accelerated filer
Non-accelerated filer Smaller reporting company
O  Emerging growth company

If an emerging growth company, indicate by check mark if the registrant has elected not to use the extended transition period for complying with any new or revised financial accounting standards
provided pursuant to Section 13(a) of the Exchange Act. O

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant has filed a report on and attestation to its management’s assessment of the effectiveness of its internal control over financial reporting under Section
404(b) of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act (15 U.S.C. 7262(b)) by the registered public accounting firm that prepared or issued its audit report. [J

If securities are registered pursuant to Section 12(b) of the Act, indicate by check mark whether the financial statements of the registrant included in the filing reflect the correction of an error to
previously issued financial statements. (J

Indicate by check mark whether any of those error corrections are restatements that required a recovery analysis of incentive-based compensation received by any of the registrant’s executive officers
during the relevant recovery period pursuant to §240.10D-1(b). O

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a shell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act). Yes (1 No

State the aggregate market value of the voting and non-voting common equity held by non-affiliates computed by reference to the price at which the common equity was last sold, or the average bid
and asked price of such common equity, as of the last business day of the registrant’s most recently completed second fiscal quarter. $486,888,119 $235,326,034

Indicate the number of shares outstanding of each of the registrant’s classes of common stock, as of the latest practicable date. 17,100,097 date.18,183,914 common shares as of February 28,
2023 April 12, 2024.
DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE

Certain portions of the registrant’s definitive proxy statement, in connection with its 2023 2024 Annual Meeting of Shareholders, to be filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission within 120
days after December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023, are incorporated by reference into PART III of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
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PART 1
Forward-Looking Statements
This Annual Report on Form 10-K contains statements that relate to future events and expectations and, as such, constitute forward-looking statements, within the meaning of the Private Securities
Litigation Reform Act of 1995. Certain statements, other than purely historical information, including estimates, projections, statements relating to our strategies, outlook, business and financial
prospects, business plans, objectives, and expected operating results, and the assumptions upon which those statements are based, are “forward-looking statements.” These forward-looking statements
generally are identified by the words “believes,” “project,” “expects,” “anticipates,” “estimates,” “intends,” “strategy,” “plan,” “may,” “will,” “would,” “will be,” “will continue,” “will likely result,”
and similar expressions. Forward-looking statements are based on current expectations and assumptions that are subject to risks and uncertainties which may cause actual results to differ materially
from the forward-looking statements. Forward-looking statements are not guarantees of future performance. Although OptimizeRx believes that the expectations reflected in any forward-looking
statements are based on reasonable assumptions, these expectations may not be attained and it is possible that actual results may differ materially from those indicated by these forward-looking
statements due to a variety of risks, uncertainties and changes in circumstances, many of which are beyond OptimizeRx’s control.
For a discussion of some of the specific factors that could cause actual results to differ materially from the information contained in this report, see the following sections of this report: Part I, Item
1A. “Risk Factors,” and Part II, Item 7. “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations,” including the disclosures under “Critical Accounting Estimates”.
Market projections are subject to the risks discussed in this report and other risks in the market. OptimizeRx disclaims any intention or obligation to update publicly any forward-looking statements,
whether in response to new information, future events or otherwise, except as required by applicable law.
Unless otherwise specified or the context otherwise requires, when used in this Annual Report on Form 10-K, the terms “we,
Corporation and its subsidiaries.
Item 1. Business
General
OptimizeRx is a digital health technology company enabling care-focused engagement between life sciences organizations, healthcare providers, and patients at critical junctures throughout the
patient care journey. Connecting over 60% of two million U.S. healthcare providers and millions of their patients through an intelligent omni-channel technology platform embedded within a
proprietary point-of-care network, as well as mass digital communications channels, OptimizeRx helps patients startlife sciences organizations engage and stay onsupport their
medications. customers.
We are a Nevada corporation organized in September 2008. We conduct our operations through our wholly-owned subsidiaries, OptimizeRx Corporation, Healthy Offers, Inc. (d/b/a Michigan Medicx
Health or “Medicx Health”), a Nevada corporation, CareSpeak Communications, Inc., a New Jersey corporation, CareSpeak Communications, D.0.0.d.0.0., a controlled foreign corporation
incorporated in Croatia, and Cyberdiet, a controlled foreign corporation incorporated in Israel.
We employ a “land and expand” strategy focused on growing our existing client base and generating greater and more consistent revenues, in part through the continued shift in our business model
toward enterprise level engagements, while also broadening our platform with innovative proprietary solutions such as our TelaRep™ virtual communication solution Artificial Intelligence (AI)
powered Dynamic Audience and our Al-powered real-world evidence solution Activation Platform (“DAAP”), expanding on previous iterations of the RWD.AI technology. which uses sophisticated
proprietary algorithms. machine-learning algorithms to find the best audiences in the correct channels at the right time.

» e » » e » » &« » &« »

» »

our,” “us,” “OptimizeRx,” or the “Company” refer to OptimizeRx
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Industry Background
Life sciences organizations face a challenging commercial landscape. In recent years, they have met increased competition, shrinking market sizes, and inconsistent access to patients and healthcare
professionals - their most important customers. The majority 81% of new drug approvals 81%, are specialty medications, leading to more complex diagnosis criteria, increased utilization management
by healthcare payors, and lengthy wait times for patients to begin treatment once after care decisions are made.
As a result, life sciences organizations have increasingly turned to technology solutions to support their commercial strategies. Spending on digital solutions to facilitate greater access to their end
markets accounts for one-third of their collective $30bn commercial spend in the United States (U.S.) of approximately $30 billion.
We believe significant opportunity exists to address the unmet needs of life sciences organizations as they relate to digital solutions, including omni-channel omnichannel access to health care
professionals, for complex commercial challenges.
20222023 Company Highlights

1. 1. Netrevenue increased to $71.5 million in 2023, a record $62. 5 million in 2022, a 2% 15% increase over 2021.

Achieved positive cash flow from operations of $10.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2022.
Gross margins increased from 58% to 62%.

Repurchased 1,214,398 shares during 2022 at an average price of $16.49 per share.

Acquired the EvinceMed platform and related assets.

2
3
4
5. Increased use of Real-World Data Artificial Intelligence (“RWD.AI”) solutions. Ended the year with 6 RWD.AI deals.
6.
7. Published Company’s first Environmental, Social and Governance (“ESG”) Report.

8

Announced partnership with Equals 5, becoming the only source capable of delivering true omni-channel engagement with HCPs, spanning web, social, and point-of-care messaging
delivery modalities. 2022.

Gross profit increased to $42.9 million in 2023 from $39.0 million in 2022 with corresponding gross margins of 60.0% and 62.4%, respectively.
Meaningfully increased our DAAP footprint. With 2023 having 24 DAAP deals compared to only six deals in 2022.

Acquired Medicx Health, a leading healthcare consumer-focused omnichannel marketing and analytics company that significantly expands our footprint with consumers and patients.

2l B = e

Refocused operations on core solutions to streamline efficiencies and better position the Company to capitalize on synergies with Medicx Health, focusing on Audience Development,

Audience Activation and Media Execution, and Financial Messaging.

Principal Solutions

Historically, we primarily facilitatedThe Company’s original solution was Financial Messaging - the delivery of treatment-specific financial messages support information for patients distributed
directly to healthcare prescribers through a combination of our proprietary technology and a network of electronic health care providers via their EHR record (EHR) and ePrescribe systems using the
OptimizeRx proprietary network to solve the ever-increasing communication barriers between pharmaceutical representatives and healthcare providers. electronic prescribing (ERx) platforms. Over
time, as the demand for different types of communication of an increasing variety of different health information betweenand marketing solutions among life science companies, sciences
organizations, healthcare providers, and patients has risen, led us to expand upon our platform has expanded initial solution to encompass additional increase the variety of health-related information
we deliver, as well as the platforms, technology, and audiences through and to which we deliver. Today, we offer diverse tech-enabled marketing solutions through our Al-generated DAAP, which
enables customers to execute traditional marketing campaigns on our proprietary digital point-of-care network, as well as dynamic marketing campaigns that enable healthcare providers optimize
audiences in real time to accessincrease the value of treatment information for healthcare professionals and patients at the point of care. These solutions include evidence-based physician
engagement, point of in response to clinical care banner messaging, social network banner messaging, institutional account-based banner messaging, innovative patient engagement services, and
various accelerators to the therapy initiation workflow. events.

Our principal solutions, available individually or through our DAAP, can be summarized as follows:

Evidence-Based Physician Engag Audience Develop — Our evidence-based physician engagement solution uses predictive analytics via machine learning methods applied to real-world
data (RWD) to assist healthcare providers (HCPs) in identifying patients who may be qualified for specific therapies, raise awareness of patient access pathways, and identify early indicators of non-
adherence among patient populations. This RWD-enabled solution translates into better support for providers as they look to make the best treatment decisions for their patients. This solution has a
“patient-first” focus, helping manufacturers identify which HCPs to engage by first identifying if they currently care for qualified patients, based on where they are in their care journey and disease
state. These Artificial Intelligence (“AI”) models provide our clients with the most relevant targets and fuel the deployment of programs across our other solutions.

e  Al-generated dynamic audience creation using predictive analytics via machine learning methods applied to real-world data (RWD) to assist healthcare providers (HCPs) in identifying
patients who may be qualified for specific therapies, raise awareness of patient access pathways, and identify early indicators of non-adherence among patient populations. This solution
has a “patient-first” focus, helping manufacturers identify which HCPs to engage by first identifying if they currently care for qualified patients, based on where they are in their care
journey and disease state. These AI models provide our clients with the most relevant targets and fuel the deployment of programs across our other solutions.

Point of Care Banner Messaging — Our point of care banner messaging solution is utilized to deliver a variety of awareness (brand, therapeutic support, affordability, HUB, and patient support
program) and messaging within the clinical workflow which can be tailored to meet the needs of each brand.
e  Creation of consumer audiences using our privacy-safe and HIPAA-compliant Micro-Neighborhood Targeting® technology available for traditional media execution through major
programmatic Demand-Side Platforms (DSPs)
Social Network Banner Messaging — This past year we expanded to provide exclusive access to deliver banner messaging to HCPs within their social network apps. With extensive reach and
granular reporting, this solution both expands the ability to reach more prescribers while adding to the mind share we can capture throughout a care delivery day. Given these messages are targeted to
specific HCPs, many of the same awareness messages offered on the point of care banner solution are offered here as well.
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Institutional Acc based Banner Messaging Audience Activation and Media Execution — Our Institutional Account-based Banner Messaging solution provides our clients access to delivering
banner messaging online and on the intranets of targeted health system accounts. This allows our clients to capture additional mind share while also reaching other prescribers and support staff at key
health systems or integrated delivery networks (IDNs).
e HCP media execution delivering awareness (brand, therapeutic support, affordability, HUB, limited distribution, and patient support program) messaging via our HCP omnichannel
network including digital point-of-care banners within clinical workflow applications, such as EHR systems and ERx platforms, programmatic social media, and programmatic display.

e  Consumer audience media execution delivering consumer awareness via our consumer omnichannel network including programmatic display, programmatic connected television

(CTV)/over-the-top (OTT), programmatic social media, addressable television (ATV), digital out-of-home (OOH), programmatic audio (podcasts, apps, radio), and email/direct mail.
Financial Messaging — Our Financial Messaging solution has been enhanced by Patient Support Messaging at the point-of-care. This solution provides prescribers visibility to branded copay offers
and other patient support programs directly within their EHR and/or e-Prescribe system(s). It allows them to print, digitally send directly to patients via SMS, and/or digitally send copay offer details
electronically to the dispensing pharmacy. Our solution addresses the fact that many healthcare systems and prescribers are looking for an easier, more effective way to increase affordable access and
adherence to their prescribed branded medications.

e  Financial Messaging solution providing prescribers visibility to branded copay offers directly within their EHR systems and/or ERx platforms. It allows prescribers to print, digitally send
directly to patients via SMS, and/or digitally send copay offer details electronically to the dispensing pharmacy. Our solution addresses the fact that many healthcare systems and
prescribers are looking for an easier, more effective way to increase affordable access to their prescribed branded medications.

Patient Engagement — Our technology solution provides digital messaging services through our cloud-based Mobile Health Messenger (“MHM”) Platform. We provide interactive health messaging
for improved medication adherence and care coordination. Our HIPAA-compliant, automated, mobile messaging platform allows pharmaceutical manufactures and related entities to directly engage
with patients to improve regimen compliance.

Therapy Initiation Workflow — The therapy initiation workflow is a group of digital solutions focused on accelerating patient access to treatments where time-consuming medical documentation is
required of HCPs prior to pharmacies dispensing prescribed drugs. These solutions support the fast-growing area of specialty medications. This technology enhancement allows life sciences
companies to simplify therapy initiation by presenting HCPs with a fully electronic option synchronizing enrollment, benefits verification, prior authorization, and patient support onboarding.

Sales and Marketing

We employ a sales team of over 19 20 people, marketing our solutions to new and existing clients. Our sales team drives awareness of the increased value of our technology stack as an enterprise
platform, enhanced this year by the addition of the social channel, and momentum of our institutional/account-based banner message solutions offering. Al tech-enabled marketing platform.
Accordingly, our sales efforts are not directed merely at selling individual solutions, but more broadly towards selling enterprise platform engagements with access to our full set of solutions across
our network. solutions.

Our sales and marketing organizations teams work closely together to cultivate customer relationships. We use a number of methods to market and promote our solutions, including digital advertising,
industry events, trade shows, conferences, media coverage, social media and email. We released a physician survey of 100 physicians across five specialties, detailing In 2023, we enhanced our
RWD.AI platform solution to become the specialty landscape premier platform to devise and execute Next-Best-Action marketing strategies within healthcare professional audiences and branded the
platform as it pertains to prescribing pain points specialists experience. Additionally, we hosted our third annual Innovate4Outcomes event, partnering with Melinta Therapeutics, bringing individuals
together across healthcare verticals, including HCPs, commercial manufacturer representatives, and health tech. The event focused on applying design thinking principles to contributing factors to
Anti-Microbial Resistance, and was independently covered in end-of-year trade publications for the first time. DAAP.

Technology

To support our growth and provide maximum security, scalability, and flexibility, all of our systems, including from acquisitions, are now hosted and integrated in the cloud. Our technology
development and systems management core team is in the U.S. and in Croatia, with contractors in India and Ukraine to provide bench depth, rich skills experience, and business economies. The teams
are organized into Centers of Excellence focused on Product Domains, Quality Assurance, Information Security, Data Warehousing and Business Intelligence, Platform Services, and Internal Systems
Support.

Systems enhancements in 2022 2023 included upgrades and documentation of processes and procedures and security implementation for ongoing cybersecurity, Sarbanes Oxley, HIPAA, and customer
security assessments, and in achieving Enterprise enterprise HITRUST Certification, as well as for other needs. recertification.
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Competition

Competition

Our platforms solutions face competition from numerous other companies, both in attracting users and in generating revenue from advertisers and sponsors. We compete for users with online services
and websites that provide savings on medications and healthcare products. Our messaging offerings compete for pharmaceutical budgets with a variety of other forms of advertising and promotion.
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Our platforms solutions compete broadly in the highly competitive pharmaceutical and life sciences digital marketing industry that is dominated by large well-known companies with established
names, solid market niches, and wide arrays of product offerings and marketing networks. Many of our competitors have greater financial, technical, product development, marketing and other
resources than we do. These companies may be better known than we are and have more customers or users than we do. As a result, many of these companies may respond more quickly to new or
emerging technologies and standards and changes in customer requirements.

These companies may be able to invest more resources in research and development, strategic acquisitions, and sales and marketing. The primary direct competitor in our financial messaging solution
is ConnectiveRx. We generally compete on the basis of several factors, including size of our network, quality of our service, our ability to target specific customer needs, and to a lesser extent, price.
For more information on risks relating to our competition, see Item 1A. Risk Factors.

Intellectual Property

Historically, we have created intellectual property or obtained intellectual property through commercial relationships and in connection with acquisitions.

We own patents important to our business, and we expect to continue to file patent applications to protect our research and development investments in new products. As of December 31,
2022 December 31, 2023, we held 3 five patents and several two pending patent applications, including foreign counterpart patents and foreign applications. For the United States, patents may last 20
years from the date of the patent’s filing, depending upon subject to term adjustments made by the patent office.

In addition, we hold own registered trademarks in the United States and other countries. As of December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023, OPTIMIZERx, OPTIMIZEMD, CareSpeak, DIETWATCH,
Innovate4Outcomes, SPRx, SPx, RMDY, Specialty Express, TELAREP, Medicx, Micro-Neighborhood, and TELAREP Geomedical Targeting are our registered trademarks. We also have several
pending trademark applications.

We also have licenses to intellectual property for the use and sale of certain of our solutions. In addition, we obtain other intellectual property rights and/or licenses used in connection with our
business when practical and appropriate. Historically, we have created intellectual property or obtained intellectual property through commercial relationships and in connection with acquisitions.
Government Regulation

The healthcare industry and, in particular, our customers and partners are subject to U.S. federal, state and local laws and regulations, including those governing fraud, abuse, privacy and security.
Many of these laws and regulations are complicated and how they might apply to us, our customers, our partners, or the specific services and relationships we have with our customers and partners
are not always well-defined. Our failure, or perceived failure, to accurately apply, or comply with, these laws and regulations could subject us to significant fines and liability, result in reputational
harm, and adversely affect our business. Any new or amended laws or regulations that impose significant operational restrictions and compliance requirements may negatively impact our business.
See Item 1A. Risk Factors for more information on the impact of Government Regulations on OptimizeRx.

Employees

As of December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023, we had 94116 full-time employees and 1 part-time employee in the U.S, as well as 1519 full-time employees in Croatia, and 1 part-time
employee. Croatia. None of our employees are represented by a labor union or collective bargaining agreement with respect to their employment with us. The majority of our employees work
remotely and are geographically distributed across the United States and Croatia. We supplement our workforce with contractors in the United States and internationally on an as-needed basis. We
consider our relationship with our employees to be good and have not experienced any work stoppages.We stoppages.

We are dedicated to maintaining an providing a supportive and respectful environment to our employees where everyone feels valued, and we celebrate both the differences and similarities among our
people. We also believe that diversity in all areas, including cultural background, experience and thought, is essential to bettering a professional environment and in making our Company stronger.
Our Diversity, Equity, Inclusion & Inclusion Belonging Committee (DE&I)(DEI&B) is actively engaged in improving our culture, hiring practices and education. training. In 2022,2023, we
endeavored to uphold upheld the Parity Pledge — a commitment made in 2021 to interview and consider at least one qualified woman and one underrepresented minority for every open role, VP or
higher. In addition, the DE&IDEI&B Committee sponsored quarterly events in 2022,2023, including “Celebrate Women’s History” “Historic Women Inventors”, “Celebrate Diversity
Month” “Mental Health Awareness”, “Step Challenge”, and “Hot One’s Trivia Show.” “Affinity Groups”.
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We prioritize recruiting, retaining, and incentivizing a highly qualified, diverse workforce. workforce as the success of our Company is dependent on the skills, experience, and efforts of our
employees. A skilled workforce not only improves a company’s performance, but also contributes to overall employee satisfaction and enhances human capital. We have increased our focus on
training and development for our current employees and have implemented a Learning Management System where current and future training modules will be presented and tracked for reporting
purposes. We offer other learning and development opportunities and resources to support our employees in achieving and enhancing their development objectives. We equip our managers with the
skills and tools to provide ongoing coaching and feedback so employees can maximize their performance and potential, delivering success for the Company and the employee.

We pay our employees competitively and offer a broad range of company-paid benefits, which we believe are competitive with others in our industry. Moreover, we believe our long-term incentives
are structured in a manner to provide time-based vesting schedules that are retentive and we incentivize selected select employees through the granting of stock-based awards for and cash-based
performance bonus awards.

We have increased our focus on training and development for our current employees. We offer learning and development opportunities and other resources to support our employees in achieving and
enhancing their development objectives. We equip our managers with the skills and tools to provide ongoing coaching and feedback so employees can maximize their performance and potential,
delivering success for the company and the employee.Available Information

Available Information

Our Internet address is www.optimizerx.com. The information onWe are subject to the website is not and should not be considered part of this Form 10-K and is not incorporated by reference in this
Form 10-K. The website is, and is only intended to be, for reference purposes only. We make available free of charge on or through our website our Annual Report on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on
Form 10-Q and current reports on Form 8-K, and amendments to those reports filed or furnished pursuant to Section 13(a) or 15(d) informational requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934,
as amended (the “Exchange Act”), and in accordance therewith, we file reports, proxy and information statements and other information with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”).
You can read our SEC filings over the Internet at the SEC’s website at www.sec.gov. Our filings with the SEC are also available free of charge through the investor relations section of our website
at www.optimizerx.com. Reports are available free of charge as soon as reasonably practicable after we electronically file such material them with, or furnish it them to, the Securities and Exchange
Commission (the “SEC”). In addition, SEC. From time to time, we will provide, at no cost, paper or electronic copies of our reports and other filings made also use multiple social media channels to
communicate with the SEC. Requests should public about OptimizeRx. It is possible that the information we post on social media could be directed to: Attention: Secretary, OptimizeRx Corporation,
400 Water Street, Suite 200, Rochester, MI 48307. deemed to be material information. Therefore, we encourage you to review the information we post on the social media channels listed on our
investor relations website, if any.

Information contained on or accessible through the websites and social media channels referred to above is not incorporated by reference in, or otherwise a part of, this Annual Report, and any
references to these websites and social media channels are intended to be inactive textual references only.

Item 1A. Risk Factors

Risks Relating to Our Business

Because we have historically experienced losses, if we are unable to achieve profitability, our financial condition and company could suffer.

With the exception of 2021, we have historically incurred losses as a result of investing in future growth. We incurred losses in 20222023 as a result of our increased spending to build the
organization to support expected future growth — both through additional new hires, as well as through acquisitions. While we have increased revenues, we have not yet consistently achieved
profitability due to these investments and non-cash expenses. Our ability to achieve consistent profitability depends on our ability to generate sales through our technology platform and advertising
model, while maintaining reasonable expense levels. If we do not achieve sustainable profitability, it may impact our ability to continue our operations.

Seasonal trends in the pharmaceutical brand marketing industry could affect our operating results.

In general, the pharmaceutical brand marketing industry experiences seasonal trends that affect the vast majority of participants in the pharmaceutical digital marketing industry. Many pharmaceutical
companies allocate the largest portion of their brand marketing to the fourth quarter of the calendar year. As a result, the first quarter tends to reflect lower activity levels and lower revenue, with
gradual increases in the following quarters. We generally expect these seasonality trends to continue and our ability to effectively manage our resources in anticipation of these trends may affect our
operating results.
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Developing and impl ing new and up d applications, features and services for our portals solutions may be more difficult than expected, may take longer and cost more than expected
and may not result in sufficient increases in revenue to justify the costs.

Attracting and retaining users of our portals solutions requires us to continue to improve the technology underlying those portals solutions and to continue to develop new and updated applications,
features and services for those portals. solutions. If we are unable to do so on a timely basis or if we are unable to implement new applications, features and services without disruption to our existing
ones, we may lose potential users and clients. The costs of development of these enhancements may negatively impact our ability to achieve profitability.

We rely on a combination of internal development, strategic relationships, licensing and acquisitions to develop our portals solutions and related applications, features and services. Our development
and/or implementation of new technologies, applications, features and services may cost more than expected, may take longer than originally expected, may require more testing than originally
anticipated and may require the acquisition of additional personnel and other resources. There can be no assurance that the revenue opportunities from any new or updated technologies, applications,
features or services will justify the amounts spent.

Any failure to offer high-quality customer support for our portals solutions may adversely affect our relationships with our ¢ s and harm our financial results.

Once our solutions are implemented, our customers use our support organization to resolve technical issues relating to our solutions. In addition, we also believe that our success in selling our
solutions is highly dependent on our business reputation and on favorable recommendations from our existing customers. Any failure to maintain high-quality customer support, or a market
perception that we do not maintain high-quality support, could harm our reputation, adversely affect our ability to maintain existing customers or sell our solutions to existing and prospective
customers, and harm our business, operating results and financial condition.

We may be unable to respond quickly enough to accommodate short-term increases in customer demand for support services. Increased customer demand for these services, without corresponding
revenues, could also increase costs and adversely affect our operating results.

We are dependent on a concentrated group of customers.

Because the pharmaceutical industry is dominated by large companies with multiple brands, our revenue is concentrated in a relatively small number of companies. We have approximately 100
pharmaceutical manufacturers as customers, and our revenues are concentrated in these customers. Loss of one or more of our larger customers could have a negative impact on our operating results.
Our top five customers represented 39% approximately 44% of revenue for the year ended December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023. In each of 2022 2023 and 2021, 2022, we had one customer that
each represented slightly over 10% of our revenues.

We expect that we will continue to depend upon a relatively small number of customers for a significant portion of our total revenues for the foreseeable future. The loss of any of these customers or
groups of customers for any reason, or a change of relationship with any of our key customers could cause a material decrease in our total revenues.

Additionally, mergers or consolidations among our customers in the healthcare industry could reduce the number of our customers and could adversely affect our revenues and sales. In particular, if
our customers are acquired by entities that are not also our customers, that do not use our solutions or that have more favorable contract terms with competitors and choose to discontinue, reduce or
change the terms of their use of our solutions, our business and operating results could be materially and adversely affected.
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If we are unable to maintain our contracts with electronic prescription platforms, our business will suffer.
We are reliant upon our contracts with leading electronic prescribing (“ERx”) platforms and electronic health record (“EHR”) systems to generate oura portion of the revenues received from our
customers. Such arrangements subject us to a number of risks, including the following:

e o Our ERx and EHR partners may experience financial, regulatory or operational difficulties, which may impair their ability to focus on and fulfill their contract obligations to us;

e o Legal disputes or disagreements, including the ownership of intellectual property, may occur with one or more of our ERx and EHR partners and may lead to lengthy and expensive
litigation or arbitration;

e e Significant changes in an ERx and EHR partner’s business strategy may adversely affect a partner’s willingness or ability to satisfy obligations under any such arrangement;
e An ERx and EHR partner could terminate the partnership arrangement, which could negatively impact our ability to sell our solutions and achieve revenues; and

e  The failure of an ERx or EHR partner to provide accurate and complete financial information to us or to maintain adequate and effective internal control over its financial reporting may
negatively affect our ability to meet our financial reporting obligations as required by the SEC; SEC. See Part II, Item 9A. “Controls and Procedures.”

e AnERx and EHR partner could terminate the partnership arrangement, which could negatively impact our ability to sell our solutions and achieve revenues.
We will need to maintain these relationships as well as diversify them. The inability to do so could adversely impact our business. We generated 31.8% 36.4% and 53.9% 31.8% of our revenue
through our largest partner in 2023 and 2022, and 2021, respectively. As such, the inability to maintain these relationships could adversely impact our business.
Our agreements with ERx and EHR channel partners are subject to audit.
Our agreements with our ERx and EHR channel partners provide for revenue sharing revenue-sharing payments to them based on the revenue we generate through their platforms and systems. These
payments are subject to audit by our channel partners, at their cost, and if there is a dispute as to the calculation, we may be liable for additional payments. If Some agreements would require us to also
pay for the cost of the audit if an underpayment is determined to be in excess of a certain amount, for example 10%, some agreements would require us to pay for the cost of the audit, as well. amount.
If we fail to attract new customers or retain and expand existing customers, our business and future prospects may be materially and adversely impacted.
We currently work with many leading pharmaceutical companies, medical device manufacturers, associations, and other companies. While we have experienced customer growth, this growth may not
continue at the same pace in the future or at all. Achieving growth in our customer base may require us to engage in increasingly sophisticated and costly sales and marketing efforts that may not
result in additional customers. We may also need to modify our pricing model to attract and retain such customers. If we fail to attract new customers or fail to maintain or expand existing
relationships in a cost-effective manner, our business and future prospects may be materially and adversely impacted.
Actual or perceived failures to comply with applicable laws and requlations that affect the healthcare industry, including data protection, privacy and security, fraud and abuse laws, regulations,
standards and other requirements could adversely affect our business, results of operations, and financial condition.
The global data protection landscape is rapidly evolving, and we are or may become subject to numerous state, federal and foreign laws, requirements and regulations governing the collection, use,
disclosure, retention, and security of personal information, including health-related information. This evolution may create uncertainty in our business, affect our ability to operate in certain
jurisdictions or to collect, store, transfer, use and share personal information, necessitate the acceptance of more onerous obligations in our contracts, result in liability or impose additional costs on us.
The cost of compliance with these laws, regulations and standards is high and is likely to increase in the future. Any failure or perceived failure by us to comply with federal, state or foreign laws or
regulation, our internal policies and procedures or our contracts governing our processing of personal information could result in negative publicity, government investigations and enforcement
actions, claims by third parties, and damage to our reputation, any of which could have a material adverse effect on our operations, financial performance and business.
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We also may be bound by contractual obligations and other obligations relating to privacy, data protection, and information security that are more stringent than applicable laws and regulations. The
costs of compliance with, and other burdens imposed by, laws, regulations, standards, and other obligations relating to privacy, data protection, and information security are significant. Although we
work to comply with applicable laws, regulations, and standards, our contractual obligations and other legal obligations, these requirements are evolving and may be modified, interpreted and applied
in an inconsistent manner from one jurisdiction to another, and may conflict with another or other legal obligations with which we must comply. Accordingly, our failure, or perceived inability, to
comply with these laws, regulations, standards, and other obligations may limit the use and adoption of our solution, reduce overall demand for our solution, lead to regulatory investigations, breach
of contract claims, litigation, and significant fines, penalties, or liabilities for actual or alleged noncompliance or slow the pace at which we close sales transactions, any of which could harm our
business.

The Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of 1996, or HIPAA, and the rules promulgated thereunder require certain entities, referred to as Covered Entities, to comply with established
standards, including standards regarding the privacy and security of protected health information, or PHI. HIPAA further requires that Covered Entities enter into agreements meeting certain
regulatory requirements with their business associates, as such term is defined by HIPAA, which, among other things, obligate the business associates to safeguard the covered entity’s PHI against
improper use and disclosure. While we are not a Covered Entity, we have contracted as a business associate of our Covered Entity customers and, as such, may be regulated by HIPAA and have
contractual obligations unders under such agreements, including to enter into business associate agreements with our third-party vendors. We, and our Covered Entity customers might face significant
contractual liability pursuant to such business associate agreements if the business associate breaches the agreement or causes the Covered Entity to fail to comply with HIPAA. It is possible that
HIPAA compliance could become a substantial regulatory burden and expense to our operations as we expand our point of care technology solutions to help patients start and stay on therapies.
Certain other laws and regulations such as federal and state anti-kickback and false claims laws may apply to us indirectly through our relationships with our customers and partners. Violations can
result in considerable penalties and sanctions. If we are found to have violated, or to have facilitated the violation of such laws, we could be subject to significant penalties.

The markets in which we operate are competitive, continually evolving and, in some cases, subject to rapid change.

Our platforms solutions face competition from numerous other companies, both in attracting users and in generating revenue from advertisers and sponsors. We compete for users with online services
and websites that provide savings on medications and healthcare products, including both commercial sites and not-for-profit sites. We compete for advertisers and sponsors with health-related web
sites, general purpose consumer web sites that offer specialized health sub-channels, other high-traffic web sites that include both healthcare-related and non-healthcare-related content and services,
search engines that provide specialized health searches, and advertising networks that aggregate traffic from multiple sites.

Many of our competitors have greater financial, technical, product development, marketing and other resources than we do. These organizations may be better known than we are and have more
customers or users than we do. We cannot provide assurance that we will be able to compete successfully against these organizations or any alliances they have formed or may form. Since there are
no substantial barriers to entry into the markets in which our public portals we participate, we expect that competitors will continue to enter these markets.

REFINITIV CORPORATE DISCLOSURES | www.refinitiv.com | Contact Us 13/142

©2024 Refinitiv. All rights reserved. Republication or redistribution of Refinitiv content, including by framing or similar means, is prohibited without the prior written R E F I N I T I V
consent of Refinitiv. 'Refinitiv' and the Refinitiv logo are registered trademarks of Refinitiv and its affiliated companies. <


https://www.refinitiv.com/
https://www.refinitiv.com/en/contact-us

Developments in the healthcare industry could adversely affect our business.
Most of our revenue is derived from pharmaceutical manufacturers and could be affected by changes affecting the broader healthcare industry, including decreased spending in the industry overall.
General reductions in expenditures by healthcare industry participants could result from, among other things:

Government regulation or private initiatives that affect the manner in which healthcare industry participants interact with consumers and the general public;

Government regulation prohibiting the use of coupons by patients covered by federally funded health insurance programs;
Consolidation of healthcare industry participants;
Reductions in governmental funding for healthcare; and

Adverse changes in business or economic conditions affecting healthcare industry participants.
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Even if general expenditures by industry participants remain the same or increase, developments in the healthcare industry may result in reduced spending in some or all of the specific market
segments that we serve now or may serve in the future. For example, use of our solutions and services could be affected by:

e o A decrease in the number of new drugs or medical devices coming to market; and

® o A decrease in marketing expenditures by pharmaceutical or medical device companies.
The healthcare industry has changed significantly in recent years and we expect that significant changes will continue to occur. However, the timing and impact of developments in the healthcare
industry are difficult to predict. We cannot assure you that the demands for our solutions and services will continue to exist at current levels or that we will have adequate technical, financial and
marketing resources to react to changes in the healthcare industry.
If we are unable to manage growth, our operations could be adversely affected.
Our ability to manage growth effectively will depend on our ability to improve and expand operations, including our financial and management information systems, and to recruit, train and manage
personnel. There can be no assurance that management will be able to manage growth effectively. To manage growth effectively, we will be required to continue to implement and improve our
operating and financial systems and controls to expand, train and manage our employee base. Our ability to manage our operations and growth effectively will require us to continue to expend funds
to enhance our operational, financial and management controls, reporting systems and procedures, and to attract and retain sufficient talented personnel.
If we do not properly manage the growth of our business, we may experience significant strains on our management and operations and disruptions in our business. Various risks arise when
companies grow too quickly. If our business grows too quickly, our ability to meet customer demand in a timely and efficient manner could be challenged. We may also experience development
delays as we seek to meet increased demand for our solutions. Our failure to properly manage the growth that we or our industry might experience could negatively impact our ability to execute on
our operating plan and, accordingly, could have an adverse impact on our business, our cash flow and results of operations, and our reputation with our current or potential customers.
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Our growth may be impacted by acquisitions. We may not be able to identify suitable acquisition candidates, complete acquisitions or integrate acquisitions successfully.

Our future growth is likely to depend to some degree on our ability to acquire and successfully integrate new businesses. We may not be able to identify suitable acquisition candidates, complete
acquisitions, or integrate acquisitions successfully. We may seek additional acquisition opportunities, both to further diversify our business and to penetrate or expand important product offerings or
markets. There are no assurances, however, that we will be able to successfully identify suitable candidates, negotiate appropriate terms, obtain financing on acceptable terms, complete proposed
acquisitions, successfully integrate acquired businesses, or expand into new markets. Once acquired, operations may not achieve anticipated levels of revenues or profitability. Acquisitions involve
risks, including difficulties in the integration of the operations, technologies, services and products of the acquired companies and the diversion of management’s attention from other business
concerns. Although our management will endeavor to evaluate the risks inherent in any particular transaction, there are no assurances that we will properly ascertain all such risks. Difficulties
encountered with acquisitions could have a material adverse impact on our business.

Our acquisition activities may disrupt our ongoing business and may involve increased expenses, and we may not realize the financial and strategic goals contemplated at the time of a
transaction.

We have acquired, and may in the future acquire, companies, businesses, products, services and technologies. Acquisitions involve significant risks and uncertainties, including:

—  our ongoing business may be disrupted, an acquisition may involve increased expenses, and our management’s attention may be diverted by acquisition, transition, or integration activities;
—  we may not further our business strategy as we expected,

—  we may not realize any synergies or other anticipated benefits of an acquisition or such synergies or benefits may take longer than anticipated to be realized;

—  we may overpay for our investments, or otherwise not realize the financial returns contemplated at the time of the acquisition;

—  integration with acquired operations or technology may be more costly or difficult than expected and such integration may not be successful;

—  we may be unable to retain the key employees, customers and other channel partners of the acquired operation;

—  we may not realize the anticipated increases in our revenues from an acquisition; and

—  our use of cash to pay for acquisitions may limit other potential uses of our cash.
Impairment charges for goodwill or other intangible assets may be increased as we shift our focus away from our non-core businesses.
Annually, we evaluate goodwill and long-lived assets to determine if impairment has occurred. Additionally, interim reviews are performed whenever events or changes to the business could indicate
possible impairment. Any future impairment of our goodwill or long-lived assets could require us to record an impairment charge, which would negatively impact our results of operations. For
example, our strategic shift away from non-core business resulted in an impairment of one or more of our long-lived assets. See Part II, Item 7. “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial
Condition and Results of Operations - Results of Operation of the Years Ended December 31, 2023 and 2022 - Operating Expenses.”
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Market conditions could adversely change and our earnings could decline resulting in charges to impair intangible assets, such as goodwill.

As a result of our various acquisitions, the consolidated balance sheet at December 31, 2023 contains goodwill of approximately $78.4 million and intangible assets, net of approximately $49.4
million. We evaluate on an ongoing basis whether facts and circumstances indicate any impairment to the carrying value of indefinite-lived intangible assets such as goodwill. As circumstances after
an acquisition can change, we may not realize the value of these intangible assets. During the year ended December 31, 2023, we recorded impairment charges, related to certain intangible assets, of
approximately $6.7 million. Any future impairment charges related to our goodwill or long-lived assets could require us to record additional impairment charges, which would negatively impact our
results of operations.

Restrictions in our Credit Agreement could adversely affect our business, financial condition, results of operations, ability to make distributions, and the value of our securities.

Our Credit Agreement contains customary affirmative covenants, including, among others, covenants pertaining to the delivery of financial statements; certain financial covenants; notices of default
and certain other material events; payment of obligations; preservation of corporate existence, rights, privileges, permits, licenses, franchises and intellectual property; maintenance of property and
insurance and compliance with laws, as well as customary negative covenants, including, among others, limitations on the incurrence of liens and entering into capital leases, investments and
indebtedness; mergers and certain other fundamental changes; dispositions of assets; restricted payments; changes in our line of business; transactions with affiliates and burdensome agreements.
These covenants could affect our ability to operate our business, increase the amount of interest expense we ultimately pay pursuant to the Credit Agreement, and may limit our ability to take
advantage of potential business opportunities as they arise.

Our ability to comply with the covenants and restrictions contained in our Credit Agreement, may be affected by events beyond our control, including prevailing economic, financial, and industry
conditions. If market or other economic conditions deteriorate, our ability to comply with these covenants may be impaired. A failure to comply with these provisions could result in a default or an
event of default. Upon an event of default, unless waived, the lenders could elect to terminate their commitments, cease making further loans, require cash collateralization of letters of credit, cause
their loans to become due and payable in full, foreclose against any assets securing the debt under our Credit Agreement and force us and our subsidiaries into bankruptcy or liquidation. If the
payment of our debt is accelerated, our assets may be insufficient to repay such debt in full, and the holders of our stock could experience a partial or total loss of their investment.

Servicing debt and funding other obligations requires a significant amount of cash, and our ability to generate sufficient cash depends on many factors, some of which are beyond our control.
Our ability to make payments on and refinance our indebtedness and to fund our operations and capital expenditures depends on our ability to generate cash flow and secure financing in the future.
Our ability to generate future cash flow depends, among other things, on future operating performance, general economic conditions, competition, and legislative and regulatory factors affecting our
operations and business.

Some of these factors are beyond our control. There is no assurance that our business will generate cash flow from operations or that future debt or equity financings will be available to us to enable
us to pay our indebtedness or to fund other needs. As a result, we may need to refinance all or a portion of our indebtedness on or before maturity. There is no assurance that we will be able to
refinance any of our indebtedness on favorable terms, or at all. Any inability to generate sufficient cash flow or refinance our indebtedness on favorable terms could have an adverse effect on our
financial condition.
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Our business and growth may suffer if we are unable to attract and retain members of our senior management team and other key employees.

Our success has been largely dependent on the skills, experience and efforts of our senior management team and key employees and the loss of the services of any of our senior management team or
other key employees, without a properly executed transition plan, could have an adverse effect on us. The loss of any member of our senior management team or any of our other key employees could
damage critical customer relationships, result in the loss of vital knowledge, experience and expertise, could lead to an increase in recruitment and training costs, and make it more difficult to
successfully operate our business and execute our business strategy. We may not be able to find qualified potential replacements for these individuals and the integration of potential replacements may
be disruptive to our business.

Furthermore, our ability to expand operations to accommodate our anticipated growth will business also depend depends on our ability to attract and retain qualified management, sales and technical
personnel. However, competition for these types of employees is intense due to the limited number of qualified professionals. professionals with expertise in our industry. Our ability to meet our
business development objectives will depend in part on our ability to recruit, train, incentivize, and retain top quality people with advanced skills who understand our industry, technology, and
business. Our compensation arrangements, including our equity award programs, are essential to retaining our senior management team and other key employees, but may not always be successful in
attracting new employees or retaining and motivating our existing key employees for reasons that may include movement in our stock price or our ability to maintain or increase our equity pool. If we
are unable to engage, incentivize, and retain the necessary personnel, our business may be materially and adversely affected.

Geopolitical events may affect our busi and our ¢ base and have a material adverse impact on our sales and operating results.

Our results of operations may be affected by the conditions in the global capital markets and the economy generally, both in the U.S. and elsewhere in the world. The war between Russia and Ukraine
as well as the conflict between Israel and Hamas have caused uncertainty in the credit markets and could cause our customers and potential customers to postpone or reduce spending on technology
products or services or put downward pressure on prices, which could have an adverse effect on our business.

We could be subject to ec ic, political, regulatory and other risks arising from our international operations.

Operating in international markets requires significant resources and management attention and will subject us to regulatory, economic and political risks that may be different from, and incremental
to, those in the United States. In addition to the risks that we face in the United States, our international operations in Israel and Croatia, may involve risks that could adversely affect our business,
including:

e o (ifficulties and costs associated with staffing and managing foreign operations;

e e natural or man-made disasters, political, social and economic instability, including wars, terrorism and political unrest, outbreak of disease, , boycotts, curtailment of trade, and other
business restrictions;

e e compliance with United States laws, such as the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act, export controls and economic sanctions, and local laws prohibiting corrupt payments to government

officials;
o o unexpected changes in regulatory requirements;
o o less favorable foreign intellectual property laws;

® e adverse tax consequences such as those related to repatriation of cash from foreign jurisdictions into the United States, non-income related taxes such as value-added tax or other indirect
taxes, changes in tax laws or their interpretations, or the application of judgment in determining our global provision for income taxes and other tax liabilities given inter-company
transactions and calculations where the ultimate tax determination is uncertain;
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Our failure to manage any of these risks successfully could harm our international operations and our overall business, as well as results of our operations.

e fluctuations in currency exchange rates, which could impact expenses of our international operations and expose us to foreign currency exchange rate risk;

profit repatriation and other restrictions on the transfer of funds;
differing payment processing systems as well as use and acceptance of electronic payment methods, such as payment cards;
new and different sources of competition; and

different and more stringent user protection, data protection, privacy and other laws.
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We may in the future be adversely affected by health epidemics and pandemics, including COVID-19, which may significantly harm our business, prospects, financial condition and operating
results.

A global pandemic may disrupt our busii or the busii of our ¢ S

We face risks related to health epidemics and other outbreaks, including the global outbreak of the novel coronavirus and the disease caused by it, COVID-19. During 2020, the spread of the novel
coronavirus led to disruption and volatility in the global capital markets. If such disruption and volatility recurs, there could be an increase to our cost of capital and an adverse effect on our ability to
access the capital markets. In December 2019, addition, efforts to contain the COVID-19 pandemic led to implementing numerous measures to try to contain the virus, such as travel bans and
restrictions, quarantines, stay-at-home or shelter-in-place orders, and business shutdowns. The extent to which a novel strain pandemic, epidemic or outbreak of corona virus, which causes the an
infectious disease known as COVID-19 was reported. The World Health Organization declared COVID-19 a Public Health Emergency impacts our operations will depend on future occurrences,
which are highly uncertain and Global Pandemic. Although many economies around cannot be predicted with confidence, including the world have started to rebound from the severe impact duration
of COVID-19, the healthcare industry in which we operate remains impacted. The emergence and spread of new variants and resurgences, or other epidemics or pandemics, actions taken by
governmental authorities and others in response to the pandemic, the acceptance, any outbreak and the ability of pharmaceutical manufacturers and other life sciences companies actions to develop
effective and safe treatment, and global economic conditions could affect the desire and/ contain or need for our solutions. treat its impact, among others. We are prepared to take steps to modify our
business practices and mitigate the impact of the emergence and spread of new variants and resurgences, or another pandemic or epidemic; however, there can be no assurance that such steps will be
successful, or that our business operations, or the operations of our customers or partners will not be materially and adversely affected by the consequences of such pandemic or epidemic, which could
materially impact our results of operations, cash flows, and financial condition.

Risks Related to Inflation, Interest Rates, and Other Adverse Economic Conditions

Inflation, the current interest rate environment, and other adverse economic conditions may adversely affect our business, results of operations and financial condition.

Recently, inflation has increased throughout the U.S. economy. In an inflationary environment, we may experience increases in the prices of labor and other costs of doing business. Additionally, cost
increases may outpace our expectations, causing us to use our cash and other liquid assets faster than forecasted. If we are unable to successfully manage the effects of inflation, our business,
operating results, cash flows and financial condition may be adversely affected.

The occurrence or perception of an economic slowdown or recession, or of a further increase in inflation, may have a negative impact on the global economy and may reduce customer demand for our
products and services.

In addition, macroeconomic effects such as increases changes in interest rates and other measures taken by central banks and other policy makers could have a negative effect on overall economic
activity that could reduce our customers’ demand for our products and serves. Changing interest rates may have unpredictable effects on markets, may result in heightened market volatility and may
detract from our performance to the extent we are exposed to such interest rates and/or volatility. An adjustment in rates would impact our variable rate debt. If interest rates increase or remain
elevated, we could face higher debt service requirements, which would adversely affect our cash flow and could adversely impact our results of operations. If we are unable to generate sufficient cash
flow to service our debt or to fund our other liquidity needs, we could need to restructure or refinance all or a portion of our debt. Any refinancing of indebtedness could be at higher interest rates,
thereby resulting in an overall increase in interest expense.

Adverse changes in demand could impact our business, collection of accounts receivable and our expected cash flow generation, which may adversely impact our financial condition and results of
operations.
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Risks Related to Our Intellectual Property and Technology

We are dependent, in part, on our intellectual property. If we are not able to protect our proprietary rights or if those rights are invalidated or circum d, our busi may be adversely
dffected.

Our business is dependent, in part, on our ability to innovate, and, as a result, we are reliant on our intellectual property. We generally protect our intellectual property through patents, trademarks,
trade secrets, confidentiality and nondisclosure agreements and other measures to the extent our budget permits. There can be no assurance that patents will be issued from pending applications that
we have filed or that our patents will be sufficient to protect our key technology from misappropriation or falling into the public domain, nor can assurances be made that any of our patents, patent
applications, trademarks or our other intellectual property or proprietary rights will not be challenged, invalidated or circumvented. In the event a competitor or other party successfully challenges our
solutions, processes, patents or licenses or claims that we have infringed upon their intellectual property, we could incur substantial litigation costs defending against such claims, be required to pay
royalties, license fees or other damages or be barred from using the intellectual property at issue, any of which could have a material adverse effect on our business, operating results and financial
condition. We cannot assure you that steps taken by us to protect our intellectual property and other contractual agreements for our business will be adequate, that our competitors will not
independently develop or patent substantially equivalent or superior technologies or be able to design around patents that we may receive, or that our intellectual property will not be misappropriated.

If we are unable to protect our proprietary rights, we may be at a disadvantage to others who do not incur the substantial time and expense we incur. Preventing unauthorized use or infringement of
our intellectual property rights is inherently difficult. Moreover, it may be difficult or practically impossible to detect theft or unauthorized use of our intellectual property. Any of the foregoing could
have a material adverse effect upon our business, financial condition and results of operations.

REFINITIV CORPORATE DISCLOSURES | www.refinitiv.com | Contact Us 21/142

©2024 Refinitiv. All rights reserved. Republication or redistribution of Refinitiv content, including by framing or similar means, is prohibited without the prior written R E F I N I T I V
consent of Refinitiv. 'Refinitiv' and the Refinitiv logo are registered trademarks of Refinitiv and its affiliated companies. <


https://www.refinitiv.com/
https://www.refinitiv.com/en/contact-us

Cybersecurity incidents could disrupt business operations, result in the loss of critical and confidential information, and adversely impact our reputation and results of operations.

Global cybersecurity threats can range from uncoordinated individual attempts to gain unauthorized access to our information technology (IT) systems to sophisticated and targeted measures known
as advanced persistent threats. While we employ comprehensive extensive measures to prevent, detect, address and mitigate these threats (including access controls, insurance, vulnerability
assessments, continuous monitoring of our IT networks and systems, maintenance of backup and protective systems and user training and education), cybersecurity incidents, depending on their
nature and scope, could potentially result in the misappropriation, destruction, corruption or unavailability of critical data and confidential or proprietary information (our own or that of third parties)
and the disruption of business operations. The potential consequences of a material cybersecurity incident include reputational damage, loss of customers, loss of income, litigation with customers and
other parties, loss of trade secrets and other proprietary business data and increased cybersecurity protection and remediation costs, which in turn could adversely affect our competitiveness and
results of operations.

We may be unable to support our technology to further scale our operations successfully.

Our plan is to grow through further integration of our technology in electronic platforms. Our growth will place significant demands on our management and technology development, as well as our
financial, administrative and other resources. We cannot guarantee that any of the systems, procedures and controls we put in place will be adequate to support the commercialization of our
operations. Our operating results will depend substantially on the ability of our officers and key employees to manage changing business conditions and to implement and improve our financial,
administrative and other resources. If we are unable to respond to and manage changing business conditions, or the scale of our solutions, services and operations, then the quality of our services, our
ability to retain key personnel and our business could be harmed.

Our business will suffer if our network systems fail or become unavailable.

A reduction in the performance, reliability and availability of our network infrastructure would harm our ability to distribute our solutions to our users, as well as our reputation and ability to attract
and retain customers. Our systems and operations could be damaged or interrupted by fire, flood, power loss, telecommunications failure, Internet internet breakdown, earthquake and similar events.
Our systems could also be subject to viruses, break-ins, sabotage, acts of terrorism, acts of vandalism, hacking, cyber-terrorism and similar misconduct. We might not carry adequate business
interruption insurance to compensate us for losses that may occur from a system outage. Any system error or failure that causes interruption in availability of our solutions or an increase in response
time could result in a loss of potential customers, which could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations. If we suffer sustained or repeated
interruptions, then our solutions and services could be less attractive to our users and our business would be materially harmed.
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Risks Relating to Our Common Stock

If a market for our common stock is not maintained, shareholders may be unable to sell their shares.

Our common stock is traded under the symbol “OPRX” on the Nasdaq Capital Market. We do not currently have a consistent active trading market. There can be no assurance that a consistent active
and liquid trading market will develop or, if developed, that it will be sustained.

Historically, our securities have been thinly traded. Accordingly, it may be difficult to sell shares of our common stock without significantly depressing the value of the stock. Unless we are successful
in developing continued investor interest in our stock, sales of our stock could continue to result in major fluctuations in the price of the stock.
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We may need to raise additional capital to grow our business and may not be able to do so on favorable terms, if at all.

We may need to raise additional capital in the future, including to expand our operations and pursue our growth strategies, to respond to competitive pressures, or to meet capital needs in response to
operating losses or unanticipated working capital requirements. Our inability to raise additional capital on acceptable terms in the future may limit our ability to continue to operate our business and
further expand our operations.

The market price of our common stock may be highly volatile and could fluctuate widely in price in response to various factors, many of which are beyond our control.

Our stock price is subject to a number of factors, including:

e e Technological innovations or new solutions and services by us or our competitors;
o o Government regulation of our solutions and services;

o o The establishment of partnerships with other healthcare companies;

o o Intellectual property disputes;

o o Additions or departures of key personnel;

o o Sales of our common stock;

o o Our ability to execute our business plan;

o o Operating results below or exceeding expectations;

o o Our operating and financial performance and prospects;
o o Loss or addition of any strategic relationship;

® o General financial, domestic, international, economic, industry and other market trends or conditions; and

o o Period-to-period fluctuations in our financial results.
Our stock price may fluctuate widely as a result of any of the above. In addition, the securities markets have from time to time experienced significant price and volume fluctuations that are unrelated
to the operating performance of particular companies. These market fluctuations may also materially and adversely affect the market price of our common stock.

REFINITIV CORPORATE DISCLOSURES | www.refinitiv.com | Contact Us 24/142
©2024 Refinitiv. All rights reserved. Republication or redistribution of Refinitiv content, including by framing or similar means, is prohibited without the prior written R E F I N I T I V I ‘

consent of Refinitiv. 'Refinitiv' and the Refinitiv logo are registered trademarks of Refinitiv and its affiliated companies.


https://www.refinitiv.com/
https://www.refinitiv.com/en/contact-us

We do not expect to pay dividends in the foreseeable future and any return on investment may be limited to the value of our common stock.

We have never declared or paid any cash dividends on our common stock. We currently intend to retain all available funds and future earnings, if any, to fund our future growth and do not expect to
declare or pay any dividend on shares of our common stock in the foreseeable future. As a result, the success of an investment in our common stock may depend entirely upon any future appreciation
in its value. There is no guarantee that our common stock will appreciate in value or even maintain the price at which it is purchased.

Anti-takeover provisions may make it more difficult for a third party to acquire control of us, even if the change in control would be beneficial to shareholders.

The Company is a Nevada corporation. Anti-takeover provisions in Nevada law and our charter and bylaws could make it more difficult for a third party to acquire control of us. These provisions
could adversely affect the market price of the common stock and could reduce the amount that shareholders might receive if the Company is sold. For example, our charter provides that the board of
directors may issue preferred stock without shareholder approval. In addition, our bylaws provide that shareholders cannot act by written consent and that directors may be removed by shareholders
only with the approval of the holders of not less than two-thirds of the voting power of the issued and outstanding stock entitled to vote at an annual or special meeting of the shareholders.

Risks Related to Being a Public Company

We have identified a material weakness in our internal control over financial reporting. Failure to remediate the material weakness or any other material weaknesses that we identify in the
future could result in material misstatements in our financial statements.

Pursuant to Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, as amended, our management is required to report on the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting. The rules governing
the standards that must be met for management to assess our internal control over financial reporting are complex and require significant documentation, testing and possible remediation. Annually,
we perform activities that include reviewing, documenting and testing our internal control over financial reporting. In addition, if we fail to maintain the adequacy of our internal control over financial
reporting, we will not be able to conclude on an ongoing basis that we have effective internal control over financial reporting in accordance with Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. If we
fail to achieve and maintain an effective internal control environment, we could suffer misstatements in our financial statements and fail to meet our reporting obligations, which would likely cause
investors to lose confidence in our reported financial information. This could result in significant expenses to remediate any internal control deficiencies and lead to a decline in our stock price.
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The Company has identified a material weakness in the Company’s internal control over financial reporting. A material weakness is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control
over financial reporting, such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of a company’s annual or interim financial statements will not be prevented or detected on a timely
basis. For further discussion of the material weaknesses, see Item 9A, Controls and Procedures.

We cannot provide assurance that we have identified all, or that we will not in the future have additional, material weaknesses in our internal control over financial reporting. As a result, we may be
required to implement further remedial measures and to design enhanced processes and controls to address deficiencies. If we do not effectively remediate the material weakness identified by
management and maintain adequate internal controls over financial reporting in the future, we may not be able to prepare reliable financial reports and comply with our reporting obligations under the
Exchange Act on a timely basis. Any such delays in the preparation of financial reports and the filing of our periodic reports may result in a loss of public confidence in the reliability of our financial
statements, which, in turn, could materially adversely affect our business, the market value of our common stock and our access to capital markets.
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Item 1B. Unresolved Staff comments

None

Item 1C. Cybersecurity

Risk Management and Strategy

Our information security and risk management program is designed to identify, assess, and manage material risks from cybersecurity threats to our applications, computer networks, third-party hosted
services, communications systems, hardware and software, and our critical data, including intellectual property, confidential information that is proprietary, strategic or competitive in nature, personal
information, or PHI (collectively, “Information Systems”).

Our information security program’s basis is a comprehensive set of policies and procedures covering various information security domains (collectively, “Information Security Policies”), including,
but not limited to:

e Access control,

e  Endpoint protection,

e  Third-party oversight,

e  Education, training, and awareness,

e  Network security,

e  Risk management,

e Incident response,

e  Business continuity and disaster recovery,
e  Data protection and privacy, and

e  Other security domains.

Our risk management process is based on a standard methodology, and risks are identified based on:
e  Annual risk assessments,

e Information on past incidents,
e Internal audits,
e  Security penetration tests, and

e  Other security assessments.

All risks are documented in a central Risk Register and tracked for mitigation and other treatment decisions.

Our information security program is audited annually against a well-known security framework, by an accredited third party. We currently carry a HITRUST certification, which is a security
assessment that targets the healthcare industry and HIPAA compliance. We are currently working towardsa SOC 2 audit and assessment, which has more general applicability and covers the trust
services criteria of security, confidentiality, privacy, accessibility, and processing integrity.
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In 2023, we stored and processed certain PHI on behalf of customers. From a cybersecurity perspective, this data was stored on secure AWS managed servers in the contiguous United States and
encrypted at rest and in transit. End users did not have permission to access PHI unless the end user’s account had the proper end user role permissions (ie HCPs or hub service providers). These end
user roles were assigned according to the customer’s needs to see the information. At all times, such information was segregated so that one customer could not access records containing PHI that
were associated with another customer. In late 2023, we discontinued PHI processing; however, certain PHI remains stored on the secure AWS managed servers to the extent information needs to be
accessed by a customer.

Our external audits and assessments identify and evaluate material risks from cybersecurity threats against our overall business objectives on a periodic basis and form the basis of internal reports,
which can be shared with the management team, the Audit Committee of the Board of Directors, and the Board of Directors to evaluate our overall enterprise risk.

Our incident response program consists of an Incident Response Plan document and a cross-functional Incident Response Team, which are defined in our Information Security Policies. All workforce
members are trained on incident reporting procedures, and there is a single point of contact for reporting all incidents. Incident response training is conducted annually, followed by a tabletop
exercise. Our Incident Response Plan instructs personnel on how to notify our Incident Response Team in case of an incident. The VP of Information Security is the point person for incident
responses and coordinates mitigation and remediation of cybersecurity incidents. We log all incidents and response plans for purposes of internal documentation. We report critical incidents to the
management team, the Audit Committee, and the Board of Directors.

The Company’s VP of Information Security is responsible for implementing Information Security Policies on a day-to-day basis along with the Security Team (as defined in the Information Security
Policies), which includes the VP of Information Security, the Chief Product Officer, the VP of Data Engineering and Platform Services, and the VP of Technology (Information Technology).

We use third-party service providers to perform a variety of functions throughout our business, including, but not limited to infrastructure support and maintenance, CRM, contract management, data
hosting, and miscellaneous finance and accounting projects. We assess our vendors with respect to cybersecurity risk according to the services provided, the sensitivity of the Information Systems at
issue, and the provider’s identity. In appropriate cases, we will seek enhanced contractual obligations or guarantees related to cybersecurity on the service provider. Vendor risk assessments are
performed before each vendor is engaged, and annual reviews are conducted to ensure vendors continue to meet security requirements.

We also maintain technical errors and omissions insurance which includes a cyber incident endorsement of up to $20 million with a premium of $60,700. This endorsement provides coverage for
Network Security and Privacy, Privacy Regulation Proceeding, Privacy Event Expense Reimbursement, Extortion Demand Reimbursement, Data Restoration, Network Restoration, Business
Interruption and System Failure. This coverage reimburses the most common costs for information security incidents, including attorney’s fees, consumer notification costs, and regulatory fines.

The Company has no material incidents to report through the date of this filing.

For more information on risks from cybersecurity threats that may materially affect the Company, see Item 1A. “Risk Factors”.
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Governance

The Board of Directors’ oversight function includes cybersecurity risk management. The Board of Directors has tasked the Audit Committee with overseeing the Company’s cybersecurity risk
management processes and with determining which threats are likely to impact the Company’s strategy, business operations, and financial condition.

Our cybersecurity risk assessment and management processes are implemented and maintained by our VP of Information Security and the Security Team. For strategic decisions regarding
cybersecurity, the VP of Information Security consults with the Chief Product Officer, the Chief Financial Officer, the General Counsel and Chief Compliance Officer, and the VP of Compliance.

The VP of Information Security is responsible for hiring appropriate personnel, performing vendor risk assessments, and communicating information security priorities to relevant personnel, so that
we can build cybersecurity risk considerations into our business practices. The VP of Information Security also plans related budgets, designs cybersecurity processes, and reviews security
assessments and related reports.

The Board of Directors has three members with skills and experience in information security and cybersecurity through their experience as current and former executives of digital technology
companies.

Item 2. Properties

Currently, we do not own any real estate. Our principal executive offices are located at 400 Water Street, Suite 200, Rochester, Michigan 48307.

As of December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023, we have operating leases for office space in two multitenant four multi-tenant facilities. The leases include our headquarters space office spaces in
Rochester, Waltham, Massachusetts, Clarkston, Michigan, Scottsdale, Arizona, and a technical facility in Zagreb, Croatia. Our principal executive offices are located at 260 Charles Street, Waltham,
Massachusetts 02453.

The lease in Rochester, Waltham, Massachusetts expires July 31, 2026, and has a monthly rent with escalating payments of $5,778 to $6,848. The lease in Clarkston, Michigan expires November 30,
2023 November 30, 2025, with a two-year three-year renewal option through 2025, 2028, and has a monthly rent of $6,384 to $6,688. $2,445. The lease in Scottsdale, Arizona expires April 30, 2025,
and has a monthly rent with escalating payments of $9,304 to $9,727. The Company entered into a lease for new office space in Zagreb, Croatia on July 1, 2023, which expires February 2024 on June
30, 2029, but which grants the tenant the option to terminate the lease with 30-day notice before each lease anniversary and has a monthly rent of approximately $1,883. We also had $3,038. The
former lease in Zagreb, Croatia, with a lease on office space in Cranbury, New Jersey which expired in January 2022; we did not renew this lease. We also lease minor amounts monthly rent of space
in shared space facilities on a month-to-month basis as necessary. approximately $1,883 was terminated effective June 30, 2023.

Item 3. Legal Proceedings

From time to time, we may become involved in legal proceedings or be subject to claims arising in the ordinary course of our business. We have no currentare currently not a party to any material
legal proceedings. or administrative proceedings, and we are not aware of any pending or threatened material legal or administrative proceedings against us.

Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures

Not applicable.
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Item 4.1 Information About Our Executive Officers

The following information sets forth the names, ages, and positions of our executive officers as of March 10, 2023 April 15, 2024.

Name Age Positions and Offices Held
William J. Febbo 5455 Chief Executive Officer

Stephen L. Silvestro 4546 Chief Commercial Officer President

Marion Odence-Ford 5859 General Counsel and Chief Compliance Officer

Edward Stelmakh 5758 Chief Financial Officer and Chief Operations Officer

Todd Inman 67 Chief Technology Officer

Doug Besch 4142 Chief Product Officer

Theresa Greco 51 Chief Commercial Officer

Set forth below is a brief description of the background and business experience of each of our current executive officers.
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William J. Febbo

Mr. Febbo joined the Company as Chief Executive Officer and as a director in February 2016. Mr. Febbo founded Plexuus, LLC, a payment processing business for medical professionals in
September 2015 and remained its Chairman from September 2015 to December 2020. From April 2007 to September 2015, Mr. Febbo served as Chief Operating Officer of Merriman Holdings, Inc.,
an investment banking firm, where he assisted with capital raises in the tech, biotech, cleantech, consumer and resources industries. Mr. Febbo was a co-founder of, and from September 2013 to
September 2015 served as Chief Executive Officer of, Digital Capital Network, Inc., a transaction platform for institutional and accredited investors. Mr. Febbo was a co-founder of, and from January
1999 to September 2015 was Chief Executive Officer of, MedPanel, LLC, a provider of market intelligence and communications for the pharmaceutical, biomedical, and medical device industries.
Since 2017, Mr. Febbo has been a faculty member of the Massachusetts Institute of Technology’s 1inQ program, which is a collaborative initiative focused on increasing the potential of innovative
research to benefit society and the economy. Mr. Febbo currently serves as a director of LifeMD Inc, a publicly traded provider of virtual primary care that offers telemedicine, laboratory and
pharmacy services and specialized treatment across more than 200 conditions, and as a director of Augmedix, Inc., a publicly traded provider of automated medical documentation and data services.
Previously, Mr. Febbo served as a director of Modular Medical, (NASDAQ: MODD), a publicly traded development stage medical device company focused on the design, development and eventual
commercialization of an innovative insulin pump, and as a director of Augmedix, Inc. (NASDAQ: AUGX), a provider of automated medical documentation and data services. pump. In addition, Mr.
Febbo has been a board member of the United Nations Association of Greater Boston, a resource for the citizens of Greater Boston on the broad agenda of critical global issues addressed by the UN
and its agencies, since 2004.

On January 29, 2018, FINRA accepted a Letter of Acceptance, Waiver and Consent (the “Consent”) submitted by William Febbo. Without admitting or denying the findings, Mr. Febbo consented to
the sanctions and to the entry of findings that he permitted Merriman Capital, Inc. to conduct a securities business while below its net capital requirement. From August 2012 to October 2015, Mr.
Febbo was the Financial and Operations Principal (FinOp) for a registered broker-dealer, Merriman Capital, Inc. (“Merriman”). During certain months while Mr. Febbo was FinOp, FINRA found that
certain of Merriman’s net capital filings with FINRA were inaccurate because of the method by which Merriman calculated net capital and that, when corrected, it was retroactively determined that
Merriman had operated below its minimum net capital requirements. Mr. Febbo, as FinOp, signed certain of these reports and was thus held responsible. Based on the Consent, in settlement, Mr.
Febbo, who was then no longer registered with any broker-dealer, accepted a fine of $5,000, a 10-business day suspension from acting as FinOp for any FINRA member and required to requalify by
examination for the Series 27 license before again acting in a FinOp capacity.

Stephen L. Silvestro

M. Silvestro was appointed the Company’s President as of October 2023. He joined the Company as Chief Commercial Officer on April 29, 2019. in April 2019. Prior to joining the Company, Mr.
Silvestro was with CCH® Tagetik, a Wolters Kluwer company that provides corporate performance management software solutions for planning, consolidation and reporting, as its Vice President and
General Manager from January 2018 until April 2019. From April 2017 to January 2018, Mr. Silvestro was with Prognos Health, Inc., a healthcare data and analytics company, as its Chief
Commercial Officer and, before that, from September 2007 to April 2017, he was with Decision Resources Group, a multi-national corporation that provides high value global data solutions,
analytics and consulting services to pharmaceutical, biotech, medical device, healthcare provider and payer, and managed care companies, in various capacities with him last serving as Executive
Vice President, Head of Global Sales.
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Marion Odence-Ford

Ms. Odence-Ford joined the Company as General Counsel & Chief Compliance Officer in February 2021. From April 2013 to June 2020, Ms. Odence-Ford was Vice President & Deputy General
Counsel at Decision Resources Group, a multi-national corporation that provides high value global data solutions, analytics and consulting services to pharmaceutical, biotech, medical device,
healthcare provider and payer, and managed care companies. From November 2004 to November 2012, Ms. Odence-Ford was Vice President & Associate General Counsel at CRA International, Inc.
(dba Charles River Associates) (NASDAQ: CRAI), a global consulting firm that offers economic, financial, and strategic expertise to major law firms, corporations, accounting firms, and
governments around the world. From May 2004 to November 2004, Ms. Odence-Ford was a member of the GTC Law Group, LLP, a law firm specializing in the business affairs of companies in the
high tech and biotech industries. Prior to joining the GTC Law Group, Ms. Odence-Ford worked on the legal teams of Bank of America Corporation/Fleet Boston Financial Corporation (NYSE:
BAC) from November 2002 to May 2004, and Akamai Technologies, Inc. (NASDAQ: AKAM) from October 1999 to November 2002. Ms. Odence-Ford began her legal career in private practice at
Mintz, Levin, Cohn, Ferris, Glovsky and Popeo, PC, where she advised public and private companies on corporate matters.
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Edward Stelmakh

Edward Stelmakh

Mr. Stelmakh joined the Company as Chief Financial Officer and Chief Operating Officer on October 11, 2021. in October 2021. Prior to joining the Company, Mr. Stelmakh served as Senior Vice
President, Chief Financial Officer and Chief Operating Officer of Otsuka America Pharmaceuticals Inc. (“Otsuka”), a US division of a Japanese global healthcare enterprise, since April 2020.
Previously, he held various positions at Otsuka including Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer (December 2017 — March 2020) and Vice President and Chief Financial Officer (December
2015 — November 2017). From March 2010 to December 2015, Mr. Stelmakh worked at Covance, a division of LabCorp, Inc., as Vice President, Finance, Clinical Development and
Commercialization Services. Prior thereto, Mr. Stelmakh held a variety of positions of increasing responsibilities at Johnson & Johnson, Sanofi-Aventis, Organon/Schering-Plough and Mylan.

Todd InmanDoug Besch

Mr. Inman joined the Company on January 1, 2019 as Vice President, Technology and became the Company’s Chief Technology Officer in November 2019. Prior to joining the Company, from May
2017 to December 2018, Mr. Inman was the Founder and Chief Technology Officer of Meghadata, LLC, a master data management firm, and from July 2016 to December 2017, Mr. Inman was the
Founder and Managing Partner of Data Solutions Partners, a data intelligence solutions company. From January 2011 through June 2016, Mr. Inman was Director of Data Solutions at Change
HealthCare, a healthcare technology and business solutions company, and from 2005 to 2011, Mr. Inman was the Director of Data Integration of Emdeon Business Services, LLC, an information
technology and services company. Prior to Emdeon, from 2001 to 2005, Mr. Inman was the Director of Clearinghouse Services at WebMD Health Corp and, from 1996 to 2001, he was the Manager
of Clearinghouse Operations at Professional Office Systems, a CareFirst subsidiary, providing medical office electronic data interchange services.

Doug Besch

Dr. Besch joined the Company on May 24, 2021 in May 2021 as SVP Product Strategy & Innovation and became the Company’s Chief Product Officer in October 2022. Prior to joining the Company,
from January 2018 to May 2021, Dr. Besch was the Vice President over Payor and Market Access Solutions for Clarivate (previously Decision Resources Group (DRG)), a multi-national corporation
that provides high value global data solutions, analytics and consulting services to pharmaceutical, biotech, medical device, healthcare provider and payer, and managed care companies. Prior to
Clarivate, from January 2012 to June 2017, Dr. Besch was a co-founder and the Chief Product Officer for Rx Savings Solution, a company which helps members and payers reduce prescription drug
costs through a combination of clinical technology, transparency, member engagement and concierge support. Dr. Besch holds a PharmD and MBA from Creighton University and practiced as a
pharmacist for the Walgreens Boots Alliance corporation from 2007 through 2013.

Theresa Greco

Ms. Greco joined the Company in October 2023 as the Company’s Chief Commercial Officer with the Company’s acquisition of Healthy Offers, Inc. (“Medicx Health”), where Ms. Greco served as
its President since August 2022. Prior to joining Medicx Health, Ms. Greco was at Prognos Health, Inc., a healthcare data and analytics company, from August 2018 to January 2022 as its Chief
Commercial Officer where she led all aspects of product strategy, marketing, sales, and customer delivery. Prior to Prognos, Ms. Greco held the Chief Commercial Officer position at MediSpend, a
global technology company focused on life sciences compliance solutions. From August 2010 through August 2017, Ms. Greco was with LexisNexis Healthcare through their acquisition of Health
Market Science, where she held a variety of progressive executive positions including in Customer Success, Product Strategy, Commercial Strategy, and Sales that contributed to revenue growth and
profitability that yielded a successful exit. Ms. Greco led the Life Sciences consulting group providing consultation and technology solutions to life sciences companies for master data management at
Computer Sciences Corporation from April 2008 to August 2010. Prior to 2008, Ms. Greco held various positions at IQVIA and Pfizer.
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PART II
Item 5. Market for Registrant’s Common Equity and Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities
Our common stock is traded under the symbol “OPRX” on the Nasdaq Capital Market. At February 28, 2023 April 12, 2024, there were approximately 350 8,453 shareholders of record of our
common stock.
We currently intend to retain future earnings for the operation of our business. We have never declared or paid cash dividends on our common stock, and we do not anticipate paying any cash
dividends in the foreseeable future. Any payment of future dividends will be at the discretion of our board of directors and will depend upon, among other things, our earnings, financial condition,
capital requirements, level of indebtedness, and other factors that our board of directors deems relevant.
For the information regarding our equity compensation plans, see PART III, Item 12, “Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters.”
Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities
On March 14, 2023, we announced that our Board of Directors had authorized the repurchase of up to $15 million of our outstanding common stock. Under this program, share repurchases may be
made from time to time depending on market conditions, share price and availability and other factors at our discretion. During the three months quarter ended December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023,
we purchasedno shares were repurchased under the program. As of our common December 31, 2023, $7,488,116 of shares were available for repurchase under the program. This stock as
follows: repurchase authorization expired on March 12, 2024.

Maximum
Number (or
Approximate
Dollar Value) of
Total Number Shares that
of Shares May Yet Be
Total Purchased as Purchased
Number of Part of Publicly Under the
Shares Average Announced Plans
Purchased Price Paid Plans or or Programs
Period 1) per Share Programs (1) 1)
10/1/22 - 10/31/22 341,934 $ 14.83 341,934 $ 2,416,111
11/1/22 - 11/30/22 166,350 $ 14.62 166,350 $ 28
12/1/22 - 12/31/22 — 8 — — 3 0

(1) On May 17, 2022, we announced that our Board of Directors had authorized the repurchase of up to $20 million of our outstanding common stock. Under this program, share repurchases may

be made from time to time depending on market conditions, share price and availability and other factors at our discretion. This stock repurchase authorization expires on the earlier of May 17,
2023, or when the repurchase of $20 million of shares of our common stock has been reached. In accordance with its terms, the stock repurchase plan terminated as of December 1, 2022. Our
stock repurchases may take place in open market transactions or privately negotiated transactions in accordance with applicable securities and other laws.

Item 6. Reserved

Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

Overview

We are a digital health technology company enabling care-focused engagement between life sciences organizations, healthcare providers, and patients at critical junctures throughout the patient care

journey. Connecting over 60% of two million U.S. healthcare providers and millions of their patients through an intelligent omnichannel technology platform embedded within a proprietary point-of-

care network, as well as mass digital communications channels, OptimizeRx helps patients start life sciences organizations engage and stay on support their medications. customers.

Historically, our revenue was generated primarily through the facilitation of financial various types of messages to health care providers via their EHR systems and ePrescribe systems ERx platforms

using the OptimizeRx proprietary network to solve the ever-increasing communication barriers between pharmaceutical representatives and healthcare providers that have presented in the rapidly

changing healthcare industry. Over time, as the demand for communication of an increasing variety of different health information between life science companies, providers, and patients continued

to rise, our platform has expanded evolved to encompass additional solutions provide Audience Development and Audience Creation and Media Execution across numerous different messaging types

that enable healthcare providers to access information for patients atleverage our technology platform and media distribution channels. In addition, the point October 2023 acquisition of care. These

solutions include brand messaging, therapeutic support messaging, brand support, and innovative patient engagement services, all of which now make up Medicx Health provided the Company with a

significant portion of our total revenue.
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footprint for direct-to-consumer healthcare marketing. We employ a “land and expand” strategy focused on growing our existing client base and generating greater and more consistent revenues in
part through the continued shift in our business model toward enterprise level engagements, while also broadening our platform with innovative proprietary virtual communication solutions such as
our TelaRep™ virtual communication solution and our Al-powered real-world evidence solution DAAP, expanding on previous iterations of the RWD.AI technology, which uses sophisticated
proprietary machine-learning algorithms to derive additional revenue from our existing network. In addition, we have continued to expand our team find the best audiences in preparation for future
growth aspirations, which may be supplemented with future acquisitions and other strategic collaborations and investments. the correct channels at the right time. Our strategy for driving revenue
growth is also expected to work in tandem with our efforts to increase margin and profitability using the aforementioned recurring as revenue models that drivers such as DAAP have inherently higher

margins. margins than most other messaging solutions we offer.
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Customer Concentration

Because the pharmaceutical industry is dominated by large companies with multiple brands, our revenue is concentrated in a relatively small number of companies. We have approximately 100
pharmaceutical companies as customers, and our revenues are concentrated in these customers. Loss of one of more of our larger customers could have a negative impact on our operating results. Our
top five customers represented approximately 44% and 39% of our revenue for the year years ended December 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022., respectively. In each of 2022 2023 and 2021, 2022,
we had one customer that each represented more than 10% of our revenues.

Seasonality

In general, the pharmaceutical brand marketing industry experiences seasonal trends that affect the vast majority of participants in the pharmaceutical digital marketing industry. Many pharmaceutical
companies allocate the largest portion of their brand marketing to the fourth quarter of the calendar year. As a result, the first quarter tends to reflect lower activity levels and lower revenue, with
gradual increases in the following quarters. We generally expect these seasonality trends to continue and our ability to effectively manage our resources in anticipation of these trends may affect our
operating results.

Impact of Macroeconomic Events

Unfavorable conditions in the economy may negatively affect the growth of our business and our results of operations. For example, macroeconomic events including the COVID-19 pandemic, rising
inflation and the U.S. Federal Reserve raising interest rates have led to economic uncertainty. In addition, high levels of employee turnover across the pharmaceutical industry as well as a fewer
number of U.S. drug approvals could create additional certainty uncertainty within our target customer markets. Historically, during periods of economic uncertainty and downturns, businesses may
slow spending, which may impact our business and our customers’ businesses. Adverse changes in demand could impact our business, collection of accounts receivable and our expected cash flow
generation, which may adversely impact our financial condition and results of operations.

Key Performance Indicators

‘We monitor the following key performance indicators to help us evaluate our business, measure our performance, identify trends affecting our business and make strategic decisions. We have updated
the definition of “top 20 pharmaceutical manufacturers” in our key performance indicators to be based upon Fierce Pharma’s most updated list of “The top 20 pharma companies by 2022 revenue”.
We previously used “The top 20 pharma companies by 2020 revenue”. As a result of this change, prior periods have been restated for comparative purposes.

Average revenue per top 20 pharmaceutical manufacturer. Average revenue per top 20 pharmaceutical manufacturer is calculated by taking the total revenue the company recognized through
pharmaceutical manufacturers listed in Fierce Pharma’s “The top 20 pharma companies by 20202022 revenue” over the last twelve months, divided by the total number of the aforementioned
pharmaceutical manufacturers that our solutions helped support over that time period. The Company uses this metric to monitor its progress in “landing and expanding” with key customers within its
largest customer vertical and believe it also provides investors with a transparent way to chart our progress in penetrating this important customer segment. The decrease increase in the average in
20222023 as compared to 2021 2022 is primarily the result of stronger DAAP related revenue streams and the convergence Company’s October 2023 acquisition of numerous macroeconomic factors
that resulted Medicx Health, which added to 2023 revenues and was not included in our customers slowing their rate of spend, particularly for large and/or new implementations, which we believe
prolonged sales cycles with the top 20 pharmaceutical manufacturers that were existing customers. 2022 amounts.

Twelve Months Ended
December 31
2022 2021
Average revenue per top 20 pharmaceutical manufacturer $ 2,143,296 $ 2,484,557
Twelve Months Ended
December 31
2023 2022
Average revenue per top 20 pharmaceutical manufacturer $ 2,566,832 $ 2,136,746
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Percent of top 20 pharmaceutical manufacturers that are customers. Percent of top 20 pharmaceutical manufacturers that are customers is calculated by taking the number of revenue generating
customers that are pharmaceutical manufacturers listed in Fierce Pharma’s “The top 20 pharma companies by 2020 2022 revenue” over the last 12 months, which is then divided by 20— 20 - which is
the number of pharmaceutical manufacturers included in the aforementioned list. The Company uses this metric to monitor its progress in penetrating key customers within its largest customer
vertical and believes it also provides investors with a transparent way to chart our progress in penetrating this important customer segment. The decrease in 2022 was due to the Company not
supporting programs for a smaller revenue customer from 2021 in 2022.

Twelve Months Ended
December 31
2022 2021
Percent of top 20 pharmaceutical manufacturers that are customers 90 % 95 %
Twelve Months Ended
December 31
2023 2022
Percent of top 20 pharmaceutical manufacturers that are customers 90% 90 %

Percent of total revenue attributable to top 20 pharmaceutical manufacturers. Percent of total revenue attributable to top 20 pharmaceutical manufacturers is calculated by taking the total
revenue the company recognized through pharmaceutical manufacturers listed in Fierce Pharma’s “The top 20 pharma companies by 20202022 revenue” over the last twelve months, divided by our
consolidated revenue over the same period. The Company uses this metric to monitor its progress in “landing and expanding” with key customers within its largest customer vertical and believes it
also provides investors with a transparent way to chart our progress in penetrating this important customer segment. Our revenue from customers that aren’t top 20 pharmaceutical manufacturers
increased faster than our overall revenue, decreasing the percentage of our overall revenues from top 20 pharmaceutical manufacturers. stayed relatively consistent year over year.

Twelve Months Ended
December 31
2022 2021
Percent of total revenue attributable to top 20 pharmaceutical manufacturers 62 % 77 %
Twelve Months Ended
December 31
2023 2022
Percent of total revenue attributable to top 20 pharmaceutical manufacturers 65% 62 %

Net revenue retention. Net revenue retention is a comparison of revenue generated from all customers in the previous twelve-month period to total revenue generated from the same customers in the
following twelve-month period (i.e., excludes new customer relationships for the most recent twelve-month period). The Company uses this metric to monitor its ability to improve its penetration
with existing customers and believes it also provides investors with a metric to chart our ability to increase our year-over-year penetration and revenue with existing customers. The retention rate in
2022 decreased 2023 increased due to stronger DAAP related revenue streams from existing clients and the convergence Company’s 2023 acquisition of numerous macroeconomic factors that
resulted in our customers slowing their rate of spend, particularly for large and/or new implementations, which we believe prolonged sales cycles. Medicx Health.

Twelve Months Ended
December 31
2022 2021
Net revenue retention 90 % 127 %
Twelve Months Ended
December 31
2023 2022
Net revenue retention 105% 90%

Revenue per average full-time employee. We define revenue per average full-time employee as total revenue over the last twelve months divided by the average number of employees over the last
twelve months (i.e., the average between the number of FTEs at the end of the reported period and the number of FTEs at the end of the same period of the prior year). The Company uses this metric
to monitor the productivity of its workforce and its ability to scale efficiently over time and believes the metric provides investors with a way to chart our productivity and scalability. Our revenue rate
per employee declined stayed relatively consistent year over year due to slower revenue growth and a higher average number of FTEs over the last 12 month period. year.

Twelve Months Ended
December 31
2022 2021
Revenue per average full-time employee $ 606,312 $ 729,674
Twelve Months Ended
December 31
2023 2022
Revenue per average full-time employee $ 586,242 $ 606,312
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Results of Operations for the Years Ended December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023 and 2021 2022
The following table sets forth, for the periods indicated, the dollar value and percentage of total return represented by certain items in our consolidated statements of operations:

Years Ended December 31, Years Ended December 31,
(in t} ds, except percentage data) 2022 2021 2023 2022
Total Revenue $ 62,450 100.0% $ 61,293 100.0% $ 71,522 100.0% $ 62,450  100.0%
Cost of Revenues 23,483 37.6% 25,654 41.9% 28,622 40.0% 23,483 37.6%
Gross margin 38,967 62.4% 35,638 58.1% 42,900 60.0 % 38,967 62.4%
Operating expenses 51,258 82.1% 35,277 57.6 % 69,302 96.9% 51,258 82.1%
Income (loss) from operations (12,291) (19.7)% 361 0.6 %
Loss from operations (26,402) (36.9)% (12,291) (19.7)%
Other income 852 1.4% 17 —% 1,238 1.7% 852 1.4%
Income (loss) before provision for income taxes (11,438) (18.3)% 378 0.6%
Loss before provision for income taxes (25,164) (35.2)% (11,438) (18.3)%
Income tax benefit — —% — —% 7,598 10.6 % = —%
Net income (loss) $ (11,438) (183)% $ 378 0.6%
Net loss - - $(17,566) (24.6)% $(11,438) (18.3)%

*  Balances and percentage of total revenue information may not add due to rounding
Net Revenue
Our net revenue increased 2% 15% to $71.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2023 from $62.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2022 from $61.3 million for. Of the year ended
December 31, 2021. This 15% increase, 7.3% resulted from increases the acquisition of Medicx Health, in sales of our access solutions. October, with the remaining increase due to stronger DAAP
related sales.
Cost of Revenues
Our total cost of revenues, composed primarily of revenue share revenue-share expense paid to our network partners, decreased increased in the year ended December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023,
compared to the year ended December 31, 2021 December 31, 2022. Our cost of revenues as a percentage of revenue decreased increased to approximately 40% in the year ended December 31, 2023,
from approximately 38% in the year ended December 31, 2022 from approximately 42% in the year ended December 31, 2021. This decrease increase in our cost of revenues as a percentage of
revenue resulted primarily due to favorable solution and an unfavorable channel partner mix and increases in the type of services we provide that are not subject to revenue share. mix.
Gross Margin
Our gross margin, which is the difference between our revenues and our cost of revenues, increased from 20212022 to 2023 but our gross margin percentage decreased to 60.0% in 2023 from 62% in
2022 as a result of solution mix. In general, We had higher revenues in 2023, which increased gross margin but during 2022, 2023, there was an increase a decrease in the percentage of activity
flowing through our lower cost channels compared with 2021. Additionally, revenue increases in our access solutions includes a much higher percentage of program design, which carries a higher
margin than the delivery of the actual messages. In addition, our gross margin percentage increased to 62% in 2022 from 58% in 2021 for the reasons discussed above in the cost of revenues
section. 2022.
Operating Expenses
Operating Total operating expenses increased to $69.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2023, from $51.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2022, from $35.3 million for the year ended
December 31, 2021, an increase of approximately 45% 35%. The increase in sales, generalincludes approximately $6.7 million, related to impairment charges, approximately $4.5 million of
transaction costs associated with the purchase of Medicx Health, and administrative expense was $5.8 million a loss on the disposal of a business of $2.1 million.
The detail by major category is reflected in the table below.

Years Ended
December 31
(in thousands) 2023 2022
Stock-based compensation $ 13,717  $ 15,746
Depreciation and amortization 2,402 2,022
Impairment charges 6,738 —
Loss on disposal of a business 2,142 =
Transaction costs 4,482 —
Other sales, general, and administrative expense 39,820 33,490
Total operating expense $ 69,302 $ 51,258
Years Ended December 31
2022 2021
Stock-based compensation $ 15,745,822 $ 5,491,957
Depreciation and amortization 2,022,029 2,086,454
Other sales, general, and administrative expense 33,489,707 27,698,703
Total Operating Expense $ 51,257,558 $ 35,277,114

Stock-based compensation decreased to $13.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2023, from $15.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2022, as a result of the lower grant date fair value of
awards due to declines in the Company’s stock price.
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Within Depreciation and amortization increased to $2.4 million for the operating year ended December 31, 2023, from $2.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2022, as a result of the
amortization associated with the identifiable intangibles arising from the Medicx Health acquisition.

The impairment charges recorded during 2023 relate to intangible assets, primarily technology and patent and trademarks relating to certain non-core products. The Company determined that the
carrying value of these long-lived assets was not recoverable on an undiscounted basis and accordingly, an impairment charge was recognized to the extent fair value exceeds carrying value. The fair
value of the assets was determined based on various estimates and assumptions including internal estimates of cash flows directly attributable to the assets, the useful life of the assets and residual
value, if any.

The loss on disposal of a business is discussed in Part II, Item 8. Financials Statements and Supplementary Data; Note 7 - Goodwill and Intangibles.

Transaction related costs arose due to the acquisition of Medicx Health, discussed in Part II, Item 8. Financials Statements and Supplementary Data; Note 3 - Acquisitions.

Other sales, sales general, and administrative expense increased to $39.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2023 from $33.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2022. The acquisition of
Medicx Health increased Operating expense, primarily compensation and amortization, by approximately $2.5 million year on year. In addition, within the other sales, general and administrative
expenses, there were a variety of increases, the largest of which was in stock-based compensation, a non-cash expense, which increased by $10.3 million $3.3 million from $5.5 million $20.8 million
in 20212022 to $15.7 million $24.1 million in 2022. Stock-based compensation 2023. The increase is awarded due to all full-time the addition of Medicx Health employees upon their start of
employment as well as to directors, officers since the acquisition date and certain key employees to provide an equity-based incentive to maintain higher severance, employee benefit and enhance the
performance and profitability commission costs.

Other income (expense)

Other Income (Expense) was comprised of the Company. In following:

Years Ended
December 31
(in thousands) 2023 2022
Other income (expense)
Interest expense $ (1,454) $ —
Other income 500 —
Interest income 2,192 852
$ 1,238 $ 852

Interest expense represents interest charges on our Term Loan, which was raised during the fourth quarteryear to partially fund the acquisition of 2021, we issued a significant market-based
grant Medicx Health, together with a requisite service period the amortization of less than 3 years. The expense the related issuance costs, (see Part II, Item 8. Financials Statements and Supplementary
Data; Note 12 - Long Term Debt for further details concerning our Term loan).

Other income represents the market-based award is amortized over net proceeds from the expected service period. The impactsale of customer assets, primarily contracts, relating to two non-core
products.

Interest income represents interest earned on 2022 expense for such market-based award our short-term investments, which were realized during 2023 in order to partially fund the acquisition of
Medicx Health. Interest earned in 2022 was $6.1 million. reflects the shorter period and lower average balance on amounts held in short-term investments during that period.
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Income tax benefit

The income tax benefit recorded in 2023 represents the partial reversal of our valuation allowance, previously recorded against the value of our net operating loss (“NOL”) carryforwards. In
evaluating our ability to recover our deferred tax assets, in full or in part, we consider all available positive and negative evidence, including our past operating results, the impact of the Medicx
Health transaction on our consolidated tax returns, and our forecast of future earnings, future taxable income and prudent and feasible tax planning strategies.

The increase assumptions utilized in other sales, general, determining future taxable income require significant judgment and administrative expense is due are consistent with the plans and estimates
we are using to higher salaries, wages, manage the underlying businesses. Actual operating results in future years could differ from our current assumptions, judgments and benefits and other human
resources related costs as a result of the expansion of, and investment in, our team to support additional growth. During 2022, we hired 12 net additional employees. estimates.

Net Income (Loss)

We finished the year ended December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023 with a net loss of $11.4 million $17.6 million, compared to net income of $0.4 million $11.4 million during the year ended
December 31, 2021 December 31, 2022. The reasons for specific components are discussed above. Overall, we had an increase in revenue and gross margin partially offset by increased operating
expenses. In addition, the income or loss in both periods included significant noncash items. We had $18.0 million $25.0 million in noncash operating expenses in 20222023 compared to $7.6
million $17.8 million in noncash operating expenses in 2021, 2022.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Historically, our primary sources of liquidity have been cash receipts from customers and proceeds from equity offerings. On October 11, 2023, we entered into a financing agreement that provided
for a $38 million term loan (the “Term Loan”), the proceeds of which were to fund, in part, the acquisition of Medicx Health. See Part II, Item 8. Financials Statements and Supplementary Data; Note
12 - Long Term Debt.

As of December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023, we had total current assets of $98.6 million $54.3 million, compared with current liabilities of $8.4 million $17.9 million, resulting in working capital of
$90.2 million $36.4 million and a current ratio of 123.0 to 1. This compares with a working capital balance of $105.7 million $90.2 million and a current ratio of 1211.7 to 1 at December 31,
2021 December 31, 2022. This decrease in working capital, as discussed in more detail below, is primarily the result of the our common stock buyback program.

Following is program and the acquisition of Medicx Health, which was funded from a table with summary data from the consolidated statement combination of cash flows foron hand, short-term
investments and the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021, as presented.

2022 2021
Net cash provided by operating activities $ 10,654,078 726,039
Net cash used in investing activities (58,176,386) (485,999)
Net cash (used in) / provided by financing activities (18,950,777) 73,924,954
Net (decrease) / increase in cash and cash equivalents $(66,473,085) $ 74,164,994

Our operating activities provided $10.7 million in the year ended December 31, 2022, as compared with approximately $0.7 million provided by operating activities in the year ended December 31,
2021. We had a net loss of $11.4 million for 2022, but non-cash expenses of $18.1 million and working capital generated by the collection of receivables offset the loss. The cash provided in 2021
was the result of our net income and non-cash expenses, which together totaled $8.0 million. This was partially offset by the increased working capital, totaling $7.3 million, required to support
higher revenues.

We used $58.2 million in investing activities in 2022, compared with $0.5 million in 2021. In addition to the $2.0 million investment in EvinceMed technology, we purchased $55.9 million in
Treasury bills in 2022 with maturity dates in 2023. The 2021 amount included $0.4 million of capitalized software development costs related to our proprietary systems and $0.1 million of tangible
property, primarily personal computers.
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We used $19.0 million in financing activities in the year ended December 31, 2022. We repurchased 1,214,398 shares of common stock for $20.0 million. This was partially offset by the collection of
$1.1 million related to the exercise of stock options during the period. The cash provided in 2021 was the result of our underwritten offering in 2021, which generated $70.7 million, as well as from
the proceeds of option exercises, which generated $4.9 million. This was partially offset by the payment of contingent consideration related to previous acquisitions of $1.6 million. Term Loan.

We believe that funds generated from operations, together with existing cash and short term investments, cash equivalents, will be sufficient to finance our current operations and planned growth for
the next twelve months. We do not anticipate the need to raise any additional cash to support operations. However, we could require additional debt or equity financing if we were to make any
significant acquisitions for cash during that period. In addition, we believe we can generate the cash needed to operate beyond the next 12 months from operations.
Contractual Obligations
The Company’s contractual obligations and cash commitments at December 31, 2023, consisted of long term debt, operating lease liabilities, and payments to partners to acquire minimum amounts of
media, data or messaging capabilities as follows:

e  Long-term debt: Total obligations under the Term Loan were $38.3 million, with $2.0 million due over the next twelve months. For details regarding long-term obligations, see Part II,

Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data; Note 12 — Long Term Debt in the Consolidated Financial Statements.

e  Lease liabilities: Total obligations under short- and long-term operating leases were $0.7 million, with $0.3 million due over the next twelve months. For details regarding short- and long-
term operating lease liabilities, see Part II, Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data; Note 13 — Leases in the Consolidated Financial Statements.

e  Partner payment obligations: Total obligations for partner payments were $25.1 million, with $11.0 million due over the next twelve months. For details regarding the Company’s future
payments to partners to acquire minimum amounts of media, data or messaging capabilities, see Part II, Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data; Note 16 — Commitments.
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Term Loan

On October 11, 2023 (the “Loan Date”), in connection with the acquisition of Medicx Health, we entered into a financing agreement that provided for a $40.0 million term loan.

The outstanding principal amount of the Term Loan is repayable in quarterly installments on the last business day of each fiscal quarter commencing on December 31, 2023, in an amount equal to
1.25% of the principal amount. The outstanding unpaid principal amount of the Term Loan, and all accrued and unpaid interest thereon, shall be due and payable on the earliest of (i) the fourth
anniversary of the closing of the financing agreement and funding of the Term Loan and (ii) the date on which the Term Loan is declared due and payable pursuant to the terms of the financing
agreement. The Term loan bears a variable interest rate which is currently priced at 14.1%.

We incurred debt issuance costs of approximately $2.3 million, in connection with this Term Loan and made repayments of approximately $1.7 million.

We are subject to market risks arising from changes in interest rates which relate primarily to the Term Loan our term loan, which is variable rate debt. (see Part II, Item 8. Financials Statements and
Supplementary Data; Note 12 - Long Term Debt). Our potential additional interest expense over one year that would result from a hypothetical, instantaneous and unfavorable change of 100 basis
points in the interest rate on all of our variable rate obligations would be approximately $0.4 million on a pre-tax basis.

See Part II, Item 8. Financials Statements and Supplementary Data; Note 12 - Long Term Debt for additional information regarding the Term Loan.

Cash Flows

Following is a table with summary data from the consolidated statement of cash flows for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, as presented.

(in thousands) 2023 2022

Net cash (used in) / provided by operating activities $ (7,239) $ 10,654
Net cash used in investing activities (25,337) (58,176)
Net cash provided / (used in) by financing activities 28,220 (18,951)
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents $ (4,356) $ (66,473)

Our operating activities used $7.2 million in the year ended December 31, 2023, as compared with approximately $10.7 million provided by operating activities in the year ended December 31, 2022.
We had a net loss of $17.6 million for 2023, and a net increase in working capital of $7.9 million, notably accounts receivable, which increased as a result of higher fourth quarter billings, which was
partially offset by non-cash expenses of $25.0 million.

The cash provided in 2022 was the result of our net loss of $11.4 million offset by non-cash expenses of $17.8 million and a decrease in net working capital of $4.0 million, generated by the
collection of receivables.

Investing activities used $25.3 million in 2023, compared with $58.2 million in 2022. In addition to the cash payment, net of cash acquired of $82.9 million related to the acquisition of Medicx
Health, we purchased $162.8 million and redeemed $218.7 million in Treasury bills during 2023. We also incurred capitalized software development costs of $0.8 million, and purchased $0.1 million
of tangible property, primarily personal computers and received $2.5 million from the disposal of our Access products (see Part II, Item 8. Financials Statements and Supplementary Data; Note 7 -
Goodwill and Intangibles).
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During 2022, we made a $2.0 million investment in EvinceMed technology, purchased $55.9 million in Treasury bills and incurred $0.2 million and $0.1 million, respectively related to capitalized
software development and tangible property.

Financing activities provided $28.2 million in 2023 and used $19.0 million in 2022. During 2023, we raised $38 million pursuant to the Term Loan to partially fund the acquisition of Medicx Health.
In connection with the Term Loan we incurred debt issuance costs of approximately $2.3million, and have made repayments of approximately $1.7 million. In addition, during 2023, we repurchased
526,999 shares of common stock for $7.5 million.

The cash used in 2022, related to the repurchase of 1,214,398 shares of common stock for $20.0 million, partially offset by $1.1 million from the exercise of stock options.

Off Balance Sheet Arrangements

As of December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023, there were no off-balance sheet arrangements.

Critical Accounting Estimates

Our discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations are based upon the Consolidated Financial Statements, which have been prepared in accordance with U.S. generally
accepted accounting principles. The preparation of these financial statements requires us to make estimates, judgments and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities at the
date of the financial statements and reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the periods presented. Actual results could differ from those estimates and assumptions. See Part II, Item 8.
Financial Statements and Supplementary Data; Note 2 to the Consolidated Financial Statements - Summary of Significant Accounting Policies, for a discussion of significant accounting policies.
Actual results may differ materially from these estimates due to different assumptions or conditions. The following areas all require the use of subjective or complex judgments, estimates and
assumptions:

Revenue Recognition

Business Combination

Business combinations are accounted for under the acquisition method. Assets acquired and liabilities assumed as part of a business acquisition are generally recorded at their estimated fair value at
the date of acquisition. The excess of purchase price over the amount allocated to the assets acquired and liabilities assumed is recorded as goodwill. In determining the fair value of assets acquired,
including intangible assets, the Company uses a variety of methods. The method used to estimate the fair values of intangible assets incorporates significant estimates and assumptions regarding the
estimates a market participant would make in order to evaluate an asset, including a market participant's use of the asset, future cash inflows and outflows, probabilities of success, asset lives, and the
appropriate discount rates. This judgement and determination effects the amount of consideration paid that is allocated to assets acquired and liabilities assumed in the business purchase transaction.
The Company engages third-party appraisal firms to assist in determining fair value of assets acquired and liabilities assumed when appropriate.

During the remeasurement period, which extends no later than one year from the acquisition date, the Company may record certain adjustments to the carrying value of the assets acquired and
liabilities assumed with a corresponding offset to goodwill.

Revenue Recognition

Recognition of revenue requires evidence of a contract, probable collection of proceeds, and completion of substantially all performance obligations. We use a 5-step model to recognize revenue.
These steps are: identify the contract with a customer, identify the performance obligations in the contract, determine the transaction price, allocate the transaction price to the performance obligations
in the contract, and recognize revenue when or as the performance obligations are satisfied.

Revenues are primarily generated from content delivery activities in which we deliver financial, clinical, or brand messaging through a distribution network of eprescribers and electronic health
record technology providers (channel partners), directly to consumers, or from reselling services that complement the business. This content delivery for a customer is referred to as a program. Unless
otherwise specified, revenue is recognized based on the selling price to customers.

Our contracts are generally all less than one year and the primary performance obligation is delivery of messages or other forms of content, but the contract may contain additional services.
Additional services may include program design, which is the design of the content delivery program, set up, and reporting. We consider set up and reporting services to be complimentary to the
primary performance obligation and recognized through performance of the delivery of content. We consider the design of the programs and related consulting services to be performance obligations
separate from the delivery of messages.
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As the content is distributed through the platform and network of channel partners (a transaction), these transactions are recorded, and revenue is recognized, over time as the distributions occur.
Revenue for transactions can be realized based on a price per message, a price per redemption, as a flat fee occurring over a period of time, or upon completion of the program, depending on the client
contract. We recognize setup fees that are required for integrating client offerings and campaigns into the rule-based content delivery system and network over the life of the initial program, based
either on time, or units delivered, depending upon which is most appropriate in the specific situation. Should a program be cancelled before completion, the balance of set up revenue is recognized at
the time of cancellation, as set up fees are nonrefundable. Additionally, we also recognize revenue for providing program performance reporting and maintenance, either by our company directly
delivering reports or by providing access to our online reporting portal that the client can utilize. This reporting revenue is recognized over time as the messages are delivered. Program design, which
is the design of the content delivery program, and related consulting services are recognized as services are performed.
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In some instances, we license certain of our software applications in arrangements that do not include other performance obligations. In those instances, we record license revenue when the software
is delivered for use to the license. In instances where our contracts included Software as a Service, the revenue is recognized over the subscription period as services are delivered to the customer.

In some instances, we also resell messaging solutions that are available through channel partners that are complementary to the core business and client base. These partner specific solutions are
frequently similar to our own solutions and revenue recognition for these programs is the same as described above. In instances where we sell solutions on a commission basis, net revenue is
recognized based on the commission-based revenue split that we receive. There were no programs recorded on a net basis in the years presented. In instances where we resell these messaging
solutions and have all financial risk and significant operation input and risk, we record the revenue based on the gross amount sold and the amount paid to the channel partner as a cost of sales.

Cost of Revenues

The primary cost of revenue is revenue share revenue-share expense. Based on the volume of transactions that are delivered through the channel partner network, we provide a revenue share revenue-
share to compensate the partner for their promotion of the campaign. Revenue shares Revenue-shares are a negotiated percentage of the transaction fees and can also be specific to special
considerations and campaigns. In addition, we pay revenue share revenue-share to ConnectiveRx as a result of a 2014 legal settlement in an amount equal to the greater of 10% of financial messaging
distribution revenues generated through our integrated network, or $0.37 per financial message distributed through our integrated network. As our solution mix has expanded and our revenues have
grown, financial messaging has become a smaller percentage of our revenues and these payments to ConnectiveRx, a smaller portion of our revenue share. revenue-share. The contractual amount due
to the channel partners is recorded as an expense at the time the message is distributed.

Additionally, within the cost of revenues is data acquisition costs which are amortized over the period for which we have access to the data.

Intangible Assets

Intangible Assets

Intangible assets are stated at cost. Finite-lived assets are being amortized over their estimated useful lives of fifteen to seventeen years for patents, eight years for customer relationships, fifteen years
for tradenames, two to four years for covenants not to compete, and three to ten years for software and websites, all using the straight-line method. These

Intangible assets are evaluated when there reviewed whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the related carrying amounts may not be recoverable. Impairment of assets with
definite-lives is a triggering event. There was no generally determined by comparing projected undiscounted cash flows expected to be generated by the asset, or asset groups, to its carrying value. If
the carrying value of the long-lived asset or asset group is not recoverable on an undiscounted basis, an impairment is recognized to the extent fair value exceeds carrying value. Determining the
extent of impairment, if any, typically requires various estimates and assumptions including cash flows directly attributable to the asset, the useful life of the asset and residual value, if any. When
necessary, the Company uses internal cash flow estimates, quoted market prices and appraisals, as appropriate, to determine fair value. Actual results could vary from these estimates. In addition, the
remaining useful life of the impaired asset is revised, if necessary.

We recorded impairment charges of $6.7 million against the value of our intangible assets in either during the year presented.

ended December 31, 2023. No events or circumstances were noted that would be indicative of potential impairment during the year ended December 31, 2022.

Goodwill

Goodwill

We evaluate goodwill for impairment during our fiscal fourth quarter, or more frequently if an event occurs or circumstances change. We

For both the years ended December 31, 2023and 2022 our annual reviews determined there was no impairment as goodwill our single reporting unit had a fair value comfortably in excess of its
carrying value. During the year ended December 31, 2023, following the disposal of the Access business, we performed an interim review of our goodwill balance and also determined that there was
no impairment due the fair value of our single reporting unit being in excess of its carry value.
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Stock-based Compensation The use of different assumptions, estimates or judgments in the goodwill impairment testing process may significantly increase or decrease the estimated fair value of a
reporting unit. Generally, changes in DCF estimates would have a similar effect on the estimated fair value of the reporting unit.

Goodwill impairment charges may be recognized in future periods to the extent changes in factors or circumstances occur, including deterioration in the macro-economic environment or in the equity
markets, including the market value of the Company’s common shares, deterioration in its performance or its future projections, or changes in its plans for one or more reporting units.

Stock-based Compensation

We use the fair value method to account for stock-based compensation. The fair value of the equity instrument is charged directly to compensation expense and additional paid-in capital over the
period during which services are rendered. The fair value of each award is estimated on the date of each grant.

For time-based options, fair value is estimated using the Black-Scholes option pricing model that uses the following assumptions. Estimated volatilities are based on the historical volatility of our
stock over the same period as the expected term of the options. The expected term of options granted represents the period of time that options granted are expected to be outstanding. We use
historical data to estimate option exercise behavior and to determine this term. The risk-free rate used is based on the U.S. Treasury yield curve in effect at the time of the grant using a time period
equal to the expected option term. We have never paid dividends and do not expect to pay any dividends in the future.

The Black-Scholes option valuation model and other existing models were developed for use in estimating the fair value of traded options that have no vesting restrictions and are fully transferable.
These option valuation models require the input of, and are highly sensitive to, subjective assumptions including the expected stock price volatility. Our stock options have characteristics significantly
different from those of traded options, and changes in the subjective input assumptions could materially affect the fair value estimate.

For restricted stock units, the fair value is based on the market value of the Company’s common stock on the date of grant. For market based restricted stock units, fair value is estimated using a
Monte Carlo simulation model. This valuation technique includes estimating the movement of stock prices and the effects of volatility, interest rates and dividends.

Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements

In November 2023, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”), issued Accounting Standards Update (“ASU”) No. 2023-07 (“ASU 2023-07”), Segment Reporting (Topic 280):
Improvements to Reportable Segment Disclosures. ASU 2023-07 requires annual and interim disclosures that are expected to improve reportable segment disclosures, primarily through enhanced
disclosures about significant segment expenses. The provisions of ASU 2023-07 are effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2023, and interim periods within fiscal years beginning
after December 15, 2024, with early adoption permitted. We are currently evaluating the impact of adopting ASU 2023-07.

In December 2019, 2023, the FASB issued ASU No. 2019-12, 2023-09 (“ASU 2023-09”), Income Taxes (Topic 740): Simplifying Improvements to Income Tax Disclosures. ASU 2023-09 addresses
investor requests for more transparency about income tax information through improvements to income tax disclosures primarily related to the Accounting for Income Taxes. ASU 2019-12 is
intended rate reconciliation and income taxes paid information. This update also includes certain other amendments to improve consistent application and simplify the accounting for effectiveness of
income taxes. tax disclosures. The provisions of ASU 2019-12 removes certain exceptions to the general principles in Topic 740 and clarifies and amends existing guidance. ASU 2019-12 was 2023-
09 are effective for us as of January 1, 2021. The adoption of this standard did not have a material effect on our financial position, results of operations, or cash flows.

Not Yet Adopted

ASU Topic 2021-08 Business Combinations (Topic 805), Accounting for Contract Assets and Contract Liabilities from Contracts with Customers, which requires contract assets and contract
liabilities acquired in a business combination to be recognized and measured by the acquirer on the acquisition date in accordance with ASC 606, Revenue from Contracts with Customers, as if it had
originated the contracts. The standard is effective for the Company’s fiscal year annual periods beginning January 1, 2023 after December 15, 2024, with early adoption permitted. The adoption We
are currently evaluating the impact of this standard is not expected to have a material effect on our financial position, results of operations, or cash flows. adopting ASU 2023-09.

Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

Not applicable.See section “Term Loan” under Liquidity and Capital Resources above.
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Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data
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F-1
F-3F-4
F-4F-5
F-5F-6
F-7
F-6
F-7F-8
F-8F-9

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm; Firm (PCAOB id 1195);
Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023 and 2021; 2022;
Consolidated Statements of Operations for the years ended December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023 and 2021; 2022;

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the years ended December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023 and 2021; 2022; and
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
To the Shareholders Stockholders and Board of Directors of OptimizeRx Corporation
OptimizeRx Corporation
Opinion on the Financial Statements
We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of OptimizeRx Corporation and Subsidiaries (the “Company”) as of December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023 and 2021, 2022, and the
related consolidated statements of operations, stockholders’ equity and cash flows for the years then ended, and the related notes (collectively referred to as the consolidated financial statements).
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company as of December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023 and
2021, 2022, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for the years then ended, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States Sates of America.
Basis for Opinion
These consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’s consolidated financial statements based on
our audit. audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the PCAOB Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (“PCAOB”) and are required to be independent with
respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.
We conducted our audit audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit audits to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. The Company is not required to have, nor were we engaged to perform, an audit of its internal
control over financial reporting. As part of our audit, audits, we are required to obtain an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting. Accordingly, we express no such opinion.
Our audit audits included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that
respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. Our audits also included
evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements. We believe that our
audit provides audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.
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To the Stockholders and Board of Directors of OptimizeRx Corporation

Page Two

Critical Audit Matter Matters

The critical audit matter matters communicated below is a matter are matters arising from the current period audit of the consolidated financial statements that were communicated or required to be
communicated to the audit committee and that: (1) relate to accounts or disclosures that are material to the consolidated financial statements and (2) involved especially challenging, subjective, or
complex judgments. The communication of critical audit matters does not alter in any way our opinion on the consolidated financial statements, taken as a whole, and we are not, by communicating
the critical audit matter matters below, providing separate opinions on the critical audit matter matters or on the accounts or disclosures to which they related.

Critical Audit Matter - Revenue Recognition

As disclosed in Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company recognizes revenue upon transfer of control of promised products or services to customers in an amount that reflects the
consideration the Company expects to receive in exchange for those products or services.

SignificantThe principal considerations for our determination that performing procedures relating to revenue recognition is a critical audit matter is that significant judgment is exercised by the
Company in determining revenue recognition for these customer agreements and includes the following: (1) determining whether services are considered distinct performance obligations that should
be accounted for separately versus together, (2) the pattern and timing of delivery for each distinct performance obligation, and (3) identification and treatment of contract terms that may impact the
timing and amount of revenue recognized.

How the Critical Audit Matter Was Addressed in the Audit

The audit procedures we performed to address this critical audit matter included the following: (1) obtaining an understanding of the design and implementation of controls related to identifying
distinct performance obligations, determining the timing of revenue recognition, and estimating any estimation of variable consideration, (2) selection selecting of a sample of customer agreements
and testing management’s identification and treatment of contract terms, and (3) testing the mathematical accuracy of management’s calculations of revenue and the associated timing of revenue
recognized in the consolidated financial statements. statements, (4) confirming data utilized to recognize revenue with third-party service providers to ensure completeness and accuracy of the data
used to recognize revenue, and (5) confirming with the Company’s customers the contract terms and conditions of agreements and completion of the Company’s performance obligations under the
contract.

Critical Audit Matter — Business Combination and Valuation of Intangible Assets

As disclosed in Notes 3 and 7 to the consolidated financial statements, on October 24, 2023, the Company completed the acquisition of Healthy Offers, Inc. (d/b/a Medicx Health or “Medicx”) for
total consideration of approximately $95.9 million. Of the acquired intangible assets, $34 million of customer relationships and $8.3 million of technology solutions were recorded. The valuation
methods used to determine the estimated fair value of these intangible assets included the multi-period excess earnings approach for customer relationships and the relief from royalty method for
technology solutions. Several significant assumptions and estimates were involved in the application of these valuation methods, including forecasted revenues, royalty rates, gross margins, discount
rates, and attrition rates.

The principal considerations for our determination that performing procedures relating to the valuation of customer relationships and developed technology acquired in the acquisition of Medicx is a
critical audit matter are (i) the significant judgment used by management when developing the fair value estimate of the customer relationships and developed technology acquired, (ii) a high degree
of auditor judgment, subjectivity, and effort in performing procedures and evaluating management’s significant assumptions related to the forecasted revenues, gross margins, discount rate, and
attrition rate for customer relationships and forecasted revenues, royalty rate, and discount rate for developed technology acquired, and (iii) the audit effort involved the use of professionals with
specialized skill and knowledge.
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To the Stockholders and Board of Directors of OptimizeRx Corporation

Page Three

How the Critical Audit Matter Was Addressed in the Audit

Addressing the matter involved performing procedures and evaluating audit evidence in connection with forming our overall opinion on the consolidated financial statements. These procedures
included (i) obtaining an understanding of the design and implementation of controls relating to the acquisition accounting, including controls over management’s valuation of the customer
relationships and developed technology acquired, (ii) reading the purchase agreement, (iii) testing management’s process for developing the fair value estimate of the customer relationships and
developed technology acquired, (iv) evaluating the appropriateness of the multi-period excess earnings and relief from royalty methods used by management, (v) testing the completeness and
accuracy of the underlying data used in the multi-period excess earnings and relief from royalty methods, and (vi) evaluating the reasonableness of the significant assumptions used by management
related to forecasted revenues, gross margins, discount rate, and attrition rate for customer relationships and forecasted revenues, royalty rate, and discount rate for developed technology acquired.
Evaluating the reasonableness of the significant assumptions used by management related to the forecasted revenues and gross margins for customer relationships and developed technology involved
considering (i) the current and past performance of the Medicx business and (ii) whether the assumptions were consistent with evidence obtained in other areas of the audit. Professionals with
specialized skill and knowledge were used to assist in evaluating (i) the appropriateness of the multi-period excess earnings and relief from royalty methods and (ii) the reasonableness of the discount
rate, royalty rate, and attrition rate assumptions for customer relationships and the royalty rate assumptions for developed technology acquired.

We have served as the Company’s auditor since 2020.

/s/ UHY LLP

Sterling Heights, Michigan

March 10, 2023 April 15, 2024

Firm ID: 1195
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OPTIMIZERx CORPORATION
Consolidated Balance Sheets

December 31, December 31, el Dl
2022 2021 31, 31,
2023 2022
ASSETS
Current Assets
Cash and cash equivalents $ 18,208,685 $ 84,681,770 $ 13,852,456 $ 18,208,685
Short-term investments 55,931,821 — — 55,931,821
Accounts receivable, net 22,155,301 24,800,585
Ac;::::iie;}e/lvable, net of allowance for credit losses of $239,172 and $352,043 at December 31, 2023 and 2022, 36,253,214 22,155,301
Taxes receivable 1,035,754 —
Prepaid expenses and other 2,280,828 5,630,655 3,189,468 2,280,828
Total Current Assets 98,576,635 115,113,010 54,330,892 98,576,635
Property and equipment, net 137,448 143,818 149,407 137,448
Other Assets
Goodwill 22,673,820 14,740,031 78,357,074 22,673,820
Patent rights, net 6,184,742 1,940,178
Technology assets, net 7,702,895 4,589,126 9,012,756 7,702,895
Patent rights, net 1,940,178 2,155,026
Right of use assets, net 235,320 328,820
Other intangible assets, net 3,379,838 3,902,502
Tradename and customer relationships, net 34,198,084 3,379,838
Operating lease right-of-use assets 572,895 235,320
Security deposits and other assets 5,051 12,859 568,048 5,051
Total Other Assets 35,937,102 25,728,364 128,893,599 35,937,102
TOTAL ASSETS $ 134,651,185 $ 140,985,192 $183,373,898 $ 134,651,185
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Current Liabilities
Current portion of long-term debt $ 2,000,000 $ =
Accounts payable — trade $ 1,549,979 $ 606,808 2,227,177 1,549,979
Accrued expenses 2,601,246 2,902,836 7,754,781 2,601,246
Revenue share payable 3,990,440 4,378,216 5,505,701 3,990,440
Current portion of lease liabilities 89,902 90,982 221,625 89,902
Deferred revenue 164,309 1,389,907 171,841 164,309
Total Current Liabilities 8,395,876 9,368,749 17,881,125 8,395,876
Non-current Liabilities
Long-term debt, net 34,230,737 —
Lease liabilities, net of current portion 144,532 236,726 371,438 144,532
Deferred tax liabilities, net 4,337,424 —
Total Liabilities 8,540,408 9,605,475 56,820,724 8,540,408
Commitments and contingencies (See Note 15)
Commitments and contingencies (See Note 16)
Stockholders’ Equity
Preferred stock, $0.001 par value, 10,000,000 shares authorized, none issued and outstanding at December 31, 2022
and 2021, respectively - -
Common stock, $0.001 par value, 166,666,667 shares authorized, 18,288,571 and 17,860,975 shares issued at 18,289 17.861

December 31, 2022 and 2021, respectively
Treasury stock, $0.001 par value, 1,214,398 and none held at December 31, 2022 and 2021, respectively (1,214) —
Preferred stock, $0.001 par value, 10,000,000 shares authorized, none issued and outstanding at December 31, 2023

and 2022, respectively
Common stock, $0.001 par value, 166,666,667 shares authorized, 19,899,679 and 18,288,571 shares issued at

December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively {255 16:269
Treasury stock, $0.001 par value,1,741,397 and 1,214,398 purchased at December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively (1,741) (1,214)
Additional paid-in-capital 172,785,800 166,615,514 190,792,980 172,785,800
Accumulated deficit (46,692,098) (35,253,658)  (64,257,964)  (46,692,098)

Total Stockholders’ Equity 126,110,777 131,379,717 126,553,174 126,110,777
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TOTAL LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY $ 134,651,185 $ 140,985,192 $183,373,898 $134,651,185
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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OPTIMIZERx CORPORATION
Consolidated Statements of Operations

Net revenue
Cost of revenues
Cost of revenues, exclusive of depreciation and amortization presented separately below

Gross margin

Operating Expenses
Stock-based compensation
Depreciation, amortization, and noncash lease expense
Other general and administrative expenses
Loss on disposal of a business
Impairment charges
Depreciation and amortization
Other sales, general and administrative expenses
Total operating expenses
Income (loss) from operations
Loss from operations
Other income (expense)
Interest expense
Other income
Interest income
Income (loss) before provision for income taxes
Total other income (expense), net
Loss before provision for income taxes
Income tax benefit
Net income (loss)

Net loss

Weighted average number of shares outstanding — basic
Weighted average number of shares outstanding — diluted
Income (loss) per share — basic

Income (loss) per share — diluted

Loss per share — basic

Loss per share — diluted

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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For the For the For tl:je d For th; d
year ended year ended )]/)ear enbe )]r)ear enb ¢
December 31, December 31, ec3e11n er eC;ll'[l er
2022 2021 g g
2023 2022
62,450,156 61,292,598 $ 71,521,506 $ 62,450,156
23,483,336 25,654,384
28,621,589 23,483,336
38,966,820 35,638,214 42,899,917 38,966,820
15,745,822 5,491,957 13,717,333 15,745,822
2,022,029 2,086,454
33,489,707 27,698,703
2,142,319 —
6,737,580 —
2,401,628 2,022,029
44,302,771 33,489,707
51,257,558 35,277,114 69,301,631 51,257,558
(12,290,738) 361,100
(26,401,714)  (12,290,738)
(1,453,764) —
500,001 —
852,298 16,979 2,191,689 852,298
(11,438,440) 378,079
1,237,926 852,298
(25,163,788)  (11,438,440)
— — 7,597,922 —
(11,438,440) 378,079
$(17,565,866) $(11,438,440)
17,783,992 17,228,019 17,124,801 17,783,992
17,783,992 17,690,489 17,124,801 17,783,992
(0.64) 0.02
(0.64) 0.02
$ (1.03) $ (0.64)
$ (1.03) $ (0.64)
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Balance,
January 1,
2022

Balance,
January 1,
2023

Stock-based
compensation
expense
Options
Restricted

Stock

Restricted
stock

Issuance of
common
stock:

For stock
options
exercised

For
acquisition

For restricted
stock units
vested, net
of
cancelled
units

Repurchase of
common
stock

Net loss for the
year

Balance,
December 31,
2022

Balance,
December 31,
2023

OPTIMIZERx CORPORATION
Consolidated Statement of Stockholders’ Equity for the Year
Ended December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023

Additional Additional
Common Stock Treasury Stock dd}tlo'na Accumulated Common Stock Treasury Stock l o'na Accum
Paid-in Paid-in
Shares Amount Shares Amount Capital Deficit Total Shares Amount Shares Capital Def
17,860,975 $17,861 — 3 — $166,615,514 $(35,253,658) $131,379,717
18,288,571 $ 18,289  (1,214,398) $ (1,214) $172,785,800 $ (46,6
— — — — 4,956,619 — 4,956,619 — — — 5,925,416
— — — — 10,789,203 — 10,789,203
— — — 7,791,917
156,910 157 = = 1,205,724 = 1,205,881 24,668 25 — 181,081
240,741 241 — — 9,374,214 = 9,374,455 1,444,581 1,444 = 12,089,698
29,945 30 — — (132,430) — (132,400) 141,859 141 — (459,033)
— —  (1,214,398) 1,214  (20,023,044) —  (20,021,830) — —  (526,999) (7,521,899)
— — — — —  (11,438,440)  (11,438,440) — — — — (175
18,288,571 $18,289  (1,214,398) $ 1,214 $172,785,800 $(46,692,098) $126,110,777

19,899,679 $ 19,899

(1,741,397) $ (1,741) $190,792,980 $ (64,2

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Balance, January 1, 2021
Stock-based compensation expense
Options
Restricted Stock
Issuance of common stock:
For board compensation
For stock options exercised

Public offering of common shares, net of offering costs

For restricted stock units vested
Net income for the year
Balance, December 31, 2021

Balance, January 1, 2022
Stock-based compensation expense
Options
Restricted stock
Issuance of common stock:
For stock options exercised
For acquisition
For restricted stock units vested, net of
cancelled units
Repurchase of common stock
Net loss for the year
Balance, December 31, 2022

OPTIMIZERx CORPORATION
Consolidated Statement of Stockholders’ Equity for the Year
Ended December 31, 2021 December 31, 2022

Additional
Common Stock Paid-in Accumulated
Shares Amount Capital Deficit Total
15,223,340 $ 15223 $ 85,590,428 $ (35631,737) $ 49,973,914
— — 2,709,781 — 2,709,781
— — 2,532,091 — 2,532,088
4,730 5 250,080 — 250,085
1,105,822 1,106 4,863,125 — 4,864,231
1,523,750 1,524 70,670,012 — 70,671,536
3,333 3 @3 ) — 3
— — — 378,079 378,079
17,860,975 $ 17,861 $ 166,615514 $ (35253,658) $ 131,379,717
Additional
Common Stock Treasury Stock Paid-in Accumulate
Shares Amount Shares Amount Capital Deficit Total
17,860,975  $ 17,861 — 3 — $ 166,615514 $ (35253,658) $ 131,379,717
— — — — 4,956,619 — 4,956,619
— — — — 10,789,203 — 10,789,203
156,910 157 — — 1,205,724 — 1,205,881
240,741 241 — — 9,374,214 — 9,374,455
29,945 30 — — (132,430) — (132,400)
— — (1,214,398) (1,214) (20,023,044) — (20,024,258)
— — — — — (11,438,440) (11,438,440)
18,288,571  § 18,289 (1,214,398) $ (1,214) $ 172,785800 $ (46,692,098) $ 126,110,777
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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OPTIMIZERx CORPORATION
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

For the For the For the For the
year ended year ended year ended };::e::;::f
December 31, December 31, December 31, 31,
2022 2021 2023
2022
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:
Net (loss) income $  (11,438,440) $ 378,079
Adjustments to reconcile net (loss) income to net cash provided by operating activities:
Net loss $ (17,565,866) $(11,438,440)
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash (used in) / provided by operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization 2,022,029 1,965,325 2,401,628 2,022,029
Increase in bad debt reserve 363,512 80,000
Asset impairment charges 6,737,580 —
Loss on disposal of business 2,142,319 —
Increase in bad debt expense 665,973 363,512
Stock-based compensation 15,745,822 5,491,957 13,717,333 15,745,822
Changes in:
Amortization of debt issuance costs 210,737 —
Change in operating assets and liabilities, net of the effects of acquisitions:
Accounts receivable 2,281,773 (6,994,880) (8,712,954) 2,281,773
Prepaid expenses and other assets 2,650,951 (1,174,044) (573,333) 2,650,951
Accounts payable 943,171 (11,442) (1,320,150) 943,171
Revenue share payable (387,776) (591,652) 1,515,262 (387,776)
Accrued expenses and other liabilities (301,592) 482,475 1,305,164 (301,366)
Change in operating lease liabilities 226 (3,891)
Deferred tax liabilities (7,695,374) —
Deferred revenue (1,225,598) 1,104,112 (67,472) (1,225,598)
NET CASH PROVIDED BY OPERATING ACTIVITIES 10,654,078 726,039
NET CASH (USED IN) / PROVIDED BY OPERATING ACTIVITIES (7,239,153) 10,654,078
CASH FLOWS USED IN INVESTING ACTIVITIES:
Purchases of property and equipment (81,005) (100,322) (87,073) (81,005)
EvinceMed acquisition (2,000,000) —
Proceeds from sale of property and equipment 10,000 —
Cash paid for acquisitions, net of cash acquired (82,947,264) (2,000,000)
Proceeds from sale of business 2,540,000 —
Purchase of short-term investments (55,931,821) — (162,777,510)  (55,931,821)
Acquisition of intangible assets, including intellectual property rights (1,830) (21,511)
Capitalized software development costs (161,730) (364,166)
Redemptions of short-term investments 218,709,331 —
Capitalized software development costs and other (784,349) (163,560)
NET CASH USED IN INVESTING ACTIVITIES (58,176,386 (485,999) (25,336,865) (58,176,386)
CASH FLOWS (USED IN ) / PROVIDED BY FINANCING ACTIVITIES:
Proceeds from public offering of common stock, net of offering costs — 70,671,536
Proceeds from long-term debt, net of issuance costs 37,730,000 —
Repayment of long-term debt (1,710,000) —
Repurchase of common stock (20,024,258) — (7,522,426)  (20,024,258)
Proceeds from exercise of stock options, net of cash paid for withholding taxes 1,073,481 4,864,231 (277,785) 1,073,481
Payment of contingent consideration — (1,610,813)
NET CASH (USED IN) / PROVIDED BY FINANCING ACTIVITIES (18,950,777 ) 73,924,954
NET (DECREASE) / INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (66,473,085) 74,164,994
NET CASH PROVIDED BY/(USED IN) FINANCING ACTIVITIES 28,219,789 (18,950,777 )
NET DECREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (4,356,229)  (66,473,085)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS - BEGINNING OF PERIOD 84,681,770 10,516,776 18,208,685 84,681,770
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS - END OF PERIOD $ 18,208,685 $ 84,681,770 $ 13,852,456 $ 18,208,685

REFINITIV CORPORATE DISCLOSURES | www.refinitiv.com | Contact Us

©2024 Refinitiv. All rights reserved. Republication or redistribution of Refinitiv content, including by framing or similar means, is prohibited without the prior written
consent of Refinitiv. 'Refinitiv' and the Refinitiv logo are registered trademarks of Refinitiv and its affiliated companies.

56/142

REFINITIV [<


https://www.refinitiv.com/
https://www.refinitiv.com/en/contact-us

SUPPLEMENTAL CASH FLOW INFORMATION:

Cash paid for interest

ROU assets obtained in exchange for lease obligations

Reduction of EvinceMed purchase price for amounts previously paid
Shares issued in connection with acquisition

Cash paid for income taxes

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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$ 459,580 $ =

$ 708,334 — $ — $ 708,334

3$ 9,374,455 — $ 12,091,142 $ 9,374,455
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OPTIMIZERx CORPORATION
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31, 20222023
NOTE 1 - ORGANIZATION AND NATURE OF BUSINESS
OptimizeRx is a digital health technology company enabling care-focused engagement between life sciences organizations, healthcare providers, and patients at critical junctures throughout the
patient care journey. Connecting over 60% of two million U.S. healthcare providers and millions of their patients through an intelligent technology platform embedded within a proprietary point-of-
care network, as well as mass digital communications channels, OptimizeRx helps patients start life sciences organizations engage and stay on support their medications. customers.
NOTE 2 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Basis of Presentation
The financial statements of the Company have been prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles in the United States of America and are presented in US dollars.
Use of Estimates
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets
and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Estimates and assumptions have been made in determining the
allowance for credit losses, carrying value of assets, fair values assigned to acquired long-lived assets, depreciable and amortizable lives of tangible and intangible assets, the carrying value of
liabilities, the valuation allowance for the deferred tax asset, assets, the timing of revenue recognition and related revenue share revenue-share expenses, and inputs used in the calculation of stock
based compensation. Actual results could differ from these estimates.
Principles of Consolidation
The financial statements reflect the consolidated results of OptimizeRx Corporation, a Nevada corporation, and its wholly owned subsidiaries: OptimizeRx Corporation, a Michigan corporation,
Healthy Offers, Inc., a Nevada corporation, CareSpeak Communications, Inc., a New Jersey corporation, Cyberdiet, a controlled foreign corporation incorporated in Israel, and CareSpeak
Communications D.0.0., a Controlled Foreign Corporation controlled foreign corporation incorporated in Croatia. Together, these companies are referred to as “OptimizeRx” and “the Company.” All
material intercompany transactions have been eliminated.
Segment reporting
We operate in one reportable segment and use consolidated net income as its measure of segment profit and loss. Overall, our business involves connecting life science companies to patients and
providers. We have a common customer base for all of our solutions, which are primarily all communications with healthcare providers or patients on behalf of life science customers. Our customers
are geographically located in the U.S., although we have two technology centers located internationally. We do not prepare separate internal income statements by solution as our focus is on selling
enterprise arrangements covering multiple solutions that span the entire patient journey with a specific brand.
Reclassifications
Certain items in the previous year financial statements have been reclassified to match the current year presentation.
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OPTIMIZERx CORPORATION
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31, 2023
NOTE 2 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Foreign Currency
The Company’s functional currency is the U.S. dollar, however it pays certain expenses related to its two foreign subsidiaries in the local currency, which is the shekel for its subsidiary in Israel and
the kuna euro for its Croatian subsidiary. All transactions are recorded at the exchange rate at the time of payment. If there is a time lag between the time of recording the liability and the time of
payment, a gain or loss is recorded in the Consolidated Statement of Operations due to any fluctuations in the exchange rate.
Cash and Cash Equivalents
For purposes of the accompanying financial statements, the Company considers all highly liquid instruments, consisting of money market accounts, with an initial maturity of three months or less to
be cash equivalents.
Investments
We account for marketable securities in accordance with ASC 320, “Investments - Debt Securities”, which require that certain debt securities be classified into one of three categories: held-to-
maturity, available-for-sale, or trading securities, and depending upon the classification, value the security at amortized cost or fair market value.
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OPTIMIZERx CORPORATION
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31, 2022
NOTE 2 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Fair Value of Financial Instruments
Fair value is defined as the price that would be received upon sale of an asset or paid upon transfer of a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date and in
the principal or most advantageous market for that asset or liability. The fair value should be calculated based on assumptions that market participants would use in pricing the asset or liability, not on
assumptions specific to the entity. In addition, the fair value of liabilities should include consideration of non-performance risk including our own credit risk.
In addition to defining fair value, the disclosure requirements around fair value establish a fair value hierarchy for valuation inputs, which is expanded. The hierarchy prioritizes the inputs into three
levels based on the extent to which inputs used in measuring fair value are observable in the market. Each fair value measurement is reported in one of the three levels, which is determined by the
lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement in its entirety. These levels are:
Level 1 — Inputs are based upon unadjusted quoted prices for identical instruments traded in active markets.
Level 2 — Inputs are based upon significant observable inputs other than quoted prices included in Level 1, such as quoted prices for identical or similar instruments in markets that are not active, and
model-based valuation techniques for which all significant assumptions are observable in the market or can be corroborated by observable market data for substantially the full term of the assets or
liabilities.
Level 3 — Inputs are generally unobservable and typically reflect management’s estimates of assumptions that market participants would use in pricing the asset or liability. The fair values are
therefore determined using model-based techniques that include option pricing models, discounted cash flow models, and similar techniques. The Company’s stock options and warrants are valued
using level 3 inputs.
The Company’s carrying amounts of financial instruments including cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, accounts payable, and other current liabilites liabilities approximate their fair
values due to their short maturities.
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OPTIMIZERx CORPORATION
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31, 2023
NOTE 2 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Accounts Receivable and Allowance for Doubtful Accounts Credit Losses
Accounts receivable are reported at realizable value, net of allowances for doubtful accounts, credit losses, which is estimated and recorded in the period the related revenue is recorded. The Company
does not seek collateral to secure its accounts receivable and amounts billed are are generally due within a short period of time based on terms and conditions normal for our industry. The Company
has a standardized approach to estimate and review the collectability of its receivables based on a number of factors, including the period they have been outstanding. Historical collection and payer
reimbursement experience is an integral part of the estimation process related to allowances for doubtful accounts. In addition, the Company regularly assesses the state of its billing operations in
order to identify issues, which may impact the collectability of these receivables or reserve estimates. Because If current or expected future economic trends, events, or changes in circumstances
indicate that specific receivable balances may be impaired, further consideration is given to the collectability of those balances and the allowance is adjusted accordingly. Past-due receivable balances
are written off when the Company’s collection efforts have been exhausted.
The Company’s customers are primarily large well-capitalized companies, and historically there has been very little bad debt expense. Bad debt expense was $665,973 and $363,512 for the year years
ended December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023 and $80,000 for the year ended December 31, 2021. 2022, respectively. The allowance for doubtful accounts credit losses was $352,043 $239,172 and
$241,219 $352,043 as of December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023 and 2021, 2022, respectively.
The changes in the allowance for credit losses in each of the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, were as follows:

2023 2022
Balance at beginning of year $ 352,043 $ 241,219
Bad debt expense 665,973 363,512
Write-offs (778,844) (252,688)
Balance at end of year $ 239,172 $ 352,043

From time to time, we may record revenue based on our revenue recognition policies described below in advance of being able to invoice the customer. Included in accounts receivable are unbilled
amounts of $3,582,735,$2,110,865 $4,198,312, and $757,218 $3,582,735, at December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023, 2021 and 2020, 2022, respectively.
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OPTIMIZERx CORPORATION
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31, 2022
NOTE 2 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Property and equipment are stated at cost and are being depreciated over their estimated useful lives of three to five years for office equipment and three years for computer equipment using the
straight-line method of depreciation for book purposes. Maintenance and repair charges are expensed as incurred.
Leases
Lease-related assets, or Operating lease right-of-use (“ROU”) assets, are recognized at the lease commencement date at amounts equal to the respective lease liabilities, adjusted for prepaid lease
payments, initial direct costs, and lease incentives received. Lease-related liabilities are recognized at the present value of the remaining contractual fixed lease payments, discounted using our
incremental borrowing rate. The Company reviews all options to extend, terminate, or purchase its ROU assets at the commencement of the lease and on an ongoing basis and accounts for these
options when they are reasonably certain of being exercised.
Operating lease expense is recognized on a straight-line basis over the lease term, while variable lease payments are expensed as incurred.
The short-term lease recognition exemption is applied for leases with terms at commencement of not greater than 12 months.
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OPTIMIZERx CORPORATION
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31, 2023
NOTE 2 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Intangible Assets
Intangible assets are stated at cost. Finite-lived assets are being amortized over their estimated useful lives of fifteen to seventeen years for patents, eight years for customer relationships, fifteen years
for tradenames, two to four years for covenants not to compete, and three to ten years for software and websites, all using the straight-line method. These assets are evaluated when there is a
triggering event. There was no
Long-lived assets, such as property and equipment and amortizing intangible assets are reviewed whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the related carrying amounts may not be
recoverable. Impairment of assets with definite-lives is generally determined by comparing projected undiscounted cash flows expected to be generated by the asset, or asset groups, to its carrying
value. If the carrying value of the long-lived asset or asset group is not recoverable on an undiscounted basis, an impairment is recognized to the extent fair value exceeds carrying value. Determining
the extent of impairment, if any, typically requires various estimates and assumptions including cash flows directly attributable to the asset, the useful life of the asset and residual value, if any. When
necessary, the Company uses internal cash flow estimates, quoted market prices and appraisals, as appropriate, to determine fair value. Actual results could vary from these estimates. In addition, the
remaining useful life of the impaired asset is revised, if necessary.
We recorded impairment charges of $6.7 million against the value of our intangible assets in either during the year presented. ended December 31, 2023. No events or circumstances were noted that
would be indicative of any potential impairment during the year ended December 31, 2022.
Goodwill
Goodwill represents the excess of the purchase price over the far value assigned to the net tangible and identifiable intangible assets of an acquired business.
We evaluate goodwillGoodwill is assessed for impairment during our fiscal fourth quarter, at least annually as of December 31, of each year, or more frequently if an event occurs or circumstances
change. Our analysis determined change that there was no would reduce the fair value of a reporting unit below its carrying value.
A qualitative assessment can be performed to determine whether it is more likely than not that the fair value of the reporting unit is less than its carrying value. If the reporting unit does not pass the
qualitative assessment, then the reporting unit’s carrying value is compared to its fair value.
The fair value of a reporting unit is calculated using the income approach (including Discounted Cash Flow (“DCF”) and validated using a market approach with the involvement of a third-party
valuation specialist. The income approach uses expected future cash flows for the reporting unit and discounts those cash flows to present value. Expected future cash flows are estimated using
management assumptions of growth rates, including long-term growth rates, capital expenditures and cost efficiencies. Future acquisitions or divestitures are not included in the expected future cash
flows. The Company uses a discount rate based on a calculated weighted average cost of capital which is adjusted for company specific risk premiums. The market approach compares the valuation
multiples of similar companies to that of the associated reporting unit. The Company then reconciles the calculated fair values to its market capitalization. The fair value is then compared to its
carrying value including goodwill. If the fair value is in excess of its carrying value, the related goodwill is not impaired. If the fair value is less than carrying value, an impairment of our
goodwill. charge is recognized, equivalent to the amount that the carrying value exceeds the fair value.
Revenue Recognition
Recognition of revenue requires evidence of a contract, probable collection of proceeds, and completion of substantially all performance obligations. We use a 5-step model to recognize revenue.
These steps are: identify the contract with a customer, identify the performance obligations in the contract, determine the transaction price, allocate the transaction price to the performance obligations
in the contract, and recognize revenue when or as the performance obligations are satisfied.
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OPTIMIZERx CORPORATION
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31, 2023
NOTE 2 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Revenues are primarily generated from content delivery activities in which the Company delivers financial, clinical, or brand messaging through a distribution network of eprescribers and electronic
health record technology providers (channel partners), directly to consumers, or from reselling services that complement the business. This content delivery for a customer is referred to as a program.
Unless otherwise specified, revenue is recognized based on the selling price to customers.
The Company’s contracts are generally all less than one year and the primary performance obligation is delivery of messages, or content, but the contract may contain additional services. Additional
services may include program design, which is the design of the content delivery program, set up, and reporting. We consider set up and reporting services to be complimentary to the primary
performance obligation and recognized through performance of the delivery of content. We consider program design and related consulting services to be performance obligations separate from the
delivery of messages. The net contract balance for contracts in progress at December 31, 2023 and 2022 was $2.0 million and $5.4 million, respectively. The outstanding performance obligations are
expected to be satisfied during the year ended December 31, 2024.
In certain circumstances, the Company will offer sales rebates to customers based on spend volume. Rebates are typically contracted based on a quarterly or annual spend amount based on a volume
threshold or tiered model. At the beginning of the year, the rebate percentage is estimated based on input from the sales team and analysis of prior year sales. Thereafter, the open contract balance for
the customer is assessed quarterly to ensure the estimated rebate percentage being used for the rebate accrual remains reasonable. The estimated amount of variable consideration will be included in
the transaction price only to the extent that it is probable that a significant reversal in the amount of cumulative revenue recognized will not occur when the uncertainty associated with the variable
consideration is subsequently resolved. For the year ended 2023, there were three contracts with customers that included a rebate clause.
As the content is distributed through the platform and network of channel partners (a transaction), these transactions are recorded, and revenue is recognized over time as the distributions occur.
Revenue for transactions can be realized based on a price per message, a price per redemption, as a flat fee occurring over a period of time, or upon completion of the program, depending on the client
contract. The Company recognizes setup fees that are required for integrating client offerings and campaigns into the rule-based content delivery system and network over the life of the initial
program, based either on time, or units delivered, depending upon which is most appropriate in the specific situation. Should a program be cancelled before completion, the balance of set up revenue
is recognized at the time of cancellation, as set up fees are nonrefundable. Additionally, the Company also recognizes revenue for providing program performance reporting and maintenance, either by
the Company directly delivering reports or by providing access to its online reporting portal that the client can utilize. This reporting revenue is recognized over time as the messages are delivered.
Program design, which is the design of the content delivery program, and related consulting services are recognized as services are performed.
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OPTIMIZERx CORPORATION
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31, 2022
NOTE 2 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Disaggregation of Revenue

Consistent with ASC Topic 606, we have disaggregated our revenue by timing of revenue recognition. The majority of our revenue is recognized over time as solutions are provided. A small portion
of our revenue related to program development, solution architect design, and other solutions is recognized at a point in time upon delivery to customers. A break down is set forth in the table below.

2022 2021 2023 2022
Revenue recognized over time $ 55,437,418 $ 57,077,743 $63,527,477 $55,437,418
4,214,855 7,994,029 7,012,738

Total Revenue $ 62,450,156  $ 61,292,598 $71,521,506 $ 62,450,156
Revenue Recognition (Continued)

Revenue recognized at a point in time 7,012,738
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OPTIMIZERx CORPORATION
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31, 2023
NOTE 2 — SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
In some instances, we license certain of our software applications in arrangements that do not include other performance obligations. In those instances, we record license revenue when the software
is delivered for use to the license. In instances where our contracts included Software as a Service, the revenue is recognized over the subscription period as services are delivered to the customer.
In some instances, the Company also resells messaging solutions that are available through channel partners that are complementary to the core business and client base. These partner specific
solutions are frequently similar to our own solutions and revenue recognition for these programs is the same as described above. In instances where the Company sells solutions on a commission
basis, net revenue is recognized based on the commission-based revenue split that the Company receives. There were no programs recorded on a net basis in the years presented. In instances where
the Company resells these messaging solutions and has all financial risk and significant operation input and risk, the Company records the revenue based on the gross amount sold and the amount
paid to the channel partner as a cost of sales.
Cost of Revenues
Cost of Revenues
The primary cost of revenue is revenue share expense. include revenue-share expense and costs associated with licensing data from third parties. Cost of revenues does not include depreciation and
amortization which is listed separately on the statements of operations. Based on the volume of transactions that are delivered through the channel partner network, the Company provides a revenue
share revenue-share to compensate the partner, or others, for their promotion of the campaign. Revenue shares Revenue-shares are a negotiated percentage of the transaction fees and can also be
specific to special considerations and campaigns.
Income Taxes
Income taxes are computed using the asset and liability method. Under the asset and liability method, deferred income tax assets and liabilities are determined based on the differences between the
financial reporting and tax basis of assets and liabilities and are measured using the currently enacted tax rates and laws. A valuation allowance is provided for the amount of deferred tax assets that,
based on available evidence, are not expected to be realized.
Significant judgments are required in order to determine the realizability of these deferred tax assets. In assessing the need for a valuation allowance, the Company evaluates all significant available
positive and negative evidence, including historical operating results, estimates of future taxable income and the existence of prudent and feasible tax planning strategies. Changes in the expectations
regarding the realization of deferred tax assets could materially impact income tax expense in future periods.
The Company recognizes the tax benefit from uncertain tax positions if it is more likely than not that the tax positions will be sustained on examination by the tax authorities, based on the technical
merits of the position. The tax benefit is measured based on the largest benefit that has a greater than 50% likelihood of being realized upon ultimate settlement. It is the Company’s policy to include
interest and penalties related to tax positions as a component of income tax expense.
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OPTIMIZERx CORPORATION
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31, 2022
NOTE 2 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Concentration of Credit Risks
The Company maintains its cash and cash equivalents in bank deposit accounts, which, at times, may exceed federally insured limits. The Company has not experienced any losses in such accounts;
however, amounts in excess of the federally insured limit may be at risk if the bank experiences financial difficulties. As of December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023 and 2021 2022 the Company had
$15,669,837 $13,260,816 and $83,312,524, $15,669,837, respectively, in cash balances in excess of federally insured limits, primarily at Bank of America.
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OPTIMIZERx CORPORATION
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31, 2023
NOTE 2 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Research and Development
The Company expenses research and development expenses as incurred. There was no research and development expense for the years ended December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023 and 2021. 2022.
Advertising Costs
The Company expenses advertising costs as incurred. Advertising costs, included in Other general and administrative expenses were $775,548 and $743,975, for the years ended December 31, 2023
and 2022, respectively.
Stock-based Compensation
The Company uses the fair value method to account for stock-based compensation. The fair value of the equity instrument is charged directly to compensation expense and additional paid-in capital
over the period during which services are rendered. The fair value of each award is estimated on the date of each grant.
For restricted stock awards, the fair value is based on the market value of the Company’s common stock on the date of grant. For market based restricted stock units, the fair value is was estimated
using a Monte Carlo simulation model. This valuation technique includes included estimating the movement of stock prices and the effects of volatility, interest rates and dividends. At the year ended
December 31, 2023 there are no market based restricted stock units outstanding.
For options, fair value is estimated using the Black-Scholes option pricing model that uses the following assumptions. Estimated volatilities are based on the historical volatility of the Company’s
common stock over the same period as the expected term of the options. The expected term of options granted represents the period of time that options granted are expected to be outstanding. The
Company uses historical data to estimate option exercise behavior and to determine this term. The risk-free rate used is based on the U.S. Treasury yield curve in effect at the time of the grant using a
time period equal to the expected option term. The Company has never paid dividends and do not expect to pay any dividends in the future.

2022 2021 2023 2022
Expected dividend yield 0% 0% 0% 0%
Risk free interest rate 0.82% - 4.38% 0.19% - 0.67% 3.76% -4.74%  0.82% - 4.38%
Expected option term 3.5 years 3.5 years 3.5 years 3.5 years
Turnover/forfeiture rate 0% 0% 0% 0%
Expected volatility 68% - 71% 67% - 70% 67%-72 % 68% - 71 %
Weighted average grant date fair value $ 12.82 $ 26.36 $ 6.58 $ 12.82

The Black-Scholes option valuation model and other existing models were developed for use in estimating the fair value of traded options that have no vesting restrictions and are fully transferable.
These option valuation models require the input of, and are highly sensitive to, subjective assumptions including the expected stock price volatility. The Company’s stock options have characteristics
significantly different from those of traded options, and changes in the subjective input assumptions could materially affect the fair value estimate.

Loss Per Common and Common Equivalent Share

The computation of basic (loss) earnings per common share is computed using the weighted average number of common shares outstanding during the year. The computation of diluted (loss) earnings
per common share is based on the basic weighted average number of shares outstanding during the year plus common stock equivalents, which would arise from the exercise of options and warrants
outstanding using the treasury stock method and the average market price per share during the year. The number of common shares potentially issuable upon the exercise of certain awards that were
excluded from the diluted loss per common share calculation in 2023 and 2022 was 31,727 and 93,626 related to options, and 52,607 and 170,859 related to restricted stock units, for a total of 84,334
and 264,485, respectively, because they are anti-dilutive, as a result of athe net loss for losses incurred in each of the year years ended December 31, 2022. December 31, 2023 and 2022.
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OPTIMIZERx CORPORATION
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31, 2022 2023
NOTE 2 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
The computation of weighted average shares outstanding and the basic and diluted earnings per common share for the years ended December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023 and 2021 2022 consisted of
the following:
Year ended December 31, 2022

Per Share
Net (Loss) Shares Amount

Basic EPS $  (11,438,440) 17,783,992  $ (0.64)

Effect of dilutive securities — — —

Diluted EPS $  (11,438,440) 17,783,992 $ (0.64)

Year ended December 31, 2021
Per Share
Net Income Shares Amount

Basic EPS $ 378,079 17,228,019 § 0.02
Effect of dilutive securities 462,470 —
Diluted EPS $ 378,079 17,690,489  § 0.02

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets
The Company continually monitors events and changes in circumstances that could indicate carrying amounts of long-lived assets may not be recoverable. When such events or changes in
circumstances are present, the Company assesses the recoverability of long-lived assets by determining whether the carrying value of such assets will be recovered through undiscounted expected
future cash flows. If the total of the future cash flows is less than the carrying amount of those assets, the Company recognizes an impairment loss based on the excess of the carrying amount over the
fair value of the assets. Assets to be disposed of are reported at the lower of the carrying amount or the fair value less costs to sell.

Year ended December 31, 2023

Per Share
Net (Loss) Shares Amount
Basic EPS $ (17,565,866) 17,124,801 $ (1.03)
Effect of dilutive securities — — —
Diluted EPS $ (17,565,866) 17,124,801 $ (1.03)
Segment reporting
Year ended December 31, 2022
Per Share
Net Income Shares Amount
Basic EPS $ (11,438,440) 17,783,992 $ (0.64)
Effect of dilutive securities — — —
Diluted EPS $  (11,438,440) 17,783,992  $ (0.64)

We operate in one reportable segment. Overall, our business involves connecting life science companies to patients and providers. We have a common customer base for all of our solutions, which are
primarily all communications with healthcare providers or patients on behalf of life science customers. Our customers are geographically located in the U.S although we have two technology centers
located internationally. We do not prepare separate internal income statements by solutions as our focus is on selling enterprise arrangements covering multiple solutions that span the entire patient
journey with a specific brand.

Recently Issued Accounting Guidance

In December 2019, the FASB issued ASU No. 2019-12, Income Taxes (Topic 740): Simplifying the Accounting for Income Taxes. ASU 2019-12 is intended to improve consistent application and
simplify the accounting for income taxes. ASU 2019-12 removes certain exceptions to the general principles in Topic 740 and clarifies and amends existing guidance. ASU 2019-12 was effective for
us as of January 1, 2021. The adoption of this standard did not have a material effect on our financial position, results of operations, or cash flows.
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OPTIMIZERx CORPORATION
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31, 2022
NOTE 2 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Not Yet Adopted
ASU Topic 2021-08 Business Combinations (Topic 805), Accounting for Contract Assets and Contract Liabilities from Contracts with Customers, which requires contract assets and contract
liabilities acquired in a business combination to be recognized and measured by the acquirer on the acquisition date in accordance with ASC 606, Revenue from Contracts with Customers, as if it had
originated the contracts. The standard is was effective for the Company’s fiscal year beginning January 1, 2023, with early adoption permitted.. The adoption of this standard is did not expected to
have a material effect on our financial position, results of operations, or cash flows.
Not Yet Adopted
In November 2023, the FASB issued ASU No. 2023-07 (“ASU 2023-07”), Segment Reporting (Topic 280): Improvements to Reportable Segment Disclosures. ASU 2023-07 requires annual and
interim disclosures that are expected to improve reportable segment disclosures, primarily through enhanced disclosures about significant segment expenses. The provisions of ASU 2023-07 are
effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2023, and interim periods within fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2024, with early adoption permitted. We are currently evaluating the
impact of adopting ASU 2023-07.
In December 2023, the FASB issued ASU No. 2023-09 (“ASU 2023-09”), Income Taxes (Topic 740): Improvements to Income Tax Disclosures. ASU 2023-09 addresses investor requests for more
transparency about income tax information through improvements to income tax disclosures primarily related to the rate reconciliation and income taxes paid information. This update also includes
certain other amendments to improve the effectiveness of income tax disclosures. The provisions of ASU 2023-09 are effective for annual periods beginning after December 15, 2024, with early
adoption permitted. We are currently evaluating the impact of adopting ASU 2023-09.
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OPTIMIZERx CORPORATION
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31, 2023
NOTE 3 — ACQUISITIONS
On October 24, 2023, the Company acquired 100% of the issued and outstanding preferred and common stock of Healthy Offers, Inc., a Nevada corporation d/b/a Medicx Health. Medicx Health is a
healthcare consumer-focused omnichannel marketing and analytics company. The acquisition of Medicx Health is expected to enhance and expand the Company’s technology offerings, providing
additional opportunities for revenue growth.
The acquisition date fair value of consideration transferred was calculated as follows:

Net cash transferred $ 83,888,239
Fair value of common stock transferred 12,091,142
Fair value of consideration transferred $ 95,979,381

The goodwill balance reflects the benefits associated with future iterations of the technology platforms, new customer relationships anticipated as a result of the transaction and market participant
synergies from economies of scale and is not deductible for tax purposes.

In addition, the Company is required to remit, upon collection from the appropriate authorities, approximately $1.0 million related to certain state and federal income tax receivables which were
included on Medicx Health’s balance sheet at the date of acquisition. The Company has recorded $1.0 million in Taxes receivable, to reflect the receivables due to the Company and $1.0 million in
Accrued expenses, to reflect the total amount due to the former stockholders of Medicx Health.

The following table summarizes the estimated fair value of assets acquired and liabilities assumed at the acquisition date:

Assets Acquired
Cash $ 940,974
Accounts receivable 6,028,048
Taxes receivable 1,035,754
Prepaid expenses and other 912,719
Property and equipment 33,476
Customer relationships intangible 34,000,000
Trademark and patent intangible 5,700,000
Technology intangibles 8,300,000
Operating lease right-of-use assets 145,075
Deposits 9,727

57,105,773
Liabilities Assumed

Accounts payable 1,997,348
Accrued expenses 3,848,403
Lease liabilities 166,098
Deferred revenue 75,003
Deferred tax liabilities 12,032,798

18,119,650
Net assets acquired 38,986,123
Goodwill 56,993,258
Fair value of consideration transferred $ 95,979,381
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OPTIMIZERx CORPORATION
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31, 2023
NOTE 3 — ACQUISITIONS (CONTINUED)
The Company used a third-party valuation specialist to value the intangible assets acquired. The identifiable intangibles are being amortized on a straight line basis over the following estimated useful
lives:

Customer relationship intangible 15 years
Trademark and patent intangible 10 years
Technology intangibles 4 to 10 years

The Company recognized $4.3 million of acquisition related costs that were expensed in the current period. These costs are included in the consolidated statement of operations in the line item
entitled “Other sales, general and administrative expenses.”

The results of operations of Medicx Health have been included in the consolidated statement of operations since the date of acquisition.

The amounts of revenue and net income of Medicx Health included in the Company’s consolidated statement of operations for the period from the acquisition date until December 31, 2023, are as
follows:

Revenue $ 4,546,497

Net income 314,082

The following represents the pro-forma consolidated statement of operations as if Medicx Health had been included in the consolidated results of the Company for the full years ended December 31,
2023, and 2022:

Year ended
December 31, 2022
Pro-forma consolidated statement of operations 2023 2022
Revenue $ 97,066241 $ 90,521,236
Net loss (18,616,303) (16,157,521)

These amounts have been calculated after applying the Company’s accounting policies, adjusting Medicx Health results to reflect the additional amortization that would have been charged assuming
the fair value adjustments to intangible assets had been applied on January 1, 2022, full year interest expense associated with the term loan and elimination of interest income on short-term
investments that were used to fund the acquisition, one time transaction related items, including the amounts incurred by the Company, discussed above and $9.6 million in transaction related
expenses incurred by Medicx Health.

On April 14, 2022, we completed the acquisition of substantially all of the assets of EvinceMed Corp., a privately held leading provider of delivering end-to-end automation for specialty
pharmaceutical transactions. We completed the acquisition to expand the breadth of the solutions we offer our customers, particularly where specialty medications are involved, The acquisition
included the full Market Access Management Platform for supporting pharma manufacturers, hub providers and pharmacies to improve patient access, speed to therapy and activation of affordability
programs. With the EvinceMed platform, OptimizeRx is able to help patients get access to the drugs they need by simplifying the prescribing process for specialty medications, automating manual
steps to determine drug eligibility and affordability, and introducing electronic enrollment and medical documentation across the OptimizeRx network of electronic health record (EHR) systems,
ePrescribing platforms, and account-based marketing technologies.

The consideration was comprised of $2.0 million in cash, the issuance of 240,741 shares of common stock valued at $9,374,455, and $708,334 of amounts previously paid. The total purchase price
was $12,082,789. Of the 240,741 shares of common stock, 185,185 were issued at closing and 55,556 were issued but held back to secure potential adjustments to the purchase price that may result
from the indemnification obligations of EvinceMed and the EvinceMed shareholder indemnitors. The holdback amount will be released twelve months from the closing, subject to any adjustments for
the payment by EvinceMed and the shareholder indemnitors for its and their indemnification obligations. The purchase price was allocated to acquired technology totaling $4,149,000 with an
estimated useful life of 8 years and the remaining $7,933,789 was allocated to goodwill. Goodwill represents the processes and synergies expected by integrating those processes with our own. The
full amount of goodwill will be deductible for tax purposes using a 15 year life. The increase in goodwill for the period is fully accounted for by this acquisition. We determined pro forma data was
immaterial for financial reporting purposes. The initial accounting is provisional and subject to change based on the completion of formal valuations.

Acquisition costs of approximately $19,739 were expensed as incurred.
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OPTIMIZERx CORPORATION
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31, 2022 2023
NOTE 4 — INVESTMENT SECURITIES
There were no investment securities held at December 31, 2023.
At December 31, 2022 the Company held $55.9 million in U.S. government and agency securities. All securities have had maturity dates of less than one year. The Company reports them reported
these securities at amortized cost. The amortized cost approximates fair value at December 31, 2022 due to the short nature of the securities.
ThereProceeds from the maturities of these securities during 2023 were no securities held at December 31, 2021. used to partially fund the acquisition of Medicx Health. See Note 3 - Acquisitions.
NOTE 5 — PREPAID EXPENSES
Prepaid expenses consisted of the following as of December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023 and 2021: 2022:

2022 2021 2023 2022
Revenue share and exclusivity payments $ 1,025,000 $ 4,516,668 $1,495,127 $ 1,025,000
Software 408,063 181,044 407,480 408,063
Insurance 221,580 156,327 369,504 221,580
Data 152,533 168,462 513,244 152,533
Other 473,652 608,154 404,113 473,652
Total prepaid expenses $ 2,280,828 $ 5,630,655 $3,189,468 $ 2,280,828

NOTE 6 — PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT
The Company owned equipment recorded at cost, which consisted of the following as of December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023 and 2021: 2022:

2022 2021 2023 2022
Computer equipment $ 230,467 $ 267,917 $266,370 $ 230,467
Furniture and fixtures 38,500 200,250 33,899 38,500
268,967 468,167 300,269 268,967
Less accumulated depreciation 131,519 324,349 150,862 131,519
Property and equipment, net $ 137,448  § 143,818 $149,407 $137,448

Depreciation expense was $85,725 $99,849 and $105,360 $85,725 for the years ended December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023 and 2021, 2022, respectively.

NOTE 7 - GOODWILL AND INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Goodwill

Goodwill

Our goodwill is related to the acquisitions of Medicx Health in 2023, EvinceMed in 2022, RMDY Health, Inc. in 2019 and CareSpeak Communications in 2018. Goodwill is not amortizable for
financial statement purposes.

The Company performed its annual goodwill impairment review in the fourth quarters of each of the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, and also performed an interim impairment review as
of November 30, 2023, following the completion of the transaction with Mercalis, Inc., which is discussed below. In both cases it was determined that the fair value of the Company’s single reporting
unit was greater than its carrying value.
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OPTIMIZERx CORPORATION
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31, 2023
NOTE 7 — GOODWILL AND INTANGIBLE ASSETS (CONTINUED)
The fair value of any reporting units, used in the annual assessments in 2023 and 2022, is classified as Level 3 measurements within the fair value hierarchy due to significant unobservable inputs
such as discount rates, projections of revenue, cost of revenue and operating expense growth rates, long-term growth rates and income tax rates.
Changes in the carrying amount of goodwill on the consolidated balance sheet consist of the following:

Balance at January 1, 2021 $ 14,740,031
Acquisitions -
Impairments -
Balance January 1, 2022 $ 14,740,031
Revenue recognized 7,933,789
Amount collected -
Balance December 31, 2022 $ 22,673,820
Balance at January 1, 2022 $ 14,740,031
Acquisitions 7,933,789
Impairments —
Balance January 1, 2023 $ 22,673,820
Acquisitions 56,993,258
Disposal of business (1,310,004)
Impairments —
Balance December 31, 2023 $ 78,357,074
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OPTIMIZERx CORPORATION

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

DECEMBER 31, 2022During the year ended December 31, 2023, we entered into various agreements, including a Product License Agreement and Platform Assets Purchase Agreement, with
Mercalis, Inc.(“Mercalis”), collectively the “Transaction”. Under the terms of the Transaction, Mercalis agreed to purchase certain customer contract assets and liabilities related to the Company’s
Access and Patient Engagement technologies. In addition, Mercalis was granted a perpetual license to the Access products and a non-exclusive two-year term license to the Patient Engagement
products. Total consideration due for the Transaction was $3,740,000 including $2,540,000 related to the Access products.

NOTE 7 — INTANGIBLE ASSETS (CONTINUED)The Access products portion of the Transaction was deemed to be the disposal of a business for accounting purposes and accordingly the
Company recorded a loss on disposal of $2,142,319 including the allocation of a portion of the Company’s goodwill balance of $1,310,004 and the net book value of the underlying technology assets
of $3,327,844.

Intangible Assets

Intangible assets included on the consolidated balance sheets consist of the following:

December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023
Weighted
Gross A lated Weighted Gross A lated Aelg ¢
Carrying ccum'u a.e Net Average Life Carrying ccum.u a.e Net ve.rage
Amortization . Amortization Life
Amount Remaining Amount .
Remaining
Patent rights $ 3,364,729 $ 1,424,551 $ 1,940,178 85 §$ 7,163,729 $ 978,987 $ 6,184,742 8.8
Technology assets 12,859,660 5,156,765 7,702,895 5.1 12,387,622 3,374,866 9,012,756 6.6
Other intangible assets
Tradename 3,586,000 776,966 2,809,034 11.7 134,000 — 134,000 10.7
Non-compete agreements 1,093,000 1,093,000 — 0 1,093,000 1,093,000 = =
Customer relationships 923,000 352,196 570,804 7.4 34,923,000 858,916 34,064,084 14.6
Total other 5,602,000 2,222,162 3,379,838
Total Tradename and customer relationships 36,150,000 1,951,916 34,198,084
Total intangible assets $ 21,826,389 $ 8,803,478 $ 13,022,911 $55,701,351 $ 6,305,769 $49,395,582
December 31, 2021
Gross Weighted
Carrying Accumulated Average Life
Amount Amortization Net Remaining
Patent rights $ 3,362,898 $ 1,207,872 $ 2,155,026 9.6
Technology assets 8,548,930 3,959,804 4,589,126 4.9
Other intangible assets
Tradename 3,586,000 537,900 3,048,100 12.7
Non-compete agreements 1,093,000 899,635 193,365 0.6
Customer relationships 923,000 261,963 661,037 8.4
Total other 5,602,000 1,699,498 3,902,502
Total intangible assets $ 17,513,828 $ 6,867,174 $ 10,646,654
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OPTIMIZERx CORPORATION
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

DECEMBER 31, 2023
NOTE 7 — GOODWILL AND INTANGIBLE ASSETS (CONTINUED)
December 31, 2022
Gross Weighted
Carrying Accumulated Average Life
Amount Amortization Net Remaining
Patent rights $ 3,364,729 $ 1,424,551 $ 1,940,178 8.5
Technology assets 12,859,660 5,156,765 7,702,895 5.1
Other intangible assets
Tradename 3,586,000 776,966 2,809,034 11.7
Non-compete agreements 1,093,000 1,093,000 — —
Customer relationships 923,000 352,196 570,804 7.4
Total other 5,602,000 2,222,162 3,379,838
Total intangible assets $ 21,826389 $ 8803478 $ 13,022,911

During the year ended December 31, 2023, we recorded asset impairment charges of $6,737,580 relating to Technology assets patent rights and tradenames that were not considered to be core
solutions on a go forward basis, resulting in lower projected revenues for these solutions, as well as the outcome of the disposal of the Access products discussed above.
Intangibles are being amortized on a straight-line basis over the following estimated useful lives.

Patents 15— 17 years
Tradenames 15 years
Non-compete agreements 2 — 4 years
Customer relationships 8 years
Technology assets 3—10 years
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The Company recorded amortization expense of $1,936,304 $2,301,779 and $1,859,965 $1,936,304 in the years ended December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023 and 2021, 2022, respectively. Expected
December 31, 2022

future amortization expense of the intangibles assets as of December 31, 2023 is as follows:
Year ended December 31,
2024 $ 4,202,841
2025 4,128,899
2026 4,079,117
2027 3,972,613
2028 3,724,330
Thereafter 29,287,782
Total $ 49,395,582
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OPTIMIZERx CORPORATION
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31, 2023

NOTE 8 - DEFERRED REVENUE

The Company has several signed contracts with customers for the distribution of financial messaging, or other services, which include payment in advance. The payments are not recorded as revenue
until the revenue is earned under its revenue recognition policy discussed in Note 2. Deferred revenue was $164,309 $171,841 and $1,389,907 $164,309 as of December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023
and 2021, 2022, respectively. These contracts are all short term in nature and all revenue is expected to be recognized within 12 months, or less. Following is a summary of activity in the deferred
revenue account for the year ended December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023.

Balance January 1, 2022

$ 1,389,907

Revenue recognized (36,346,653 )
Amount collected 35,121,055
Balance December 31, 2022 164,309
Balance January 1, 2023 164,309
Revenue recognized (12,358,640)
Amount collected 12,291,169
Amount acquired 75,003
Balance December 31, 2023 $ 171,841
Following is a summary of activity in the deferred revenue account for the year ended December 31, 2021 December 31, 2022.

Balance January 1, 2021 $ 285,795
Revenue recognized (18,006,973 )

Amount collected

19,111,085

Balance December 31, 2021 1,389,907
Balance January 1, 2022 $ 1,389,907
Revenue recognized (13,455,253)
Amount collected 12,229,655
Balance December 31, 2022 $ 164,309

NOTE 9 — RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

During the year ended December 31, 2010, the Company acquired the technical contributions and assignment of all exclusive rights to and for a key patent in process at the time from a former
CEO Chief Executive Officer (“CEO”), in exchange for a total payment in shares of common stock and options valued at $930,000 at the time of the acquisition and recorded the patent at that cost.
That patent remains in Patents on the consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023.

Jim Lang, one of our Board Members, is the CEO of Eversana, a leading global provider of services to the life sciences industry. Eversana is similar to other customers we generate revenue from,
such as agencies or resellers. During the years ended December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023 and 2021, respectively, 2022, we have recognized $335,897 and $401,972, and $218,333 respectively, in
revenue from contracts engaged with Eversana. These contracts were sourced by Eversana on behalf of life science customers of theirs. The contracts are at market rates and were generated in the
normal course of business.

REFINITIV CORPORATE DISCLOSURES | www.refinitiv.com | Contact Us 781142
©2024 Refinitiv. All rights reserved. Republication or redistribution of Refinitiv content, including by framing or similar means, is prohibited without the prior written R E F I N I T I V I ‘

consent of Refinitiv. 'Refinitiv' and the Refinitiv logo are registered trademarks of Refinitiv and its affiliated companies.


https://www.refinitiv.com/
https://www.refinitiv.com/en/contact-us

OPTIMIZERx CORPORATION
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31, 2022
NOTE 10 - STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Preferred Stock
The Company had 10,000,000 shares of preferred stock, $0.001 par value per share, authorized as of December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023. No shares were issued or outstanding in either 2021 2022
or 2022.2023.
Common Stock
The Company had 166,666,667 shares of common stock, $0.001 par value per share, authorized as of December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023. There were 17,074,17318,158,282 and
17,860,975 17,074,173 shares of common stock outstanding, net of shares held in treasury, at December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023 and 2021, 2022, respectively.
We issued 24,668 shares of common stock and received proceeds of $181,106 in 2023 in connection with the exercise of options under our 2013 Equity Incentive Plan. We also issued 156,910 shares
of common stock and received proceeds of $1,205,881 in 2022 in connection with the exercise of options. options under our 2013 Equity Incentive Plan.
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OPTIMIZERx CORPORATION
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31, 2023
NOTE 10 - STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY (CONTINUED)
We also issued 1,105,822 141,859 shares of common stock and received proceeds of $4,864,231 in 2021 in connection with the exercise of options.
We issued 2023 and 29,945 shares of common stock in 2022 and 3,333 shares of common in stock in 2021 in connection with the vesting of restricted stock units under our 2013 and 2021 Equity
Incentive Plans and discussed in greater detail in Note 11, Stock Based Compensation.
The Company had Some of the participants utilized a Director Compensation plan covering its independent non-employee Directors that was net withhold settlement method, in effect through June
30, 2021. A total of 4,730 which shares were granted and surrendered to cover payroll withholding taxes. Of the shares issued in to participants during the year ended December 31, 2021 in connection
with this compensation plan. These December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively, 42,489 and 8,416 shares, were valued at $250,085. The plan was changed to grant restricted stock units under the
Company’s 2021 Equity Incentive Plan $458,892 and those grants are discussed in Note 10, Stock Based Compensation. $132,400, were surrendered and subsequently cancelled.

Treasury Stock

During the year quarter ended December 31, 2021 March 31, 2023, in an underwritten primary offering, we issued 1,523,750 the Board authorized a share repurchase program, under which the
Company may repurchase up to $15 million of its outstanding common stock. This stock repurchase authorization expires on the earlier of March 12, 2024, or when the repurchase of $15 million of
shares of its common stock has been reached. Through December 31, 2023, the Company repurchased 526,999 shares of our common stock for gross proceeds a total of $75,425,625. In connection
with this transaction, we incurred equity issuance costs of $4,754,089 related to payments to the underwriter, advisors and legal fees associated with the transaction, resulting in net proceeds
t0$7,522,426, including commissions paid on repurchases. At December 31, 2022, the Company repurchased 1,214,398 shares of $70,671,536.our common stock for a total of $20,021,830,
including commissions paid on repurchases. These shares were recorded as Treasury Shares using the par value method.

During the year ended December 31, 2022, the Board authorized a share repurchase program, under which the Company may repurchase up to $20.0 million $20.0 million of its outstanding common
stock. Through December 31, 2022, we repurchased 1,214,398 shares of our common stock for a total of $20,024,258, including commissions paid on repurchases. These shares were recorded as
Treasury Shares using the par value method.

NOTE 11 - STOCK BASED COMPENSATION

The Company sponsors two stock-based incentive compensation plans.

The first plan is known as the 2013 Incentive Plan (the “2013 Plan”) and was established by the Board of Directors of the Company in June 2013. The 2013 Plan, as amended, authorized the issuance
of 3,000,000 shares of Company common stock. The amended plan was approved by shareholders. A total of 410,701 345,435 shares of common stock underlying options and 128,590 111,628 shares

of common stock underlying restricted stock unit awards were outstanding at December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023. In connection with the adoption of a new plan in 2021, the Company froze the
2013 Plan. At December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023, there were no shares available for grant under the 2013 Plan.
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OPTIMIZERx CORPORATION
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31, 2022

NOTE 11 — STOCK BASED COMPENSATION (CONTINUED)

In 2021, the Company adopted a new plan known as the 2021 Equity Incentive Plan (“2021 Plan”). The plan was established by the Board of Directors and approved by shareholders in August 2021.
A total of 2,500,000 shares are authorized for issuance under the 2021 Plan. A total of 896,169 1,209,626 shares of common stock underlying options and 660,484 631,581 shares of common stock
underlying restricted stock unit awards were outstanding at December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023. At December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023, 921,946 276,844 shares were available for grant under
the 2021 Plan.
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OPTIMIZERx CORPORATION
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31, 2023

NOTE 11 — STOCK BASED COMPENSATION (CONTINUED)

The 2021 Plan allows the Company to grant incentive stock options, non-qualified stock options, stock appreciation rights, restricted stock, restricted stock units, performance awards and other stock-
based awards. Incentive stock options may only be granted to persons who are regular full-time employees of the Company at the date of the grant of the option. Non-qualified options may be granted
to any person, including, but not limited to, directors, officers, employees and consultants, who the Company’s Board or Compensation Committee determines. The exercise price of options granted
under the 2021 Plan must be equal to at least 100% of the fair market value of our common stock as of the date of the grant of the option. Options granted under the 2021 Plan are exercisable as
determined by the Compensation Committee and specified in the applicable award agreement. In no event will an option be exercisable after ten years from the date of grant.

Stock Options

The compensation cost that has been charged against income related to options for the years ended December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023 and 2021,2022, was $4,956,619 $5,925,416 and
$2,709,781, $4,956,619, respectively. No income tax benefit was recognized in the consolidated statements of income and no compensation was capitalized in any of the years presented. During the
year ended December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023, we granted certain performance based options, the expense for which will be recorded over time once the achievement of the performance is
deemed probable. There was no expense related to these options recorded during the period. The fair value of these instruments was calculated using the Black-Scholes option pricing model.

In During 2022, the year ended December 31, 2021, certain participants utilized a net withhold exercise method in which options were surrendered to cover payroll withholding tax. Of the cumulative
net options exercised by participants were 31,243 options, valued at $100,290, were surrendered and subsequently cancelled.
The Company had the following option activity during the year ended December 31, 2022 and 2021:

Weighted average
remaining Aggregate
Number of Weighted average contractual life intrinsic
Options exercise price (years) value $
Outstanding at January 1, 2021 1,545,518 $ 7.31
Granted 424,588 $ 54.34
Exercised (1,105,822) $ 7.33
Withheld and cancelled (31,243) 3.21
Expired or forfeited (49,494) $ 24.57
Outstanding at December 31, 2021 783,547 $ 34.17 34 §$ 23,368,961
Granted 862,938 § 25.43
Exercised (156,910) $ 7.69
Expired or forfeited (182,705) $ 37.13
Outstanding, December 31, 2022 1,306,870  $ 31.14 27 % 1,537,752
Exercisable, December 31, 2022 250,684 $ 33.82 26 $ 538,652
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OPTIMIZERx CORPORATION
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31, 2022
NOTE 11 — STOCK BASED COMPENSATION (CONTINUED)
Restricted Stock Units
The Company had the following restricted stock unit (“RSU”) activity during the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021:

‘Weighted average
Weighted average remaining
grant date fair contractual life
Number of RSUs value (years)
Outstanding at January 1, 2021 100,000 $ 11.51
Granted 303,556 $ 66.30
Forfeited (485) $ 61.82
Shares issued (3333) $ 21.20
Outstanding at December 31, 2021 399,738 $ 52.99 3.3
Granted 467,043 $ 25.69
Forfeited (39,346) $ 44.06
Vested and issued (29,945) $59.41
Withheld and cancelled (8,416) $ 68.69
Outstanding at December 31, 2022 789,074  $ 36.95 2.0

The Company granted restricted stock units of 467,043 and 303,556 units in 2022 and 2021, respectively, and valued at $11,996,111 and $20,125,861, respectively. These restricted stock units vest
over a period of 1 year to 5 years. The Company recognized expense of $10,789,203 and $2,532,091 in 2022 and 2021, respectively, related to these restricted stock units. A total of $17,862,951
remains to be recognized at December 31, 2022 over a period of 2.0 years.

In the year ended December 31, 2022, certain participants utilized a net withhold settlement method, in which shares were surrendered to cover payroll withholding tax. Of the cumulative net options
exercised by participants were 31,243 options, valued at $100,290, were surrendered and subsequently cancelled.

Performance Stock Units

Of the restricted stock units issued in 2021, 182,938 are market-based awards that vest if the Company’s stock price hits certain price targets and maintains that price for 30 days. A total of 60,191,
60,191, and 62,016 units vest if the stock price hits $98.87, $131.82, and $164.78, respectively. As described in Note 2, these market-based restricted stock units were valued using a Monte Carlo
simulation model, with expected vesting in 1.60, 2.25, and 2.71 years, respectively, for the three price targets. During the year ended December 31, 2022, we granted certain performance based stock
units, options, the expense for which will be recorded over time once the achievement of the performance is deemed probable. There was no expense related to these options recorded during the
period.

The Company had the following option activity during the year ended December 31, 2023 and 2022:

‘Weighted
average
Weighted remaining Aggregate
Number of average contractual intrinsic
Options exercise price life (years) value $
Outstanding at January 1, 2022 783,547 $ 34.17
Granted 862,938 $ 25.43
Exercised (156,910) $ 7.69
Expired or forfeited (182,705) $ 37.13
Outstanding at December 31, 2022 1,306,870 $ 31.14 27 $ 1,537,752
Granted 426,703 $ 12.50
Exercised (24,668) $ 7.34
Expired or forfeited (153,844) $ 30.70
Outstanding, December 31, 2023 1,555,061 $ 26.38 34 $ 1,046,481
Exercisable, December 31, 2023 586,274 $ 33.10 26 $ 239,110
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Non-employee Directors’ CompensationOPTIMIZERx CORPORATION
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

DECEMBER 31, 2023
NOTE 11 — STOCK BASED COMPENSATION (CONTINUED)
The table below reflects information for the total options outstanding at December 31, 2023

Weighted
average Weighted
remaining average
Number of contractual exercise
Range of Exercise Prices Options life (years) price
$4.20 to $10.00 108,044 43 $ 8.02
$10.00 to $20.00 851,751 38 % 14.35
$20.00 to $40.00 247,284 27 % 33.91
$40.00 to $60.00 247,723 26 $ 48.30
$60.00 to $96.70 100,259 27 % 75.54
Total 1,555,061 34 $ 26.38
The table below reflects information for the vested options outstanding at December 31, 2023.
Weighted
average Weighted
remaining average
Number of contractual exercise
Range of Exercise Prices Options life (years) price
$4.20 to $10.00 15,667 1.1 $ 7.54
$10.00 to $20.00 222,707 29 $ 14.34
$20.00 to $40.00 143,670 24 $ 31.79
$40.00 to $60.00 138,776 25 $ 49.36
$60.00 to $96.70 65,454 27 % 75.80
Total 586,274 26 $ 33.58
A summary of the status of the Company’s non-vested options as of December 31, 2023, and changes during the year ended December 31, 2023, is presented below.
Weighted
average
exercise
Nonvested Options Options price
Nonvested at January 1, 2022 1,056,187 $ 30.51
Granted 426,703  $ 12.50
Vested (381,992) $ 31.61
Forfeited (132,111) $ 52.07
Nonvested at December 31, 2023 968,787 $ 22.03

There is $8,956,198 of expense remaining to be recognized over a period of approximately 1.77 years related to options outstanding at December 31, 2023.

Our previous director’s compensation plan called for
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OPTIMIZERx CORPORATION
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31, 2023
NOTE 11 — STOCK BASED COMPENSATION (CONTINUED)
Restricted Stock Units
The Company had the issuance following restricted stock unit (“RSU”) activity during the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022:

Weighted
Weighted average
average remaining
Number of grant date contractual
RSUs fair value life (years)
Outstanding at January 1, 2022 399,738  $ 52.99
Granted 467,043 $ 25.69
Forfeited (39,346) $ 44.06
Shares issued (29,945) $ 59.41
Withheld and cancelled 8416) $ 68.69
Outstanding at December 31, 2022 789,074  $ 36.95 2.0
Granted 383,406 $ 12.30
Forfeited (244,923) $ 58.18
Vested and issued (141,859) $ 31.38
Withheld and cancelled (42,489) $ 3247
Outstanding at December 31, 2023 743,209 $ 18.62 1.7

The Company granted restricted stock units of fully-vested 383,406 and 467,043 units in 2023 and 2022, respectively, and valued at $4,714,564 and $11,996,111, respectively. These restricted stock
units vest over a period of 1 year to 5 years. The Company recognized expense of $7,791,917 and $10,789,203 in 2023 and 2022, respectively, related to these restricted stock units. A total of
$11,106,405 remains to be recognized at December 31, 2023 over a period of 1.95 years.

In the year ended December 31, 2023, certain participants utilized a net withhold settlement method, in which shares of common stock each quarter were surrendered to each independent director. In
2021, we cover payroll withholding tax. Of the shares issued 4,730 to participants during the year ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively, 42,489 and 31,243 shares, valued at $250,085 that
immediately vested. Subsequent $458,892 and $100,290, were surrendered and subsequently cancelled.

During 2022, the Company granted certain performance based restricted stock units, the expense for which will be recorded over time once the achievement of the performance is deemed probable.
There was no expense related to these grants, we adopted a new directors restricted stock units recorded during the period.

Non-employee Directors Compensation

The director’s compensation program that calls for the grant of restricted stock units with a one year vesting period. We The Company granted 3,715 26,470 restricted stock units to its non-employee
directors, valued at $250,175 $750,130 in the second half of 2021 under the new plan. 2022. These restricted stock units vested in 2022, 2023. There were 26,470 50,305 restricted stock units, valued
at $750,130, $750,050 granted to the board of non-employee directors in 2022 2023 that will vest in 2023, 2024, 12 months from the grant dates.

Equity Award Modification

On April 16, 2023, the Compensation Committee approved a grant to the CEO of 86,685 restricted stock units and 161,698 stock options with a grant date fair value of $2.5 million to vest over a
three-year period. Concurrently, the CEO forfeited his October 2021 grant of 182,398 market-based restricted stock units. The forfeiture and accompanying grant are considered an equity
modification according to ASC 718, Compensation-Stock Compensation. The additional compensation value created by the termination and issuance of new equity awarded, as measured using a
Monte Carlo simulation, was approximately $1.9 million in total. Under ASC 718 this results in a non-cash expense in current and future periods to be recognized over a three-year period. These
expense values are reflected and included in the option and restricted stock expense values discussed above.
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OPTIMIZERx CORPORATION
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

DECEMBER 31, 2023
NOTE 12 — LEASES LONG-TERM DEBT
Long-term debt consisted of the following at December 31, 2023 and 2022:
2023 2022

Term loan, due in 2027 $ 38,290,000 $ =
Less: current portion of long-term debt (2,000,000) —
Less: unamortized issuance costs (2,059,263) —
Long-term debt, net $ 34,230,737 $ _

On October 11, 2023, the Company entered into a Financing Agreement (the “Financing”) which provided for a term loan (the “Term Loan”) of $40 million, the net proceeds of which were used to
partially finance the Medicx Health transaction described in Note 3 “Acquisitions”. In connection with the Financing the Company incurred issuance costs of approximately $2.3 million, which were
capitalized and are being amortized to interest expense over the life of the Term Loan. Amortization of debt issuance costs for the year ended December 31, 2023, was $210,737.

The Company’s obligations under the Financing are secured by all of the Company’s and its subsidiaries’ assets (including a pledge of all of the capital stock and equity interests of its subsidiaries).
The Term Loan is repayable in quarterly installments, beginning December 31, 2023, equivalent to 1.25% or $500,000, of the original principal amount, with the outstanding unpaid principal and all
accrued but unpaid interest due and payable on the earlier of (i) the fourth anniversary of the closing date of the Term Loan or (ii) the date on which the Term Loan is declared due and payable
pursuant to the terms of the Financing.

The Company may prepay, subject to an Applicable Premium, 3% if the prepayment is made on a date that is up to and including the first anniversary of closing, 2%, if the prepayment is made up to
and including the second anniversary, 1% if the prepayment is made up to and including the third anniversary and zero thereafter, all or a portion of the Term Loan and, under certain circumstances,
including certain asset disposals and the raising of indebtedness not permitted under the Financing is required to make mandatory prepayments of the principal balance. If the prepayment occurs
within 12 months of the date of the loan, the Company is also required to pay lost interest from the prepayment date to one year from the loan funding date.

In addition, the Company is required to make a mandatory prepayment on March 31, of each year, commencing with 2025, equivalent to Excess Cash Flow multiplied by a percentage factor of 25%,
if the leverage ratio is 3.60 to 1.00 or less, 50% if the leverage ratio is greater than 3.60 to 1 or less than or equal; to 4.10 to 1.00 and 75%, if the leverage ratio is greater than 4.10 to 1.00. Excess
Cash Flow is defined in the Financing as Consolidated EBITDA for the previous fiscal year less scheduled principal and interest payments, capital expenditure, cash taxes and any cash
expenses/gains added back to net income in the calculation of Consolidated EBITDA, adjusted for any increase/decrease in working capital during the fiscal year.
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OPTIMIZERx CORPORATION
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31, 2023

NOTE 12 — LONG-TERM DEBT (CONTINUED)
During the year ended December 31, 2023, the Company made total principal repayments of $1.7 million, including a mandatory prepayment of $1.2 million as a result of an asset sale completed
during the year.
At the Company’s option the Term Loan, or any portion thereof bears interest at either:

a. The greater of (a) 4.00% per annum, (b) the Federal Funds Rate plus 0.50% per annum, (c) the one month Secured Funds Overnight Rate (“SOFR”), plus an adjustment of 26.161 basis

point and 1.00% per annum, and (d) the rate last quoted by The Wall Street Journal as the “Prime Rate”, plus an Applicable Margin of 7.5%; or

b.  Three-month SOFR plus an adjustment of 26.161 basis points and an Applicable Margin of 8.5%

As of December 31, 2023, the Loan bears interest at 14.1% per annum, with the effective interest rate for the year ended December 31, 2023, including the amortization of debt issuance costs and
Applicable Premium and interest penalties of $181,895 associated with the prepayment during the year ended December 31, 2023, was 19.6%.
The Financing requires the Company to maintain the following financial covenants:

a. A maximum leverage ratio, as defined in the Financing as follows:

Leverage

Fiscal Quarter End ratio

March 31, 2024 4.50 to 1.00
June 30, 2024 4.00 to 1.00
September 30, 2024 3.50 to 1.00
December 31, 2024 3.00 to 1.00
March 31, 2025 2.50 to 1.00
June 30, 2025 2.25to 1.00
September 30, 2025, and thereafter 2.00 to 1.00

b. Liquidity, as defined in the Financing, of at least $5.0 million.
The Company was in compliance with its financial covenants as of December 31, 2023, and received a waiver from its lender to extend the date for providing the Company's audited financial
statements from March 31, 2024, to April 15, 2024.
The Financing contains customary events of default, which include, (subject to, in certain circumstances to grace and cure periods), non-payment of principal and interest, non-compliance with
certain covenants, commencement of bankruptcy proceedings and a change in control.
Payments due on the Loan in each of the next four years subsequent to December 31, 2023, are as follows:
For the year ending December 31,

2024 $ 2,000,000
2025 2,000,000
2026 2,000,000
2027 32,290,000

$ 38,290,000
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OPTIMIZERx CORPORATION
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31, 2023
NOTE 13 - LEASES
In February 2016, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued new accounting guidance on leases. The accounting standard, effective January 1, 2019, requires virtually all leases to
be recognized on the balance sheet. Under the guidance, we have elected not to separate lease and non-lease components in recognition of the lease-related assets and liabilities, as well as the related
lease expense.
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OPTIMIZERx CORPORATION
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31, 2022

NOTE 12 — LEASES (CONTINUED)

We had operating leases with terms greater than 12 months for office space in three multitenant four multi-tenant facilities, which are recorded as ROU assets and liabilities. The Operating lease on
our headquarters space in Rochester, Michigan expires November 30, 2023, with a renewal option through 2025, with monthly rent payable at rates ranging from $6,384 to $6,688. We have assumed
renewal of the lease. We also had a lease on office space in Cranbury, New Jersey, which expired in January 2022 with a monthly payment of $3,158, as well as a lease of approximately $1,883 per
month in Zagreb, Croatia expiring in 2024. liabilities.

Lease-related assets, or right-of-use assets, are recognized at the lease commencement date at amounts equal to the respective lease liabilities, adjusted for prepaid lease payments, initial direct costs,
and lease incentives received. Lease-related liabilities are recognized at the present value of the remaining contractual fixed lease payments, discounted using our incremental borrowing rate.
Operating lease expense is recognized on a straight-line basis over the lease term, while variable lease payments are expensed as incurred.

For the years ended December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023 and 2021, 2022, the Company’s lease cost consisted of the following components, each of which is included in operating expenses within
the Company’s consolidated statements of operations:

2022 2021 2023 2022
Operating lease cost $ 100,771  $ 132,305 $ 95,765 $ 100,771
Short-term lease cost (1) 75,784 52,375 38,850 75,784
Total lease cost $ 176,555 $ 184,680 $134,615 $176,555

(1) Short-term lease cost includes any lease with a term of less than 12 months.
The table below presents the future minimum lease payments to be made under operating leases as of December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023:

For the year ending December 31,

2023 $ 98,247

2024 80,215 $260,016
2025 70,224 178,082
2026 113,802
2027 65,866
2028 45,160
Total 248,686 662,926
Less: present value discount 14,252 69,863
Total lease liabilities $ 234,434 $ 593,063

The weighted average remaining lease term for operating leases is 2.7 years 3.17 and the weighted average discount rate used in calculating the operating lease asset and liability is 4.5% 6.7%. Cash
paid for amounts included in the measurement of lease liabilities was $89,111. $78,875. For the year ended December 31, 2023, payments on lease obligations were $91,228 and amortization on the
right of use assets was $94,564. For the year ended December 31, 2022, payments on lease obligations were $101,405 and amortization on the right of use assets was $101,433. For the year ended
December 31, 2021, payments on lease obligations were $142,284 and amortization on the right of use assets was $121,129.
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OPTIMIZERx CORPORATION
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31, 20222023

NOTE 13 14 - MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND VENDORS

The Company had the following customers that accounted for 10% or greater of revenue in either 2022 2023 or 2021. 2022. No other customers accounted for more than 10% of revenue in either year
presented.

2022 2021 2023 2022
$ % $ % $ % $ %
Customer A 6,817,682 10.9 5,206,305 8.5 5,825,151 ? 6,817,682 E
Customer B 3,876,580 6.2 14,268,819 23.0 10,275,210 144 3,876,580 6.2

Our accounts receivable included two agencies, that represented multiple customers, that individually made up more than 10% of our accounts receivable at December 31, 2023 in the percentages of
28.3% and 14.1%. As of December 31, 2022, our accounts receivable included two entities, including one agency that represented multiple customers that individually made up more than 10% of our
accounts receivable at December 31, 2022 in the percentages of 13.3% and 10.8%. As of December 31, 2021, our accounts receivable included two agencies that represented multiple customers that
individually made up more than 10% of our accounts receivable in the percentages of 33.5% and 12.2%.

The Company generates a portion of its revenues through its EHR and ePrescribe partners. There were three key partners and/or vendors through which 10% or greater of its revenue was generated in
either 2022 2023 or 2021 2022 as set forth below. The amounts in the table below reflect the amount of revenue generated through those partners.

2022 2021 2023 2022
$ % $ % $ % $ %
Partner A 19,882,511 31.8 33,041,503 53.9 26,035,135 m 19,882,511 E
Partner B 12,494,227 20.0 2,761,893 4.5 13,955,426 19.5 12,494,227 20.0
Partner C 6,578,661 10.5 9,554,266 15.6 6,498,694 9.1 6,578,661 10.5

NOTE 1415 - INCOME TAXES

As of December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023, the Company had net operating loss (“NOLSs”) carry-forwards for federal income tax purposes of approximately $21.5 million $16.7 million, consisting
of pre-2018 losses in the amount of approximately $8.2 million $3.3 million that expire from 20222033 through 2037, and post-2017 losses in the amount of approximately $13.3 million $13.4
million that will never expire. These net operating losses are available to offset future taxable income. The Company was formed in 2008 as a Nevada Corporation. Activity prior to incorporation is
not reflected in the Company’s corporate tax returns. In the future, the cumulative net operating loss carry-forward for income tax purposes may differ from the cumulative financial statement loss due
to timing differences between book and tax reporting.
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OPTIMIZERx CORPORATION
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31, 20222023
NOTE 1415 - INCOME TAXES (CONTINUED)

The provision for Federal income tax consists of the following for the years ended December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023 and 2021: 2022:

2022 2021 2023 2022
Federal income tax benefit (expense) attributable to:
Current operations $ 2,402,000 $ (79,000) $ 5,284,000 $ 2,402,000
State tax effect, net of federal benefit 545,000 979,000 569,000 545,000
Option exercise benefits (expenses), net of Section 162M limitations (268,000) 2,171,000 (3,100,000) (268,000)
Transaction costs (360,000) —
Other adjustments 221,000 (30,000) 44,922 221,000
NOLs expiring — (26,000)
Valuation allowance (2,900,000) (3,006,000) 5,160,000  (2,900,000)
Net provision for federal income tax — =
Income tax benefit $ 7,597,922 $ —
2022 2021 2023 &
Current tax benefit (expense) - Federal $ — 3 — 3 — $ —
Current tax benefit (expense) - State (97,452) —
Total current (expense) (97,452) T _
Deferred tax benefit (expense) - Federal — — 6,488,661 —
Adjustment of valuation allowance from business combination — —
Total tax benefit (expense) on income $ — 3 —
Deferred tax benefit (expense) - State 1,206,713 —
Total deferred benefit 7,695,374 _
Total tax benefit on loss $ 7,597,922 E
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OPTIMIZERx CORPORATION
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31, 20222023
NOTE 1415 - INCOME TAXES (CONTINUED)

The cumulative tax effect of significant items comprising our net deferred tax amount at the expected rate of 21% is as follows as of December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023 and 2021: 2022:

2022 2021 2023 2022
Deferred tax asset attributable to:
Deferred tax assets attributable to:
Net operating loss carryover $ 5,545,000 $ 6,887,000 $ 4,864,000 $ 5,545,000
Stock compensation 3,953,000 809,000 3,744,000 3,953,000
Operating lease liability 63,000 88,000 115,000 63,000
Section 174 Capitalized Expenses 789,000 —
Fixed Assets 126,000 13,000
Section 174 capitalized expenses 2,533,000 789,000
Fixed assets — 126,000
Other 16,000 85,000 103,000 16,000
Deferred tax asset $ 10, 492,000 $ 7,882,000
Deferred tax assets $ 11,720,000 $ 10,492,000
Deferred tax liabilities attributable to:
Intangibles $ (2,102,000) $ (2,490,000) $(12,393,000) $ (2,102,000)
Operating lease right of use assets (63,000) (88,000)
Operating lease right-of-use assets (110,000) (63,000)
Goodwill (106,000) — — (106,000)
Other (59,000) (42,000) (198,424) (59,000)
Deferred tax liability (2,330,000) (2,620,000)
Net deferred tax asset $ 8,162,000 $ 5,262,000
Deferred tax liabilities (12,701,424)  (2,330,000)
Net deferred tax (liability) asset $ (981,424) $ 8,162,000
Valuation allowance (8,162,000) (5,262,000) (3,356,000) (8,162,000)
Net deferred tax asset, net of valuation allowance $ — S —
Net deferred tax liabilities $ (4,337,424) $ =

The valuation allowance decreased $4,806,000, during the year ended December 31, 2023, as we determined that a portion of the deferred tax assets associated with historical NOL's were realizable.
The ultimate realization of deferred tax assets is dependent upon the Company’s ability to generate sufficient taxable income during the periods in which the net operating losses expire and the
temporary differences become deductible. The Company has determined that there is significant uncertainty that the results of future operations and the reversals of existing taxable temporary
differences will generate sufficient taxable income to realize the deferred tax assets; therefore, a valuation allowance has been recorded. In making this determination, the Company considered
historical levels of income, projections for future periods, and the significant amount of tax deductions to be generated from the future exercise of stock options.

The tax years 2019 2020 to 2022 2023 remain open for potential audit by the Internal Revenue Service. There are no uncertain tax positions as of December 31, 2021 December 31, 2022 or December
31, 2022 December 31, 2023, and none are expected in the next 12 months. The Company’s foreign subsidiaries are cost centers that are primarily reimbursed for expenses, as a result they generate an
immaterial amount of income or loss. Pretax book income (loss) is all from domestic operations. Up to four years of returns remain open for potential audit in foreign jurisdictions, however any audits
for periods prior to ownership by the Company are the responsibility of the previous owners.

Under certain circumstances issuance of common shares can result in an ownership change under Internal Revenue Code Section 382, which limits the Company’s ability to utilize carry-forwards
from prior to the ownership change. Any such ownership change resulting from stock issuances and redemptions could limit the Company’s ability to utilize any net operating loss carry-forwards or
credits generated before this change in ownership. These limitations can limit both the timing of usage of these laws, as well as the loss of the ability to use these net operating losses. The Company
had an ownership change as described in IRC Section 382 on March 18, 2014. The Company NOL’s generated up until March 18, 2014, have been fully released.
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OPTIMIZERx CORPORATION
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31, 20222023

NOTE 1516 - COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
Legal

The From time to time, the Company is not may become involved in legal proceedings or be subject to claims arising in the ordinary course of our business. We are currently not a party to any
material legal proceedings. or administrative proceedings, and we are not aware of any pending or threatened material legal or administrative proceedings against us.

Revenue-share contracts Commitments

The Company has contracts with various electronic health records systems and ePrescribe platforms, whereby we agree to share a portion of the revenue we generate for eCoupons distributed and
banners delivered through their networks. These contracts grant audit rights related to the payments to our partners, and, in some cases would require us to pay for the audit if the audit determined
there was an underpayment and the underpayment meets certain thresholds, such as 10%. From time to time, the Company enters into arrangements with a partner partners to acquire minimum
amounts of media, data or messaging capabilities. As of December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023, the Company had commitments for future minimum payments of $16.4 $24.7 million that will be
reflected in cost of revenues during the years from 2023 2024 through 2025. 2028. Minimum payments are due in 2023, 2024, 2025, 2026, 2027 and 2025, 2028 in the amounts of $6.2 million $10.6
million, $5.2 million $8.3 million, $3.3 million, $2.4 million and $5.0 million $0.1 million, respectively.

NOTE 1617 — RETIREMENT PLAN

The Company sponsors a defined contribution 401(k) profit sharing plan which was adopted in December 2015, effective in January 2016. Under the terms of the plan, the Company matches 100% of
the first 3% of payroll contributed by the employee and 50% of the next 2% of payroll contributed by the employee to a maximum of 4% of an employee’s payroll. There was expense of
$489,780 $726,660 and $343,221 $489,780 recorded in 2022 2023 and 2021, 2022, respectively, for the Company’s contributions to the plan.

NOTE 1718 — SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

None.
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Item 9. Changes In and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure
None None.

Item 9A. Controls and Procedures

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures.

We maintain disclosure controls and procedures designed to provide reasonable assurance that information required to be disclosed in reports filed or submitted under the Exchange Act is recorded,
processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the Securities and Exchange Commission’s rules and forms and accumulated and communicated to our management,
including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, or persons performing similar functions, as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosures.

Our management, with the participation of our Chief Executive Officer and our Chief Financial Officer, conducted an evaluation, as of the end of the period covered by this report, of the effectiveness
of our disclosure controls and procedures, as such term is defined in Exchange Act Rule 13a-15(e). Based on this evaluation, our Chief Executive Officer and our Chief Financial Officer have
concluded that, as of the end of the period covered by this report, due to a material weakness in our internal control over financial reporting, our disclosure controls and procedures, as defined in Rule
13a-15(e), were not effective at the reasonable assurance level.

To address the material weakness referenced above, the Company performed additional analysis and performed other procedures in order to prepare the audited consolidated financial statements in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP). Accordingly, management believes that the consolidated financial statements included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K fairly
present, in all material respects, our financial condition, results of operations and cash flows for the periods presented.

Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting.

The Company’s management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting, as defined in Exchange Act Rule 13a-15(f). Internal control over
financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance
with generally accepted accounting principles in the United States of America. The Company’s internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that:

e  pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the Company;

e provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that
receipts and expenditures of the Company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the Company; and

e  provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the Company’s assets that could have a material effect on the
financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, any system of internal control over financial reporting, no matter how well defined, may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of
effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may
deteriorate. The Company’s management, with the participation of our Chief Executive Officer and our Chief Financial Officer, assessed the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over
financial reporting as of December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023. In making this assessment, management used the criteria set forth by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway
Commission (COSO) in Internal Control — Integrated Framework (2013). Based on this assessment using those criteria, management identified the following material weakness weaknesses existed
as of December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023: inadequate controls to ensure that data received from third-party service organizations is complete and accurate. As a result, based on the COSO criteria,
the Company’s management has concluded that we did not maintain effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023.
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Plan for Remediation of Material Weakness

Management is actively engaged in the planning for, and implementation of, remediation efforts to address the material weakness identified above. Management intends to implement the following
remediation steps:

a.  The Company will require each third-party service organization to provide a SOC-1, Type 2 report to us.

b. If a SOC-1, Type 2 report is not available, the Company will evaluate each third-party’s relevant system(s) and reporting directly through inquiry and substantive testing of such third-
party’s control environment.

c. If we are unable to obtain a valid SOC-1 Type 2 report or perform substantive testing of such third-party's control environment, the Company will implement a channel partner
qualification and program triaging process, which would include modifying customer contracts, limiting the volume of activity with those third-parties and establishing other controls to
ensure the completeness and accuracy of information received from those third-parties, such as performing tagging procedures where possible.

Management believes the measures described above will remediate the material weakness that we have identified. During the quarter ended December 31, 2023, the Company continued to engage
with the third-party service organizations to discuss the reporting requirements. As management continues to evaluate and improve our disclosure controls and procedures and internal control over
financial reporting, the Company may decide to take additional measures to address control deficiencies or determine to modify, or in appropriate circumstances not to complete, certain of the
remediation measures identified.
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Changes in Internal Controls Over Financial Reporting.

There Except as noted above, there was no change in our internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Rule 13a-15(f) under the Exchange Act), that occurred during the quarter ended
December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023, that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.

Item 9B. Other Information

A ded and R d Bylaws Adoption of 10b5-1 Trading Plan

During the year ended December 31, 2023, certain of our officers and directors adopted Rule 10b5-1 trading arrangements as follows:

On June 15, 2023, Mr. William J. Febbo, the Chief Executive Officer of the Company, adopted a written plan for the purchase or sale of our securities that was intended to satisfy the affirmative
defense conditions of Rule 10b5-1(c) (the “Febbo Rule 10b5-1 Trading Plan). The Febbo 10b5-1 Trading Plan, which has a term of one year, provides for the sale of up to 300,000 shares of common
stock pursuant to the terms therein.

On June 15, 2023, Ms. Marion Odence-Ford, the General Counsel & Chief Compliance Officer of the Company, adopted a written plan for the purchase or sale of our securities that is intended to
satisfy the affirmative defense conditions of Rule 10b5-1(c) (the “Odence-Ford Rule 10b5-1 Trading Plan). The Odence-Ford 10b5-1 Trading Plan, which has a term of one year, provides for the sale
of up to 7,000 shares of common stock pursuant to the terms therein.
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William Febbo’s Employment Agreement

On April 12, 2024, the Company entered into an amended and restated employment letter agreement with William J. Febbo (the “Febbo Employment Agreement”) which updates and supersedes in its
entirety his prior employment agreement, as amended (the “Febbo Prior Employment Agreement”) to, among other things, eliminate the single trigger cash severance which was payable to Mr. Febbo
in connection with a change in control, remove the Company’s 280G tax gross-up payment obligation afforded to Mr. Febbo under the Febbo Prior Employment Agreement, and provide for an equity
grant to Mr. Febbo of 90,000 restricted stock units which vest over three years. In connection with new universal proxy card rules adopted by the US Securities Febbo Employment Agreement, the
Compensation Committee amended the OptimizeRx Corporation Executive Severance Plan to make Mr. Febbo a participant of such plan (as described below). As a result, all of Mr. Febbo’s prior
rights to severance and Exchange Commission (“SEC”), change in control benefits under the Board of Directors (the “Board”) of Febbo Prior Employment Agreement were removed from the
Company approved third Febbo Employment Agreement. Mr. Febbo’s amended and restated bylaws of the Company (the “Amended and Restated Bylaws”), effective as of March 7, 2023. Among
other things, severance and/or change in control benefits are now set forth in full in the Amended and Restated Bylaws require that any shareholder soliciting proxies in support Severance Plan (as
defined below).

The foregoing summary of a nominee other than the Board’s nominees must comply with Rule 14a-19 under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, including applicable notice and
solicitation requirements. Further, any shareholder directly or indirectly soliciting proxies from other shareholders must use a proxy card color other than white, with the white proxy card being
reserved for the exclusive use by the Board. This description of the Amended and Restated Bylaws does Mr. Febbo’s Employment Agreement is not purport to be complete and is qualified in its
entirety by reference to the complete text of the Amended and Restated Bylaws, Febbo Employment Agreement, a copy of which is attached hereto filed as Exhibit 3.2 10.26 to this Form 10-K and is
incorporated herein by reference.

Stephen Silvestro’s Employment Agreement

On April 12, 2024, the Company entered into an amended and restated employment letter agreement with Stephen Silvestro (the “Silvestro Employment Agreement”) which updates and supersedes in
its entirety his prior employment agreement, as amended (the “Silvestro Prior Employment Agreement”) to, among other things, remove the Company’s 280G tax gross-up payment obligation
afforded to Mr. Silvestro under the Silvestro Prior Employment Agreement.

The foregoing summary of Mr. Silvestro’s Employment Agreement is not complete and is qualified in its entirety by reference to the complete text of the Silvestro Employment Agreement, a copy of
which is filed as Exhibit 10.27 to this Form 10-K and is incorporated herein by reference.

Amended Executive Severance Plan

On March 8, 2023 April 12, 2024, the Compensation Committee adopted amended the OptimizeRx Corporation Executive Severance Plan (the “Severance “Amended Severance Plan”) to provide
severance benefits to certain eligible employees of the Company. Each of the Company’s named executive officers, other than include Mr. Febbo identified in the Company’s proxy statement filed in
connection with its 2022 annual meeting of shareholders (collectively, the “Named Executive Officers”) has been designated as a participant in the Amended Severance Plan. Plan, to remove former
and add new executive management team members, and to increase the Severance Benefits (as defined below) payable to Mr. Silvestro.

The Amended Severance Plan provides that if a Named Executive Officer Mr. Febbo or Mr. Silvestro is terminated without cause or resigns for Good Reason, he/she he will be paid (i) an amount
equal to 1.0 1.5 times his/her his base salary, paid in installments over 12 18 months, (ii) an amount equal to his/her his target annual bonus in effect at the time of termination, paid in a lump sum, and
(iii) payment by the Company of COBRA premiums for the Named Executive Officer such executive and his/her his spouse and eligible dependents for up to 12 months following termination (the
payments in (i), (i) and (iii) collectively referred to as “Severance Benefits”). In addition,

The Amended Severance Plan also provides Change in Control termination and death benefits to executive management team members. Mr. Silvestro’s benefits under such provisions were not
changed in connection with the Amended Severance Plan. The Amended Severance Plan provides that if a Named Executive Officer Mr. Febbo is terminated without cause or resigns for Good
Reason three months prior to or 24 months following a Change in Control, in addition to the Severance Benefits, such Named Executive Officer Mr. Febbo will be paid a lump sum payment equal to
2.05.0 times his/her his then current base salary. The Severance Plan also provides that if a Named Executive Officer Mr. Febbo is terminated due to death or Disability, such Named Executive
Officer disability, he (or his/her his estate) will be paid an amount equal to his/her his target annual bonus in effect at the time of termination, paid in a lump sum. Terms not otherwise defined herein
have the meanings assigned to them in the Amended Severance Plan.

Unless otherwise stated in a participant’s individual employment agreement, if any payments or benefits under the Severance Plan would be considered “parachute payments” under Section 280G of
the Code, and would be subject to the excise tax imposed by Section 4999 of the Code, then such payments will either be (i) reduced so than no portion of the payments is subject to the excise tax or
(ii) delivered in full, whichever of the foregoing results in the participant receiving a greater amount on a net after-tax basis, taking into account all federal, state and local taxes and the excise tax
imposed by Section 4999 of the Code.

The foregoing description of the Amended Severance Plan is not complete and is qualified in its entirety by reference to the complete text of the Amended Severance Plan, a copy of which is filed as
Exhibit 10.18 to this Form 10-K and is incorporated herein by reference.

Amendment to Will Febbo’s Employment Agreement

On March 8, 2023, the Company entered into a Fourth Addendum (the “Fourth Addendum”) to the employment offer letter dated February 25, 2019, as amended, with William J. Febbo (the
“Employment Agreement”) which updates and amends the Employment Agreement to, among other things, provide that if three months prior to, or 24 months following, a Change in Control, Mr.
Febbo is terminated without Cause or resigns for Good Reason, in addition to other amounts payable to Mr. Febbo pursuant to the Employment Agreement, Mr. Febbo will be paid a lump sum
payment equal to 4.0 times his then current base salary. Terms not otherwise defined herein have the meanings assigned to them in the Fourth Addendum.

The above summary of Mr. Febbo’s Fourth Addendum is not complete and is qualified in its entirety by reference to the complete text of the Fourth Addendum, a copy of which is filed as Exhibit
10.1910.28 to this Form 10-K and is incorporated herein by reference.

Item 9C. Disclosure Regarding Foreign Jurisdictions that Prevent Inspections.

None
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PART III
Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance
Except for the information provided in PART I, Item 4.1, “Information About Our Executive Officers” and as set forth below, the required information is incorporated by reference from our definitive
proxy statement for our 2023 2024 Annual Meeting of Shareholders, including, but not necessarily limited to, the sections entitled “Proposal No. 1 Election of Directors, “Committees of the Board of
Directors” and “Information Regarding Security Holders — Delinquent Section 16(a) Reports.”
We have a Code of Business Conduct and Ethics (the “Code”) that applies to our directors, officers, and employees. Only the Board may grant a waiver of any provision for a director, executive
officer, or any other principal financial officer, and any such waiver, or any amendment to the Code, will be promptly disclosed as required at www.optimizerx.com. The Code can be found on the
Company’s website at www.optimizerx.com under “Investor Relations— Relations - Governance.” The information on the website is not and should not be considered part of this Form 10-K and is not
incorporated by reference in this Form 10-K.

Item 11. Executive Compensation

The required information is incorporated by reference from our definitive proxy statement for our 20232024 Annual Meeting of Shareholders, including, but not necessarily limited to, the sections
entitled “Director Compensation” and “Executive Compensation”.

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters.

Except for the information set forth below, the required information is incorporated by reference from our definitive proxy statement for our 2023 2024 Annual Meeting of Shareholders, including,
but not necessarily limited to, the section entitled “Information Regarding Security Holders.”
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Equity Compensation Plan Information

The following table details information regarding our existing equity compensation plans as of December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023:

Number of
Number of securities
Number of Weighted- secu1j1t_les Num.bfzr . Weighted- remaiming
o remaining securities to available for
securities to be average 5 average
. : available for be . future
issued upon exercise £ . . exercise .
q q uture issuance  issued upon 3 issuance
Plan Categor exercise of price of under equit; exercise of price of under equit;
sory outstanding outstanding q A y A outstanding q A y
. . compensation  outstanding X compensation
options, options, . X options,
plans (excluding options, plans
warrants warrants o warrants X
and rights and rights securities warrants and rights (excluding
8 8 reflected in and rights 8 securities
column (a)) reflected in
column (a))
(@ (b) © (©) (b) ©
Equity compensation plans approved by security holders
2013 Equity Compensation Plan — Options 410,701 33.57 0 345,435 33.43 0
2013 Equity Compensation Plan — Restricted Stock Units 128,590 N/A 0 111,628 N/A 0
2021 Equity Incentive Plan — Options 896,169 30.03 0 1,209,626 23.80 276,844
2021 Equity Incentive Plan — Restricted Stock Units 660,484 N/A 921,946 631,581 N/A 0
Equity compensation plans not approved by security holders 0 N/A 0 0 N/A 0
Total 2,095,944 921,946 2,298,270 276,844

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence

The required information is incorporated by reference from our definitive proxy statement for our 20232024 Annual Meeting of Shareholders, including, but not necessarily limited to, the sections
entitled “Certain Relationships and Related Transactions” and “Corporate Governance - Director Independence.”

Item 14. Principal Accounting Fees and Services
The required information is incorporated by reference from our definitive proxy statement for our 20232024 Annual Meeting of Shareholders, including, but not necessarily limited to, the sections

entitled “Ratification of UHY LLP as Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm — Independent Registered Public Accountant Fee Information” and “Ratification of UHY LLP as Independent
Registered Public Accounting Firm — Pre-Approval Policies and Procedures.”
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PART IV
Item 15. Exhibits and Financial Statements Schedules

(a) The consolidated financial statements and exhibits listed below are filed as part of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
(a) The consolidated financial statements and exhibits listed below are filed as part of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

(1) The Company’s consolidated financial statements, the notes thereto and the report of the Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm are included in PART II, Item 8. “Financial
Statements and Supplementary Data.”

(2) Financial statement schedules have been omitted because they are not applicable, not required, or the required information is included in the Consolidated Financial Statements or Notes
thereto.

(3) Exhibits. Reference is made to Item 15(b) below.

(b) Exhibits. The Exhibit Index, which immediately precedes the signature page, is incorporated by reference into this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
(b) Exhibits. The Exhibit Index, which immediately precedes the signature page, is incorporated by reference into this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

(c) Financial Statement Schedules. Reference is made to Item 15(a)(2) above.
(c) Financial Statement Schedules. Reference is made to Item 15(a)(2) above.

Item 16. Form 10-K Summary

None
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EXHIBIT INDEX

Exhibit

Number Description

3.1 Articles of Incorporation of OptimizeRx Corporation (the “Company”) Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-1
(Registration No. 333-155280)_filed on November 12, 2008.

B2

3.2 Certificate of Correction, dated April 30, 2018. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.5 to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2018.

3.3

BB Third Amended and Restated Bylaws of the Company. Incorporated by, reference to Exhibit 3.3 to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31,
2022.

4.1

41 Description of the Registrant’s Securities Registered Pursuant to Section 12 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the Company’s
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2021.

10.17

10.1F Fourth Amended and Restated 2013 Equity Incentive Plan. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on March 12, 2020.

10.21

10.21 OptimizeRx 2021 Equity Incentive Plan. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on August 25, 2021.

10.3T

10.31 Form of Stock Option Award for grants under the OptimizeRx Corporation 2021 Equity Incentive Plan. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s Current
Report on Form 8-K filed on August 25, 2021.

10.41

10.41 Form of Performance Stock Option Award for grants under the OptimizeRx Corporation 2021 Equity Incentive Plan. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the Company’s
Current Report on Form 8-K filed on August 25, 2021.

10.5F

10.5F Form of Restricted Stock Unit Award for grants under the OptimizeRx Corporation 2021 Equity Incentive Plan. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to the Company’s
Current Report on Form 8-K filed on August 25, 2021.
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http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1448431/000121390019003962/f10k2018ex3-5_optimizerx.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1448431/000121390023019233/f10k2022ex3-3_optimizerx.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1448431/000121390022009736/f10k2021ex4-1_optimizerx.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1448431/000121390020006161/ea119535ex10-1_optimize.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1448431/000121390021044810/ea146392ex10-1_optimizerx.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1448431/000121390021044810/ea146392ex10-2_optimizerx.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1448431/000121390021044810/ea146392ex10-3_optimizerx.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1448431/000121390021044810/ea146392ex10-4_optimizerx.htm

10.61

10.61 Form of Performance Restricted Stock Unit Award for grants under the OptimizeRx Corporation 2021. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5 to the Company’s Current Report
on Form 8-K filed on August 25, 2021

10.71

10.71 Amended Employment Agreement by and between the Company and William J. Febbo. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K
filed on February 26, 2019.

10.81

10.81 Amendment to the Employment Agreement with William Febbo. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended
December 31, 2019.

10.91

109t Addendum to the Employment Agreement with William J. Febbo. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter
ended June 30, 2021.

10.10*

10.10*f Third Addendum to the Employment Agreement with William J. Febbo,. Febbo. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on
October 19, 2021.

10.11F

10.11F Employment Agreement by and between the Company and Stephen Silvestro. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on
May 3, 2019.

10.12F

10.12F Amendment to the Employment Agreement with Stephen Silvestro. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5 to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended
December 31, 2019.

10.13F

10.13F Amendment to Employment Agreement by and between the Company and Stephen Silvestro dated February 28, 2022. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s
Current Report on Form 8-K filed on March 4, 2022.

10.141

10.14+ Employment Agreement with Marion Odence-Ford. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on February 11, 2021.

10.15F

10.15F Amendment to Employment Agreement by and between the Company _and Marion Odence-Ford dated February 28, 2022. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the
Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on March 4, 2022.

10.16%F

10.16*f Offer Letter by and between the Company and Edward Stelmakh. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on September 30,
2021.

10.17F

10.17F OptimizeRx Corporation 2022 Cash Bonus Plan. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on March 4, 2022.

10.187

10.18** OptimizeRx Corporation Executive Severance Plan. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.18 to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K filed on March 10, 2023.

10.19F Fourth Addendum to the Employment Agreement with William J. Febbo. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.19 to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K filed on
March 10, 2023.

10.20 Agreement and Plan of Merger dated as of October 11, 2023 by and among OptimizeRx Corporation, Healthy Offers, Inc., the securityholders of Healthy Offers, Inc. who are
party_to the Agreement, and Michael Weintraub, not in his individual capacity, but solely in his capacity as the representative, agent and attorney-in-fact of the Securityholders.
Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on October 16, 2023.

10.21 Support Agreement, dated as of October 11, 2023 by and among_the stockholders party thereto, OptimizeRx Corporation and Healthy Offers, Inc. Incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on October 16, 2023.

10.22 Financing_Agreement, dated as of October 11, 2023, by and among_OptimizeRx Corporation,_the lenders from time to time party thereto, and Blue Torch Finance, LLC, as
collateral agent and administrative agent. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on October 16, 2023.

10.23 Letter Agreement, dated as of October 11, 2023, OptimizeRx Corporation and Blue Torch Finance, LLC. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to the Company’s Current
Report on Form 8-K filed on October 16, 2023.

10.24 Common Stock Purchase Agreement dated October 24, 2023 by and among_the Company and the Management Investors. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the
Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on October 25, 2023.

10.25 Amendment No. 1 to Financing Agreement, dated March 29, 2024. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on April 2,
2024.

10.26%F** Amended and Restated Employment Agreement by and between the Company and William J. Febbo dated April 12, 2024.
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http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1448431/000121390019003159/f8k022519ex10-1_optimizerx.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1448431/000121390020007491/f10k2019ex10-4_optimizerx.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1448431/000121390021040306/f10q0621ex10-1_optimizerx.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1448431/000121390021053525/ea149083ex10-1_optimizerx.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1448431/000121390019007803/f8k042919ex10-1_optimizerx.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1448431/000121390020007491/f10k2019ex10-5_optimizerx.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1448431/000121390022010768/ea156483ex10-2_optimizerx.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1448431/000121390021008493/ea135275ex10-1_optimizerx.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1448431/000121390022010768/ea156483ex10-3_optimizerx.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1448431/000121390021050817/ea148140ex10-1_optimizerx.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1448431/000121390022010768/ea156483ex10-1_optimizerx.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1448431/000121390023019233/f10k2022ex10-18_optimizerx.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1448431/000121390023019233/f10k2022ex10-19_optimizerx.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1448431/000101376223004127/ea186749ex10-1_optimizerx.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1448431/000101376223004127/ea186749ex10-2_optimizerx.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1448431/000101376223004127/ea186749ex10-3_optimizerx.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1448431/000101376223004127/ea186749ex10-4_optimizerx.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1448431/000101376223006625/ea187250ex10-1_optimizerx.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1448431/000121390024029318/ea020314101ex10-1_optimize.htm
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Amended OptimizeRx Corporation Executive Severance Plan dated April 12, 2024.
Code of Business Conduct and Ethics Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 14.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on June 25, 2021.

List of Subsidiaries

Consent of UHY LLP

Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Securities Exchange Act Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a), as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Securities Exchange Act Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a),_as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

Certification of Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of
2002

OptimizeRx Corporation Clawback Policy,
Inline XBRL Instance Document

Inline XBRL Schema Document

Inline XBRL Calculation Linkbase Document
Inline XBRL Definition Linkbase Document
Inline XBRL Label Linkbase Document
Inline Presentation Linkbase Document

Cover Page Interactive Data File (formatted as Inline XBRL and contained in Exhibit 101)

T Management Contracts and Compensatory Plans, Contracts or Arrangements.

*  Exhibits have been omitted pursuant to Item 601(a)(5) of Regulation S-K. The Company agrees to furnish supplementally a copy of any omitted exhibit to the SEC upon request.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

OptimizeRx Corporation

By: /s/ William J. Febbo

William Febbo
Title: Chief Executive Officer
Date: March 10, 2023

By:Date: /s/ Edward StelmakhApril 15, 2024

Edward Stelmakh
By: /s/ Edward Stelmakh

Edward Stelmakh
Title: Chief Financial Officer
Chief Operations Officer
Date: March 10, 2023
Date: April 15, 2024

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities and on the dates

indicated.

Signature

Title

Date

/s/ William J. Febbo

William J. Febbo

/s/ Edward Stelmakh

Edward Stelmakh

/s/ Lynn O’Connor Vos

Edward Stelmakh Lynn O’Connor Vos

/s/ Gus D. Halas

Gus D. Halas
/s/ Patrick Spangler

Patrick Spangler

/s/ James Lang

James Lang
/s/ Patrick Spangler

Patrick Spangler
/s/ Lynn Vos

Lynn Vos

/s/ Greg Wasson

Greg Wasson
/s/ Catherine Klema

Catherine Klema

Chief Executive Officer and Director
(principal executive officer)
(principal executive officer)

Chief Financial Officer and Chief Operations Officer
(principal financial and accounting officer)

March 10, 2023 Chairperson

Chairman Director

Director

Director

Director

Director

Director

Director
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March 10, 2023 April 15, 2024

April 15, 2024

April 15, 2024

March 10, 2023 April 15, 2024

April 15, 2024

March 10, 2023 April 15, 2024

March 10, 2023

March 10, 2023

March 10, 2023 April 15, 2024

April 15, 2024

ARTICLE I

Section 1.1 Principal Office. The principal office William J. Febbo

142 Calle Violeta
San Juan, Puerto Rico 00927

THIRD AMENDED AND RESTATED BYLAWS

OF

OPTIMIZERX CORPORATION
(A NEVADA CORPORATION}

OFFICES March 6, 2024
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Dear Will,
On behalf of OptimizeRx Corporation (the “Corporation” “Company”), we are excited to make this amended and restated employment offer to you for the full-time, exempt position of Chief
Executive Officer and member of the Company Board of Directors (this “Amended and Restatement Employment Agreement”), effective upon execution of this Amended and Restatement
Employment Agreement (the “Effective Date”). For purposes of determining employment tenure, February 22, 2016 shall be recognized as your start date of employment.
Base Salary. You will be entitled to receive an annual base salary of $450,000.00 at the rate of $18,750.00 per semi-monthly pay period, representing payment for all hours worked, with such place
within or outside increases (but no decreases, unless mutually agreed) as may be determined by the Compensation Committee of the State Company’s Board of Nevada as the board of directors of the
Corporation Directors (the “Board” “Compensation Committee”) shall from time to time designate.
Section 1.2 Other Offices. The Corporation may also have other offices at such other places within or outside of the State of Nevada as the Board may from time to time designate or the business of
the Corporation shall require. The street address of the Corporation’s registered agent is the registered office of the Corporation in Nevada.
ARTICLE I

STOCKHOLDERS
Section 2.1 Annual Meeting. The annual meeting of the stockholders of the Corporation shall be held on such date and at such time as designated by the Board. The purpose of this meeting shall be
for the election of directors and for the transaction of such other business as may properly come before the meeting.
Section 2.2 Special Meetings.
(a) Special meetings of the stockholders may be called only by the Chairperson or the chief executive officer, if any, and shall be called by the secretary upon the written request of (i) at least a
majority of the Board, or (ii) stockholders who together own of record not less than 50.1% of the capital stock of the Corporation issued and outstanding and entitled to vote at such meeting. Such
written request of stockholders shall state the purpose or purposes of the proposed special meeting, contain all of the information required to be disclosed pursuant to Section 2.13(c)(1) of these Third
Amended and Restated Bylaws (as amended or amended and restated increased from time to time, the “Bylaws” “Base Salary”) and comply . Your Base Salary is payable in accordance with the other
requirements set forth in these Bylaws. Company’s regular payroll practices and subject to customary and required withholdings and deductions.

(b) No business shallAnnual Bonus. In addition to the Base Salary, you will be acted upon at a special meeting of stockholders except eligible to receive annual cash bonuses under the Company’s
2022 Cash Bonus Plan and/or any other cash incentive plan maintained by the Company (such plan, the “Bonus Plan”), as set forth in determined by the notice of the meeting.

Section 2.3Place of Meetings. Any meeting of the stockholders may be held at any location within or outside of the State of Nevada as may be designated in the notice of meeting. The Board
may, Compensation Committee in its sole discretion determine that within the parameters, and subject to the terms and conditions, of the Bonus Plan, with a meeting target bonus of stockholders shall
not 100% of your Base Salary. Any bonus payments paid to you is entirely at the discretion of the Compensation Committee and will be held at any place, but may instead be held solely by means of
electronic communications, videoconferencing, teleconferencing or other available technology in accordance with Section 2.15.subject to the Company’s and your personal performance
achievements and to customary tax deductions.

Section 2.4 Notice Equity. The Compensation Committee has authorized the Company to grant you sixty thousand (60,000) restricted stock units (“RSUs”). Subject to the Board of
Meetings Directors’ approval, the grant date will be April 15, 2024. Except as otherwise provided by law The RSUs shall vest in equal one-third increments over a three (3) year period,
commencing on the first anniversary of the grant date.

Following the Effective Date, you may receive additional grants of equity awards under the Company’s 2021 Equity Incentive Plan and/or any other equity-related incentive plan maintained by the
Corporation’s articles Company (such plan, the “Equity Plan”), as determined by the Compensation Committee in its sole discretion within the parameters, and subject to the terms and conditions, of
incorporation (as amended or amended and restated from time to time, the “Articles Equity Plan. The treatment of Incorporation™), a written notice any equity awards held by you under the Equity
Plan in connection with the termination of each annual and special meeting of stockholders your employment shall be given not less than ten (10) days nor more than sixty (60) days before determined
under the date of Equity Plan and/or award agreement relating to such meeting award.

REFINITIV CORPORATE DISCLOSURES | www.refinitiv.com | Contact Us 106/142
©2024 Refinitiv. All rights reserved. Republication or redistribution of Refinitiv content, including by framing or similar means, is prohibited without the prior written R E F I N I T I V I ‘

consent of Refinitiv. 'Refinitiv' and the Refinitiv logo are registered trademarks of Refinitiv and its affiliated companies.


https://www.refinitiv.com/
https://www.refinitiv.com/en/contact-us

Consistent with the foregoing, any equity granted to each stockholder of record you, whether restricted stock units (“RSUs”) or options to purchase the Company’s common stock (“Options™) will be
granted to you pursuant to the terms of the Corporation entitled to vote at such meeting. The notice of a meeting of stockholders shall state the place (if any), date and hour of the meeting, the means
of any electronic communication by which stockholders may participate in the meeting and, in the case of a special meeting, the purpose or purposes for which the meeting is called. Notice to each
stockholder entitled to vote at the meeting shall be given personally, by mail, or by electronic transmission if consented to by a stockholder in accordance with Nevada law, by or at the direction of the
secretary or the officer or person calling the meeting. The notice shall be delivered in accordance with, and shall contain or be accompanied by such additional information Equity Plan, as may be
required by the Nevada Revised Statutes (as amended from time to time, attached hereto as Exhibit A, and the “NRS”) applicable award agreements in substantially similar forms to those attached
hereto as Exhibit B, including, without limitation, NRS 78.370, 92A.120 or 92A.410.
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Section 2.5 Waiver of Notice. Notice of any annual or special meeting may and the Options for the awards shall be waived either before, at or after such meeting by a signed writing by the person or
persons entitled an exercise price equal to the notice or by any other method permitted by Nevada law. Attendance of a person at a meeting shall constitute a waiver of notice of such meeting, except
when the person attends a meeting for the express purpose of objecting at the beginning fair market value of the meeting to the transacting of any business because the meeting is not lawfully called or
convened.

Section 2.6 Determination of Stockholders of Record.

(a) For the purpose of determining the stockholders entitled to notice of and to vote at any meeting of stockholders or any adjournment or postponement thereof, the Board may fix, in advance, a
record date, which shall not be more than sixty (60) days nor less than ten (10) days before the date of such meeting. If no record date is fixed, the record date for determining stockholders entitled to
notice of and to vote at a meeting of stockholders shall be the close of business on the day before the day the first notice of the meeting is given or, if notice is waived, the close of business on the day
before the day the meeting is held.

(b) A determination of stockholders of record entitled to notice of or to vote at any meeting of stockholders shall apply to any adjournment or postponement of the meeting; provided, however, that
the Board may fix a new record date for the adjourned or postponed meeting and must fix a new record date if the meeting is adjourned or postponed to a date more than sixty (60) days later than the
meeting date set for the original meeting.

Section 2.7 Quorum; Adjourned Meetings.

(a) Except as otherwise provided by law or by the Articles of Incorporation, the holders of shares representing at least a majority of the voting power of the Corporation’s capital underlying common
stock present in person or by proxy (regardless of whether the proxy has authority to vote on any matter), shall constitute a quorum for the transaction of business at any annual or special meeting. If
any class or series of shares is permitted or required to vote separately on any action, the holders of at least a majority of the voting power, present in person or by proxy (regardless of whether the
proxy has authority to vote on any matter), of such class or series is necessary to constitute a quorum of such class or series. If a quorum is present, the stockholders may continue to transact business
until adjournment notwithstanding the withdrawal of enough stockholders to leave less than a quorum.

(b) If a quorum is not represented, a majority of the voting power represented in person or by proxy at the meeting may adjourn the meeting from time to time until a quorum shall be represented.
Notice of any adjourned meeting need not be given if the time and place thereof are announced at the meeting at which the adjournment is taken. However, if a new record date is fixed for the
adjourned meeting, notice of the adjourned meeting must be given to each stockholder of record as of the new record date. At adjourned meetings at which a quorum is present, any business may be
transacted which might have been transacted at the meeting as originally noticed.

Section 2.8 Proxies. Fach stockholder entitled to vote at a meeting of stockholders may authorize a proxy to represent him or her at the meeting by an instrument executed in writing. Each such proxy
shall be valid until its expiration or revocation in a manner permitted by the laws of the State of Nevada. A proxy may be irrevocable if it states that it is irrevocable and, if, and only as long as, it is
coupled with an interest sufficient to support an irrevocable power. Subject to the above, any proxy may be revoked if an instrument or transmission revoking it or a properly created proxy bearing a
later date is filed with or transmitted to the secretary or another person appointed by the Corporation to count the votes of stockholders and determine the validity of proxies and ballots, or, in the case
of a meeting of stockholders, the stockholder revokes the proxy by attending the meeting and voting the stockholder’s shares in person, in which case, any vote cast by the person or persons
designated by the stockholder to act as a proxy or proxies must be disregarded by the Corporation when the votes are counted.

Section 2.9 Voting.

(a) Each outstanding share of stock, regardless of class or series, shall be entitled to one (1) vote on each matter submitted to a vote at a meeting of stockholders, except to the extent that the Articles
of Incorporation or the certificate of designation establishing the class or series of stock provides for more or less than one (1) vote per share or limits or denies voting rights to the holders of the
shares of any class or series of stock.

(b) If a quorum is present, unless the Articles of Incorporation, these Bylaws, the rules or regulations of any stock exchange applicable to the Corporation, or applicable law provide for a different
proportion, action by the stockholders entitled to vote on a matter, other than the election of directors, is approved by and is the act of the stockholders if the number of votes cast in favor of the action
exceeds the number of votes cast in opposition to the action.

(c) If a quorum is present, unless otherwise provided by the Articles of Incorporation or these Bylaws, directors shall be elected by a plurality of the votes cast.

Section 2.10 No Action Without a Meeting. No action of the stockholders shall be taken by either unanimous consent or partial written consent in lieu of a meeting. No action shall be taken by the
stockholders except at an annual or special meeting of the stockholders called and noticed in the manner required by these Bylaws. Any purported action taken in violation of this Section shall be null,
void and of no legal effect.

Section 2.11 Organization.

(a) Meetings of stockholders shall be presided over by the Chairperson, or, in the absence of the Chairperson, the chief executive officer, if any, or, in the absence of the chief executive officer, by the
president, or, in the absence of the foregoing persons, by a chairman designated by the Board, or, in the absence of such designation by the Board, by a chairman chosen at the meeting by the
stockholders entitled to cast a majority of the votes which all stockholders present in person or by proxy are entitled to cast. The secretary, or in the absence of the secretary an assistant secretary, shall
act as secretary of the meeting, but in the absence of the secretary and any assistant secretary the chairman of the meeting may appoint any person to act as secretary of the meeting. The order of
business at each such meeting shall be as determined by the chairman closing trading price of the meeting. The chairman of the meeting shall have the right and authority to prescribe such rules,
regulations and procedures and to do all such acts and things as are necessary or desirable for the proper conduct of the meeting, including, without limitation, the establishment of procedures for the
maintenance of order and safety, limitation Company’s common stock on the time allotted to questions or comments Nasdaq Stock Exchange on the affairs of the Corporation, restrictions on entry to
such meeting after the time prescribed for the commencement thereof and the opening and closing of the voting polls. grant date.

(b) The chairman of the meeting may appoint one or more inspectors of elections. The inspector or inspectors may (i) ascertain the number of shares outstanding and the voting power of each;
(ii) determine the number of shares represented at a meeting and the validity of proxies or ballots; (iii) count all votes and ballots; (iv) determine any challenges made to any determination made by
the inspector(s); and (v) certify the determination of the number of shares represented at the meeting and the count of all votes and ballots.

Section 2.12 Order of Business.

(a) Annual Meetings of Stockholders Additional Compensation. At any annual meeting of the stockholders, only such nominations of individuals for election to the Board You shall be made, and only
such other business shall be conducted or considered, as shall have been properly brought before the meeting in accordance with these Bylaws.

For nominations to be properly made at an annual meeting, and proposals of other business to be properly brought before an annual meeting, nominations and proposals of other business must be: (i)
specified in the Corporation’s notice of meeting (or any supplement thereto) given by or at the direction of the Board, (ii) otherwise properly made at the annual meeting, by or at the direction of the
Board or (iii) otherwise properly requested to be brought before the annual meeting by a stockholder of the Corporation in accordance with these Bylaws. For nominations of individuals for election
to the Board or proposals of other business to be properly requested by a stockholder to be made at an annual meeting, a stockholder must (i) be a stockholder of record at the time of giving of notice
of such annual meeting by or at the direction of the Board and at the time of the annual meeting, (ii) be entitled to vote at such annual meeting and (iii) comply with the procedures set forth in these
Bylaws as to such business or nomination. The immediately preceding sentence shall be the exclusive means for a stockholder to make nominations or other business proposals (other than matters
properly brought under Rule 14a-8 under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”) and included in the Corporation’s notice of meeting) before an annual meeting of
stockholders.

(b) Special Meetings of Stockholders. At any special meeting of the stockholders, only such business shall be conducted or considered as shall have been properly brought before the meeting pursuant
to the Corporation’s notice of meeting. To be properly brought before a special meeting, proposals of business must be (i) specified in the Corporation’s notice of meeting (or any supplement thereto)
given by or at the direction of the Board, (ii) otherwise properly brought before the special meeting, by or at the direction of the Board or (iii) specified in the Corporation’s notice of meeting (or any
supplement thereto) given by the Corporation pursuant to a valid stockholder request in accordance with Section 2.2 of these Bylaws, it being understood that business transacted at such a special
meeting shall be limited to the matters stated in such valid stockholder request; provided, however, that nothing herein shall prohibit the Board from submitting additional matters to stockholders at
any such special meeting. In order for any business to be brought before a special meeting pursuant to a stockholder request pursuant to Section 2.2 of these Bylaws, such business must be a proper
matter for stockholder action under applicable law.

Nominations of individuals for election to the Board may be made at a special meeting of stockholders at which directors are to be elected pursuant to the Corporation’s notice of meeting (i) by or at
the direction of the Board or (ii) provided that the Board has determined that directors shall be elected at such meeting, by any stockholder of the Corporation who (A) is a stockholder of record at the
time of giving of notice of such special meeting and at the time of the special meeting, (B) is entitled to vote at the meeting, and (C) complies with the procedures set forth in these Bylaws as to such
nomination. This Section 2.12(b) shall be the exclusive means for a stockholder to make nominations or other business proposals (other than matters properly brought under Rule 14a-8 under the
Exchange Act and included in the Corporation’s notice of meeting) before a special meeting of stockholders.

(c) General. Except as otherwise provided by law, the Articles of Incorporation or these Bylaws, the chairman of any annual or special meeting shall have the power to determine whether a
nomination or any other business proposed to be brought before the meeting was made or proposed, as the case may be, in accordance with these Bylaws and, if any proposed nomination or other
business is not in compliance with these Bylaws, to declare that no action shall be taken on such nomination or other proposal and such nomination or other proposal shall be disregarded.
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Section 2.13. Advance Notice of Stockholder Business and Nominations.

(a) Annual Meeting of Stockholders. Without qualification or limitation, subject to Section 2.13(c)(4) of these Bylaws, for any nominations or any other business to be properly brought before an
annual meeting by a stockholder pursuant to Section 2.12(a) of these Bylaws, the stockholder must have given timely notice thereof (including, in the case of nominations, the completed and signed
questionnaire, representation and agreement required by Section 2.14 of these Bylaws), and timely updates and supplements thereof, in each case in proper form, in writing to the secretary (and to the
extent that Rule 14a-19 under the Exchange Act applies, has complied with Rule 14a-19 under the Exchange Act), and such other business must otherwise be a proper matter for stockholder action
under applicable law.

To be timely, a stockholder’s notice shall be delivered to the secretary at the principal executive offices of the Corporation not earlier than the close of business on the 120th day and not later than the
close of business on the 90th day prior to the first anniversary of the preceding year’s annual meeting; provided, however, that in the event that the date of the annual meeting is more than thirty (30)
days before or more than sixty (60) days after such anniversary date, notice by the stockholder must be so delivered not earlier than the close of business on the 120th day prior to the date of such
annual meeting and not later than the close of business on the later of the 90th day prior to the date of such annual meeting or, if the first public announcement of the date of such annual meeting is
less than one hundred (100) days prior to the date of such annual meeting, the 10th day following the day on which public announcement of the date of such meeting is first made by the Corporation.
In no event shall any adjournment or postponement of an annual meeting, or the public announcement thereof, commence a new time period for the giving of a stockholder’s notice as described
above.

Notwithstanding anything in the immediately preceding paragraph to the contrary, in the event that the number of directors to be elected to the Board is increased by the Board, and there is no public
announcement by the Corporation naming all of the nominees for director or specifying the size of the increased Board at least one hundred (100) days prior to the first anniversary of the preceding
year’s annual meeting, a stockholder’s notice required by this Section 2.13(a) shall also be considered timely, but only with respect to nominees for any new positions created by such increase, if it
shall be delivered to the secretary at the principal executive offices of the Corporation not later than the close of business on the 10th day following the day on which such public announcement is first
made by the Corporation.

In addition, to be considered timely, a stockholder’s notice shall further be updated and supplemented, if necessary, so that the information provided or required to be provided in such notice shall be
true and correct as of the record date for the meeting and as of the date that is ten (10) business days prior to the meeting or any adjournment or postponement thereof, and such update and supplement
shall be delivered to the secretary at the principal executive offices of the Corporation not later than five (5) business days after the record date for the meeting in the case of the update and
supplement required to be made as of the record date, and not later than eight (8) business days prior to the date for the meeting or any adjournment or postponement thereof in the case of the update
and supplement required to be made as of ten (10) business days prior to the meeting or any adjournment or postponement thereof. For the avoidance of doubt, the obligation to update and
supplement as set forth in this paragraph or any other Section of these Bylaws shall not limit the Corporation’s rights with respect to any deficiencies in any notice provided by a stockholder, extend
any applicable deadlines hereunder or under any other provision of the Bylaws or enable or be deemed to permit a stockholder who has previously submitted notice hereunder or under any other
provision of the Bylaws to amend or update any proposal or to submit any new proposal, including by changing or adding nominees, matters, business and or resolutions proposed to be brought
before a meeting of the stockholders.

(b) Special Meetings of Stockholders. Only such business shall be conducted at a special meeting of stockholders as shall have been brought before the meeting pursuant to the Corporation’s notice of
meeting, subject to the provisions of Section 2.12(b) of these Bylaws.

nominate an individual or individuals (as the case may be) for election to such position(s) as specified in the Corporation’s notice of meeting, provided that the stockholder gives timely notice thereof
(including the completed and signed questionnaire, representation and agreement required by Section 2.14 of these Bylaws), and timely updates and supplements thereof in each case in proper form,
in writing, to the secretary. To be timely, a stockholder’s notice pursuant to the preceding sentence shall be delivered to the secretary at the principal executive offices of the Corporation not earlier
than the close of business on the 120th day prior to the date of such special meeting and not later than the close of business on the later of the 90th day prior to the date of such special meeting or, if
the first public announcement of the date of such special meeting is less than one hundred (100) days prior to the date of such special meeting, the 10th day following the day on which public
announcement is first made of the date of the special meeting and of the nominees proposed by the Board to be elected at such meeting. In no event shall any adjournment or postponement of a
special meeting of stockholders, or the public announcement thereof, commence a new time period for the giving of a stockholder’s notice as described above. In addition, to be considered timely, a
stockholder’s notice pursuant to the first sentence of this paragraph shall further be updated and supplemented, if necessary, so that the information provided or required to be provided in such notice
shall be true and correct as of the record date for the meeting and as of the date that is ten (10) business days prior to the meeting or any adjournment or postponement thereof, and such update and
supplement shall be delivered to the secretary at the principal executive offices of the Corporation not later than five (5) business days after the record date for the meeting in the case of the update
and supplement required to be made as of the record date, and not later than eight (8) business days prior to the date for the meeting, any adjournment or postponement thereof in the case of the
update and supplement required to be made as of ten (10) business days prior to the meeting or any adjournment or postponement thereof.

(c) Disclosure Requirements.

(1) To be in proper form, a stockholder’s notice (whether given pursuant to Section 2.2, Section 2.12, this Section 2.13 or Section 2.14) to the secretary must include the following, as applicable:

(a) As to the stockholder giving the notice and the beneficial owner, if any, on whose behalf the nomination or proposal, as applicable, is made, a stockholder’s notice must set forth: (i) the name and
address of such stockholder, as they appear on the Corporation’s books, and of such beneficial owner, (ii) the class or series and number of shares of stock which are owned beneficially and of record
by such stockholder and such beneficial owner, and any shares of any class or series of stock of the Corporation as to which such stockholder and such beneficial owner has a right to acquire
beneficial ownership at any time in the future, (iii) a description of any agreement, arrangement or understanding with respect to the nomination or proposal between or among such stockholder
and/or such beneficial owner, any of their respective affiliates or associates, and any others acting in concert with any of the foregoing, including, in the case of a nomination, the nominee, (iv) a
description of any agreement, arrangement or understanding (including any derivative or short positions, profit interests, options, warrants, convertible securities, stock appreciation or similar rights,
hedging transactions, and borrowed or loaned shares) that has been entered into by, or on behalf of, such stockholder or such beneficial owner and any of their affiliates or associates, whether or not
such instrument or right shall be subject to settlement in underlying shares of stock, the effect or intent of which is to mitigate loss to, manage risk or benefit of share price changes for, or increase or
decrease the voting power of, such stockholder or such beneficial owner or any of their affiliates or associates, with respect to securities of the Corporation, (v) a representation that the stockholder is
a holder of record of stock entitled to vote at such meeting and intends to appear in person or by proxy at the meeting to propose such business or nomination, (vi) a representation as to whether the
stockholder or the beneficial owner, if any, intends or is part of a group which intends to deliver a proxy statement and form of proxy to holders representing, in the case of a nomination, at least sixty-
seven percent (67%) of the Corporation’s voting shares entitled to vote on the election of directors in support of such nominee or nominees, or, in the case of business other than nominations,to
holders of at least the percentage of outstanding stock required to approve or adopt the proposal, (vii) any material pending or threatened legal proceeding in which such stockholder or such beneficial
owner is a party or material participant involving the Corporation or any of its officers or directors, or any affiliate of the Corporation, (viii) any other material relationship between such stockholder
or such beneficial owner, on the one hand, and the Corporation or any affiliate of the Corporation, on the other hand, (ix) any other information relating to such stockholder and beneficial owner, if
any, required to be disclosed in a proxy statement or other filings required to be made in connection with solicitations of proxies for, as applicable, the proposal and/or for the election of directors in
an election contest pursuant to and in accordance with Section 14 of the Exchange Act and the rules and regulations promulgated thereunder, and (x) a representation as to whether or not such
stockholder or beneficial owner, if any, intends to solicit proxies in support of director nominees other than the Corporation’s nominees in accordance with Rule 14a-19 promulgated under the
Exchange Act.

(b) If the notice relates to any business other than a nomination of a director or directors that the stockholder proposes to bring before the meeting, a stockholder’s notice must, in addition to the
matters set forth in paragraph (a) above, also set forth: (i) a brief description of the business desired to be brought before the meeting, the reasons for conducting such business at the meeting and any
material interest of such stockholder, the beneficial owner, if any, on whose behalf the proposal is made, or any of their affiliates or associates, (ii) the text of the proposal or business (including the
text of any resolutions proposed for consideration and, in the event that such proposal or business includes a proposal to amend the Bylaws of the Corporation, the text of the proposed amendment),
and (iii) any other information relating to such item of business that would be required to be disclosed in a proxy statement or other filing required to be made in connection with the solicitation of
proxies in support of the business proposed to be brought before the meeting pursuant to Section 14 of the Exchange Act.

(c) As to each individual, if any, whom the stockholder proposes to nominate for election or reelection to the Board, a stockholder’s notice must, in addition to the matters set forth in paragraph (a)
above, also set forth: (i) all information relating to such individual that would be required to be disclosed in a proxy statement or other filings required to be made in connection with solicitations of
proxies for election of directors in a contested election pursuant to Section 14 of the Exchange Act and the rules and regulations promulgated thereunder (including such individual’s written consent
to being named in any proxy statement and other proxy materials as a nominee and to serving as a director if elected) and (ii) such other information regarding such person as may reasonably be
requested by the Board in writing prior to the meeting of stockholders at which such candidate’s nomination is to be acted upon in order for the Board to determine the eligibility of such candidate for
nomination to be an independent director of the Corporation.

(d) With respect to each individual, if any, whom the stockholder proposes to nominate for election or reelection to the Board, a stockholder’s notice must, in addition to the matters set forth in
paragraphs (a) and (c) above, also include a completed and signed questionnaire, representation and agreement required by Section 2.14 of these Bylaws.

REFINITIV CORPORATE DISCLOSURES | www.refinitiv.com | Contact Us 109/142
©2024 Refinitiv. All rights reserved. Republication or redistribution of Refinitiv content, including by framing or similar means, is prohibited without the prior written R E F I N I T I V I

consent of Refinitiv. 'Refinitiv' and the Refinitiv logo are registered trademarks of Refinitiv and its affiliated companies.


https://www.refinitiv.com/
https://www.refinitiv.com/en/contact-us

(2) For purposes of these Bylaws, “public announcement” shall mean disclosure in a press release reported by a national news service or in a document publicly filed by the Corporation with the
Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to Section 13, 14 or 15(d) of the Exchange Act and the rules and regulations promulgated thereunder.

(3) Notwithstanding the provisions of these Bylaws, a stockholder shall also comply with all applicable requirements of the Exchange Act and the rules and regulations thereunder with respect to the
matters set forth in this Bylaw; provided, however, that any references in these Bylaws to the Exchange Act or the rules promulgated thereunder are not intended to and shall not limit the separate and
additional requirements set forth in these Bylaws with respect to nominations or proposals as to any other business to be considered.

(4) Nothing in this Section 2.13 shall be deemed to affect any rights (i) of stockholders to request inclusion of proposals in the Corporation’s proxy statement pursuant to Rule 14a-8 under the
Exchange Act, or (ii) of the holders of any series of preferred stock if and to the extent provided for under law, the Articles of Incorporation or these Bylaws. Subject to Rules 14a-8 and 14a-19 under
the Exchange Act, nothing in this Section 2.13 shall be construed to permit any stockholder, or give any stockholder the right, to include or have disseminated or described in the Corporation’s proxy
materials any nomination of director or directors or any other business proposal. The Corporation shall not be required to include in its proxy materials any successor, substitute or replacement
nominee for director at a stockholder meeting if a stockholder’s notice is not timely pursuant to this Section 2-13 with respect to such successor, substitute or replacement nominee for director.

(5) Notwithstanding the foregoing provisions of this Section 2.13, a stockholder shall also comply with all applicable requirements of state and federal law, including, without limitation, the Exchange
Act and the rules and regulations thereunder with respect to the matters set forth in this Section 2.13 (including, without limitation, Rule 14a-19 under the Exchange Act). Unless otherwise required
by law, if any stockholder (i) provides notice pursuant to Rule 14a-19(a)(1) promulgated under the Exchange Act and (ii) subsequently fails to comply with any of the requirements of Rule 14a-19(a)
(2) and 14a-19(a)(3) promulgated under the Exchange Act, then the Corporation shall disregard any proxies or votes solicited for such proposed nominees and such nomination shall be disregarded.
Upon request by the Corporation, if any stockholder provides notice pursuant to Rule 14a-19(a)(1) promulgated under the Exchange Act, such stockholder shall deliver to the Corporation, no later
than five (5) business days prior to the applicable meeting of stockholders, reasonable evidence that it has met the requirements of Rule 14a-19(a)(3) promulgated under the Exchange Act. Any
stockholder directly or indirectly soliciting proxies from other stockholders must use a proxy card color other than white, which shall be reserved for exclusive use by the Corporation.
Section 2.14 Submission of Questionnaire, Representation and Agreement. To be eligible to be a nominee for election or reelection as a director of the Corporation, a person nominated by a
stockholder for election or reelection to the Board must deliver (in accordance with the time periods prescribed for delivery of notice under Section 2.13 of these Bylaws) to the secretary at the
principal executive offices of the Corporation a written questionnaire with respect to the background, qualifications, stock ownership and independence of such proposed nominee (which
questionnaire shall be provided by the secretary upon written request), and a written representation and agreement (in the form provided by the secretary upon written request) that such individual (a)
is not and will not become a party to (i) any agreement, arrangement or understanding with, and has not given any commitment or assurance to, any person or entity as to how such person, if elected
as a director of the Corporation, will act or vote on any issue or question (a “Voting Commitment”) that has not been disclosed to the Corporation, or (ii) any Voting Commitment that could limit or
interfere with such individual’s ability to comply, if elected as a director of the Corporation, with such individual’s fiduciary duties under applicable law, (b) is not and will not become a party to any
agreement, arrangement or understanding with any person or entity other than the Corporation with respect to any direct or indirect compensation, reimbursement or indemnification in connection
with service or action as a director that has not been disclosed therein, and (c) if elected as a director of the Corporation, will comply, with all applicable corporate governance, conflict of interest,
confidentiality and stock ownership and trading policies and guidelines of the Corporation applicable to directors and in effect during such person’s term in office as a director.
Section 2.15 Remote Communications. Stockholders may participate in a meeting of stockholders by means of any electronic communications, videoconferencing, teleconferencing or other
available technology permitted under the NRS. If any such means are utilized, the Corporation shall, to the extent required under the NRS, implement reasonable measures to (a) verify the identity of
each person participating through such means as a stockholder, and (b) provide the stockholders a reasonable opportunity to participate in the meeting and to vote on matters submitted to the
stockholders, including an opportunity to communicate, and to read or hear the proceedings of the meeting in a substantially concurrent manner with such proceedings. For the purposes of
establishing a quorum and taking any action at the meeting, participation in a meeting pursuant to this Section 2.15 constitutes presence in person at the meeting. A meeting of stockholders may be
held solely by remote communication pursuant to this Section 2.15.
ARTICLE III

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Section 3.1 General Powers. The business of the Corporation shall be managed by the Board.
Section 3.2 Number; Tenure. Unless otherwise provided in the Articles of Incorporation, the number of directors shall be no less than three (3) directors and no more than seven (7) directors, with
the number of directors within the foregoing fixed minimum and maximum established and changed from time to time as provided by resolutions adopted by the Board. No reduction of the number of
directors shall have the effect of removing any director prior to the expiration of his or her term of office. Each director shall hold office until the annual meeting of stockholders next held after his or
her election and until his or her successor is elected and qualified or until his or her earlier death, resignation or removal. No provision of this Section 3.2 shall restrict the right of the Board (or, to the
extent, if any, permitted under the Articles of Incorporation, stockholders) to fill vacancies or upon the right of the stockholders to remove directors, each as provided in these Bylaws.

Section 3.3 Chairperson. The Board shall appoint one of its members to serve as the Chairperson to serve at the pleasure of the Board. The Chairperson shall, if present, preside at meetings of
stockholders of the Corporation and at meetings of the Board. The Chairperson shall have receive such other duties and responsibilities compensation as may from time to time be assigned awarded to
him you by the Compensation Committee, in its sole discretion.

Severance Pay. If you undergo a Covered Termination as defined by the Company’s 2023 Executive Severance Plan (the “Severance Plan”), as amended, and attached hereto as Exhibit C, you shall
receive severance benefits within the parameters, and subject to the terms and conditions, of the Severance Plan, including your continued compliance with the terms and conditions of this
Agreement, your Business Protection Agreement, and execution of the Company Separation Agreement, waiver and release.

Employee Benefits. In addition to your compensation, you will continue to have the opportunity to participate in various Company benefit programs offered to employees, pursuant to the terms and
conditions of such programs, including a 401(k) plan, group medical, dental and vision insurance as well as life, AD&D insurance, short and long-term disability benefits. Our 401k plan includes a
company match of up to 4%, based on individual contribution. You will also be eligible to participate in our flexible Paid Time Off (PTO) policy. Please note that the Company reserves the right to
change or her discontinue any of our benefits, plans, providers, and policies, at any time.

Job Responsibilities. As CEO, your responsibilities will be as outlined by the Board of Directors and relayed to you from time to time. You shall devote substantially all of your business time
(excluding periods of vacation and other approved leaves of absence) to the performance of yourduties with the Company, provided the foregoing shall not prevent you from participating in
charitable, civic, educational, professional, community or prescribed by these Bylaws. The Chairperson may, but need not be, an employee industry affairs or, with prior written approval of the
Corporation.

Section 3.4 Vacancies. Subject to any rights of the holders of preferred stock, if any, vacancies on the Board including vacancies resulting from newly created directorships, may be filled only by the
affirmative vote of a majority of the remaining directors, even if less than a quorum, or by a sole remaining director. A director elected to fill a vacancy shall hold office for a term expiring at the next
annual meeting of stockholders and until such director’s successor shall have been duly elected and qualified.

Section 3.5 Removal and Resignation of Directors. Subject to any rights of the holders of preferred stock, if any, and except as otherwise provided in the NRS, any director, or the entire Board, may
be removed from office by a vote of stockholders representing not less than two-thirds of the voting power of the issued and outstanding stock entitled to vote at an annual or special meeting of the
stockholders duly noticed and called in accordance with the Bylaws. Any director may resign effective upon giving written notice to Company’s Corporate Governance Guidelines, serving on the
Board, unless board of directors or advisory boards of other companies. If at any time service on any board of directors or advisory board would, in the notice specifies a later time for effectiveness.
Section 3.6 Regular Meetings. A regular meeting good faith judgment of the Board, conflict with your fiduciary duty to the Company or create any appearance thereof, you shall, be held annually,
immediately after, and atas soon as reasonably practicable considering any fiduciary duty to the same place as, the annual meeting of stockholders, or other entity, resign from such other date, time
and place as the Board may determine. The Board may, by resolution, provide the date, time and place, if any, for the holding board of additional regular meetings.

Section 3.7 Special Meetings. Special meetings of the Board may be called by the Chairperson, the chief executive officer, if any, the president, directors or by any two of the directors and shall be
held on such date and at such time and place as may be designated in the notice of such meeting.

Section 3.8Notice of Meetings.

(a) No notice need be given of any annual or regular meeting of the Board.

(b) For each special meeting of the Board, there shall be delivered to each director at the address appearing for him or her on the records of the Corporation, at least twenty-four (24) hours before the
time of such meeting, a copy of a advisory board after written notice of the conflict is received from the Board. Service on the boards of directors or advisory boards disclosed by you to the Company
on which you are serving as of the Effective Date are hereby approved.

Expense Reimbursement. We will reimburse you for all approved business expenditures including travel costs incurred by you pursuant to the terms of the Company travel policy.

At-Will Employment. Please note that you are not being offered employment for a definite period of time, and that either you or the Company may terminate your employment at any time for any
reason, with or without cause or notice, except as prohibited by law. Nothing in this Amended and Restatement Employment Agreement should be interpreted as creating anything other than an at-
will employment relationship.
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Business Protection Agreement. The Company considers the protection of its confidential information, proprietary materials and goodwill to be extremely important. The Business Protection
Agreement you executed on March 5, 2024, and as attached hereto as Exhibit D shall remain in full force and effect.

Certifications. As a condition of your employment, you certify and reaffirm to the Company that you are free to enter into and fully perform the duties of your position, and that you are not subject to
any employment, confidentiality, non-competition or other agreement that would restrict your performance for the Company. If you are subject to any such meeting (i) agreement, please forward it to
the Company as soon as possible.

Additionally, as a condition of your employment, you certify and reaffirm that you will not disclose to or use for the benefit of the Company any trade secret or confidential or proprietary information
of any previous employer. You further certify and reaffirm that you have not divulged or used any such information for the benefit of the Company, and that you have not and will not misappropriate
any such information from any former employer.

Entire Agreement. This Amended and Restatement Employment Agreement and your signed Business Protection Agreement, states the terms of your employment and supersedes and cancels any
prior oral or written representations, offers or promises made by delivery of such notice personally, (ii) by mailing such notice postage prepaid, (iii) by facsimile, (iv) by overnight courier, the
Company and any understandings or (v) by electronic transmission agreements, whether written or electronic writing, oral, between the Company and you, including but not limited to email. If
mailed the employment offer made to an address inside you on February 12, 2016, as amended on March 10, 2020, September 24, 2020, October 15, 2021, and March 8, 2023 (the “Original Febbo
Employment Agreement”). Upon execution of this Amended and Restatement Employment Agreement, the United States, Original Febbo Employment Agreement shall terminate in its entirety and
the notice terms set forth therein shall be deemed delivered five (5) business days following the null and void.

If you have any questions, please do not hesitate to call me to discuss. Please sign and date the same is deposited in the United States mail, postage prepaid. If mailed to an address outside the United
States, the notice shall be deemed delivered seven (7) business days following the date the same is deposited in the United States mail, postage prepaid. If sent via overnight courier, the notice shall be
deemed delivered the business day following the delivery below and return one copy of such notice this letter to the courier. If sent via facsimile, the notice shall be deemed delivered upon sender’s
receipt of confirmation of the successful transmission. If sent by electronic transmission (including, without limitation, e-mail), the notice shall be deemed delivered when directed to the e-mail
address of the director appearing on the records of the Corporation, and otherwise pursuant to the applicable provisions of NRS Chapter 75. If the address of any director is incomplete or does not
appear upon the records of the Corporation it will be sufficient to address any notice to such director at the registered office of the Corporation. Any director may waive notice of any meeting, and the
attendance of a director at a meeting and oral consent entered on the minutes of such meeting shall constitute waiver of notice of the meeting unless such director objects, prior to the transaction of
any business, that the meeting was not lawfully called, noticed or convened. Attendance for the express purpose of objecting to the transaction of business thereat because the meeting was not
properly called or convened shall not constitute presence or a waiver of notice for purposes hereof.

(a) A majority of the directors then in office shall constitute a quorum for the transaction of business at any meeting of the Board.

(b) Unless otherwise provided by law, the Articles of Incorporation or these Bylaws, the vote of a majority of the directors present at a meeting at which a quorum is present shall be the act of the
Board.

(c) At any meeting of the Board where a quorum is not present, a majority of those present may adjourn, from time to time, until a quorum is present, and no notice of such adjournment shall be
required. At any adjourned meeting where a quorum is present, any business may be transacted which could have been transacted at the meeting originally called.

Section 3.10 Action Without a Meeting. Any action required or permitted to be taken at a meeting of the Board or any committee thereof may be taken without a meeting if, before or after the
action, all directors or committee members consent thereto in writing, except that such consent need not be signed by any director who is not required to sign pursuant to NRS 78.315(2). The written
consent may be signed manually or electronically (or by any other means then permitted under the NRS), and may be so signed in counterparts, including, without limitation, facsimile or email
counterparts, and the written consent shall be filed with the minutes of proceedings of the Board or committee.

Section 3.11 Telephonic and Electronic Communications. Members of the Board or of any committee designated by the Board may participate in a meeting of the Board or such committee through
electronic communications, videoconferencing, teleconferencing or other available technology permitted under the NRS. If any such means are utilized, the Corporation shall, to the extent required
under the NRS, implement reasonable measures to (a) verify the identity of each person participating through such means as a director or member of the committee, as the case may be; and (b)
provide the directors or members a reasonable opportunity to participate in the meeting and to vote on matters submitted to the directors or members, as the case may be, including an opportunity to
communicate and to read or hear the proceedings of the meeting in a substantially concurrent manner with such proceedings. For the purposes of establishing a quorum and taking any action at the
meeting, such directors or members of the committee, as the case may be, participating pursuant to this Section 3.11 shall be deemed present in person at the meeting.

Section 3.12Commiittees of Directors. The Board may designate and appoint one or more committees as the Board considers appropriate, which shall consist of one or more directors of the
Corporation. Persons who are not directors of the Corporation are not eligible to serve on committees of the Board. The Board may designate one or more directors as alternate members of any
committee, who may replace any absent or disqualified member at any meeting of the committee. Each committee, to the extent provided in the resolution of the Board creating same, shall have and
may exercise such of the powers and authority of the Board in the management of the business and affairs of the Corporation as the Board may direct and delegate, except, however, those matters
which are required by statute to be reserved unto or acted upon by the entire Board. Each committee shall keep written minutes of its proceedings and shall report such proceedings to the Board as
appropriate. The Board shall have the power at any time to fill vacancies in, to change the membership of, or to dissolve, any such committee.

Section 3.13Compensation. The Board, without regard to personal interest, may establish the compensation of directors for services in any capacity. If the Board establishes the compensation of
directors pursuant to this Section 3.13, such compensation is presumed to be fair to the Corporation unless proven unfair by a preponderance of the evidence. The directors may be paid their expenses,
if any, of attendance at each meeting of the Board and may be paid a fixed sum for attendance at each meeting of the Board or a stated salary or other compensation as a director. No such payment
shall preclude any director from serving the Corporation in any other capacity and receiving compensation therefor. Any director of the Corporation may decline any or all such compensation payable
to such director in his or her discretion.

Section 3.14 Presumption of Assent. A director of the Corporation who is present at a meeting of the Board at which action on any corporate matter is taken shall be presumed to have assented to
the action unless his dissent shall be entered in the minutes of the meeting or unless he shall file his written dissent to such action with the person acting as secretary of the meeting before the
adjournment thereof or shall forward any dissent by certified or registered mail to the secretary of the Corporation immediately after the adjournment of the meeting. Such right to dissent shall not
apply to a director who voted in favor of such action.

ARTICLE IV
OFFICERS

Section 4.1 Elected Officers. The Board shall elect and appoint a president, a secretary and a treasurer. The Board may from time to time, by resolution, elect or appoint such other officers and agents
as it may deem advisable, who shall hold office at the pleasure of the Board, and shall have such powers and duties and be paid such compensation as may be directed by the Board. Any individual
may hold two or more offices.
Section 4.2 Removal; Resignation. Any officer elected or appointed by the Board may be removed by the Board with or without cause. Any officer may resign at any time upon written notice to the
Corporation. Any such removal or resignation shall be subject to the rights, if any, of the respective parties under any contract between the Corporation and such officer or agent.
Section 4.3 Vacancies. A newly created officer position and a vacancy in any elected officer position because of death, resignation, or removal may be filled by the Board.
Section 4.4 Chief Executive Officer. The Board may appoint a chief executive officer who, subject to the supervision and control of the Board, shall have the ultimate responsibility for the
management and control of the business and affairs of the Corporation, and shall perform such other duties and have such other powers which are delegated to him or her by the Board, these Bylaws
or as may be provided by law.
Section 4.5 President. The president, subject to the supervision and control of the Board, shall in general actively supervise and control the business and affairs of the Corporation. The president shall
keep the Board fully informed as the Board may request and shall consult the Board concerning the business of the Corporation. The president shall perform such other duties and have such other
powers which are delegated and assigned to him or her by the Board, the chief executive officer, if any, these Bylaws or as may be provided by law.
Section 4.6 Chief Financial Officer. The Board may appoint a chief financial officer. The chief financial officer shall in general have overall supervision of the financial operations of the
Corporation. The chief financial officer shall perform such other duties and have such other powers which are delegated and assigned to him or her by the Board, the chief executive officer, if any. the
president, these Bylaws or as may be provided by law.
Section 4.7 Vice Presidents. The Board may appoint one or more vice presidents. In the absence or disability of the president, or at the president’s request, the vice president or vice presidents, in
order of their rank as fixed by the Board, and if not ranked, the vice presidents in the order designated by the Board, or in the absence of such designation, in the order designated by the president,
shall perform all of the duties of the president, and when so acting, shall have all the powers of, and be subject to all the restrictions on the president. Each vice president shall perform such other
duties and have such other powers which are delegated and assigned to him or her by the Board, the chief executive officer, if any, the president, these Bylaws or as may be provided by law.
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Section 4.8 Secretary. The secretary shall keep or cause to be kept, in one or more books provided for that purpose, the minutes of all meetings of the Board, the committees of the Board and the
stockholders. The secretary shall see that all notices are duly given in accordance with the provisions of these Bylaws and as required by applicable law. The secretary shall see that the books, reports,
statements, certificates and other documents and records required by applicable law to be kept and filed are properly kept and filed. The secretary shall perform all other duties commonly incident to
his or her office and shall perform such other duties which are assigned to him or her by the Board, the chief executive officer, if any, the president, these Bylaws or as may be provided by law.
Section 4.9 Assistant Secretaries. An assistant secretary, if appointed by the Board, shall, at the request of the secretary, or in the absence or disability of the secretary, perform all the duties of the
secretary. He or she shall perform such other duties as are assigned to him or her by the Board, the chief executive officer, if any, the president, the secretary, these Bylaws or as may be provided by
law.
Section 4.10 Treasurer. The Treasurer shall exercise general supervision over the receipt, custody and disbursement of corporate funds. The Treasurer shall perform all other duties commonly
incident to his or her office and such other duties as may, from time to time, be assigned to him or her by the Board, the chief executive officer, if any, the president, these Bylaws or as may be
provided by law.
Section 14.11 Assistant Treasurers. An assistant treasurer, if appointed by the Board, shall, at the request of the Treasurer, or in the absence or disability of the Treasurer, perform all the duties of the
Treasurer. He or she shall perform such other duties which are assigned to him or her by the Board, the chief executive officer (if any), the president, the treasurer, these Bylaws or as may be provided
by law.
Section 4.12 Execution of Negotiable Instruments, Deeds and Contracts. All checks, drafts, notes, bonds, bills of exchange, and orders for the payment of money of the Corporation; all deeds,
mortgages, proxies, powers of attorney and other written contracts, documents, instruments and agreements to which the Corporation shall be a party; and all assignments or endorsements of stock
certificates, registered bonds or other securities owned by the Corporation shall be signed in the name of the Corporation by such officers or other persons as the Board may from time to time
designate. Such authority may be general or confined to specific instances as the Board may determine. The Board may authorize the use of the facsimile signatures of any such persons.
ARTICLE V

SHARES AND TRANSFERS
Section 5.1 Issuance of Stock. The Board is authorized to cause to be issued stock of the Corporation up to the full amount authorized by the Articles of Incorporation in such amounts and for such
consideration as may be determined by the Board.
Section 5.2 Stock Certificates and Uncertificated Shares.
(a) The shares of stock of the Corporation shall be represented by a certificate, provided that the Board may authorize the issuance of uncertificated shares of some or all of any or all classes or series
of the stock of the Corporation. Any such issuance of uncertificated shares shall have no effect on existing certificates for shares until such certificates are surrendered to the Corporation, or on the
respective rights and obligations of the stockholders.
(b) Each certificate representing shares shall be numbered in the order in which they shall be issued and shall be signed in the name of the Corporation by the chief executive officer, if any, the
president or a vice president, and by the secretary or an assistant secretary, of the Corporation (or any other two officers or agents so authorized by the Board). Each certificate representing shares
shall state the following: (i) the name of the Corporation and that it is organized under the laws of Nevada; (ii) the name of the person to whom the certificate is issued; (iii) the number and class of
shares and the designation of the series, if any, which such certificate represents; the par value of each share, if any, represented by such certificate or a statement that the shares are without par value,
and (iv) any restrictions on the transfer of the shares. Certificates of stock shall be in such form consistent with law as shall be prescribed by the Board. No certificate shall be issued until the shares
represented thereby are fully paid. In addition to the foregoing, all certificates evidencing shares of the Corporation’s stock or other securities issued by the Corporation shall contain such legend or
legends as may from time to time be required by federal, state or local laws or regulations then in effect.

(c) Within a reasonable time after the issuance or transfer of uncertificated shares, the Corporation shall send to the registered owner of the shares a written notice containing the information required
to be set forth or stated on certificates pursuant to the NRS and, at least annually thereafter, the Corporation shall provide to such stockholders of record holding uncertificated shares, a written
statement confirming the information contained in such written statement previously sent. Except as otherwise expressly provided by law, the rights and obligations of the stockholders shall be
identical whether or not their shares of stock are represented by certificates.
Section 5.3 Transfer of Stock. Transfer of stock on the books of the Corporation may be authorized only by the record holder of such stock, the holder’s legal representative or the holder’s attorney
lawfully constituted in writing and, in the case of stock represented by a certificate or certificates, upon surrender of the certificate or the certificates for such stock, and, in the case of uncertificated
stock, upon receipt of proper transfer instructions and compliance with appropriate procedures for transferring stock in uncertificated form (in each case, with such proof of the authenticity of
signature as the Corporation or its transfer agent may reasonably require). Every certificate surrendered to the Corporation for exchange or transfer shall be cancelled, and no new certificate or
certificates shall be issued in exchange for any existing certificate until such certificate shall have been so cancelled, except in cases provided for in Section 5.4. The Corporation may treat as the
absolute owner of stock of the Corporation the person or persons in whose name stock is registered on the books of the Corporation. Subject to the Articles of Incorporation, the Board may from time
to time establish rules and regulations governing the issuance, transfer and registration of shares of stock of the Corporation.
Section 5.4 Loss of Certificates. Any stockholder claiming a certificate for stock to be lost, stolen, mutilated or destroyed shall make an affidavit of that fact in such form as the Board may require
and shall, if the Board so requires, give the Corporation a bond of indemnity in form, in an amount, and with one or more sureties satisfactory to the Board, to indemnify the Corporation against any
claims which may be made against it on account of the alleged loss, theft or destruction of the certificate or issuance of such new certificate. The Corporation may then issue (a) a new certificate or
certificates of stock or (b) uncertificated shares, for the same number of shares represented by the certificate claimed to have been lost, stolen, mutilated or destroyed.
Section 5.5 Facsimile Signatures. Whenever any certificate is countersigned by a transfer agent or by a registrar other than the Corporation or its employee, then the signatures of the officers or
agents of the Corporation may be a facsimile. In case any officer who has signed or whose facsimile signature has been placed on any such certificate shall cease to be such officer before such
certificate has been delivered by the Corporation, such certificate may be issued and delivered by the Corporation as though the person who signed such certificate or whose facsimile signature or
signatures had been placed thereon were such officer at the date of issue.
ARTICLE VI

INDEMNIFICATION
Section 6.1 Indemnification and Insurance.
(a) Indemnification of Directors and Officers.
(i) For purposes of this Article, (A) “Indemnitee” shall mean each director or officer who was or is a party to, or is threatened to be made a party to, or is otherwise involved (including as a non-party
witness, deponent, or recipient of a subpoena) in, any Proceeding (as hereinafter defined), by reason of the fact that he or she is or was a director, officer employee or agent (including, without
limitation, as a trustee, fiduciary, administrator or manager) of the Corporation or any predecessor entity thereof, or is or was serving in any capacity at the request of the Corporation as a director,
officer, employee or agent (including, without limitation, as a trustee, fiduciary, administrator, partner, member or manager) of, or in any other capacity for, another corporation or any partnership,
joint venture, limited liability company, trust, or other enterprise; and (B) “Proceeding” shall mean any threatened, pending, or completed action, suit or proceeding (including, without limitation, an
action, suit or proceeding by or in the right of the Corporation), whether civil, criminal, administrative, or investigative.

(ii) Each Indemnitee shall be indemnified and held harmless by the Corporation to the fullest extent permitted by Nevada law, against all expense, liability and loss (including, without limitation,
attorneys’ fees, judgments, fines, taxes, penalties, and amounts paid or to be paid in settlement) reasonably incurred or suffered by the Indemnitee in connection with any Proceeding; provided
that such Indemnitee either is not liable pursuant to NRS 78.138 or acted in good faith and in a manner such Indemnitee reasonably believed to be in or not opposed to the With best interests of the
Corporation and, with respect to any Proceeding that is criminal in nature, had no reasonable cause to believe that his or her conduct was unlawful. The termination of any Proceeding by judgment,
order, settlement, conviction or upon a plea of nolo contendere or its equivalent, does not, of itself, create a presumption that the Indemnitee is liable pursuant to NRS 78.138 or did not act in good
faith and in a manner in which he or she reasonably believed to be in or not opposed to the best interests of the Corporation, or that, with respect to any criminal proceeding he or she had reasonable
cause to believe that his or her conduct was unlawful. The Corporation shall not indemnify an Indemnitee for any claim, issue or matter as to which the Indemnitee has been adjudged by a court of
competent jurisdiction, after exhaustion of all appeals therefrom, to be liable to the Corporation or for any amounts paid in settlement to the Corporation, unless and only to the extent that the court in
which the Proceeding was brought or other court of competent jurisdiction determines upon application that in view of all the circumstances of the case, the Indemnitee is fairly and reasonably
entitled to indemnity for such amounts as the court deems proper. Except as so ordered by a court and for advancement of expenses pursuant to this Section 6.1, indemnification may not be made to or
on behalf of an Indemnitee if a final adjudication establishes that his or her acts or omissions involved intentional misconduct, fraud or a knowing violation of law and was material to the cause of
action. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in these Bylaws, no director or officer may be indemnified for expenses incurred in defending any threatened, pending, or completed
action, suit or proceeding (including, without limitation, an action, suit or proceeding by or in the right of the Corporation), whether civil, criminal, administrative or investigative, that such director or
officer incurred in his or her capacity as a stockholder.

(iii) Indemnification pursuant to this Section 6.1 shall continue as to an Indemnitee who has ceased to be a director or officer of the Corporation or who has ceased to serve, at the request of the
Corporation, as a director, officer, employee, agent, trustee, fiduciary, administrator, partner, member or manager of, or in any other capacity for, another corporation or any partnership, joint venture,
limited liability company, trust, or other enterprise, and such indemnification shall inure to the benefit of such Indemnitee’s heirs, executors and administrators.
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(iv) The expenses of Indemnitees must be paid by the Corporation or through insurance purchased and maintained by the Corporation or through other financial arrangements made by the
Corporation, as such expenses are incurred and in advance of the final disposition of the Proceeding, upon receipt of an undertaking by or on behalf of such Indemnitee to repay the amount if it is
ultimately determined by a court of competent jurisdiction that he or she is not entitled to be indemnified by the Corporation. To the extent that an Indemmitee is successful on the merits or otherwise
in defense of any Proceeding, or in the defense of any claim, issue or matter therein, the Corporation shall indemnify him or her against expenses, including, without limitation, attorneys’ fees,
actually and reasonably incurred by him or her in connection with the defense.

(b) Indemnification of Employees and Other Persons. The Corporation may, by action of its Board and to the extent provided in such action, indemnify employees and other persons as though they
were Indemnitees.

(c) Non-Exclusivity of Rights. The rights to indemnification provided in this Article VI shall not be exclusive of any other rights that any person may have or hereafter acquire under any statute,
provision of the Articles of Incorporation or these Bylaws, agreement, vote of stockholders or directors, or otherwise.

(d) Insurance. The Corporation may purchase and maintain insurance or make other financial arrangements on behalf of any Indemnitee for any liability asserted against him or her and liability and
expenses incurred by him or her in his or her capacity as a director, officer, employee, member, managing member or agent, or arising out of his or her status as such, whether or not the Corporation
has the authority to indemnify him or her against such liability and expenses.

(e) Other Financial Arrangements. The other financial arrangements which may be made by the Corporation may include, without limitation, the following: (i) the creation of a trust fund; (ii) the
establishment of a program of self-insurance; (iii) the securing of its obligation of indemnification by granting a security interest or other lien on any assets of the Corporation; and (iv) the
establishment of a letter of credit, guarantee or surety. No financial arrangement made pursuant to this subsection may provide protection for a person adjudged by a court of competent jurisdiction,
after exhaustion of all appeals therefrom, to be liable for intentional misconduct, fraud, or a knowing violation of law, except with respect to advancement of expenses or indemnification ordered by a
court.

(f) Other Matters Relating to Insurance or Financial Arrangements. Any insurance or other financial arrangement made on behalf of a person pursuant to this Section 6.1 may be provided by the
Corporation or any other person approved by the Board, even if all or part of the other person’s stock or other securities are owned by the Corporation. In the absence of fraud (i) the decision of the
Board as to the propriety of the terms and conditions of any insurance or other financial arrangement made pursuant to this Section 6.1 and the choice of the person to provide the insurance or other
financial arrangement is conclusive; and (ii) the insurance or other financial arrangement is not void or voidable and does not subject any director approving it to personal liability for his action; even
if a director approving the insurance or other financial arrangement is a beneficiary of the insurance or other financial arrangement.

Section 6.2 Amendment. The provisions of this Article VI relating to indemnification shall constitute a contract between the Corporation and each of its directors and officers which may be modified
as to any director or officer only with that person’s consent or as specifically provided in this Section 6.2. Notwithstanding any other provision of these Bylaws relating to their amendment generally,
any repeal or amendment of this Article VI which is adverse to any director or officer shall apply to such director or officer only on a prospective basis, and shall not limit the rights of an Indemnitee
to indemnification with respect to any action or failure to act occurring prior to the time of such repeal or amendment. Notwithstanding any other provision of these Bylaws (including, without
limitation, Article X), no repeal or amendment of these Bylaws shall affect any or all of this Article VI so as to limit or reduce the indemnification in any manner unless adopted by (a) the unanimous
vote of the directors of the Corporation then serving, or (b) a vote of stockholders representing not less than two-thirds of the voting power of the issued and outstanding stock entitled to vote at an
annual or special meeting of the stockholders duly noticed and called in accordance with the Bylaws; provided that no such amendment shall have a retroactive effect inconsistent with the preceding
sentences of this Section.

ARTICLE VII
CHANGES IN LAW

References in these Bylaws to Nevada law, the NRS, the Exchange Act, rules promulgated under the Exchange Act, or to any provision of any of the foregoing shall be to such law or rule as it existed
on the date these Bylaws were adopted or as such law or rule thereafter may be changed; provided that (a) in the case of any change which expands the liability of directors or officers or limits the
indemnification rights or the rights to advancement of expenses which the Corporation may provide in Article VI hereof, the rights to limited liability, to indemnification and to the advancement of
expenses provided in the Articles of Incorporation and/or these Bylaws shall continue as before such change to the extent permitted by law; and (b) if such change permits the Corporation, without the
requirement of any further action by stockholders or directors, to limit further the liability of directors or limit further the liability of officers or to provide broader indemnification rights or rights to
the advancement of expenses than the Corporation was permitted to provide prior to such change, then liability thereupon shall be so limited and the rights to indemnification and the advancement of
expenses shall be so broadened to the extent permitted by law.

ARTICLE VIII

DISTRIBUTIONS

Section 8.1 Declaration. Distributions may be declared, subject to the provisions of the laws of the State of Nevada and the Articles of Incorporation, by the Board and may be paid in cash, property,
shares of corporate stock, or any other medium.
Section 8.2 Fixing Record Dates for Distributions and Share Dividends. For the purpose of determining stockholders entitled to receive a distribution by the Corporation (other than a distribution
involving a purchase or redemption by the Corporation of any of its own shares) or a share dividend, the Board may, at the time of declaring the distribution or share dividend, set a date no more than
60 days prior to the date of the distribution or share dividend; provided that the record date so fixed for such distribution or share dividend must not precede the date on which the Board adopted the
resolution declaring such distribution or share dividend. If no record date is fixed for such distribution or share dividend, the record date shall be the date on which the resolution of the Board
authorizing the distribution or share dividend is adopted.

ARTICLE IX
MISCELLANEOUS

Section 9.1 Books and Records. Any records maintained by the Corporation in the regular course of its business, including its stock ledger, books of account, and minute books, may be kept on, or
by means of, or be in the form of, any information storage device or method, provided that the records so kept can be converted into clearly legible paper form within a reasonable time. The
Corporation shall so convert any records so kept upon the request of any person entitled to inspect such records pursuant to applicable law.
Section 9.2 Fiscal Year. The fiscal year of the Corporation shall end on December 31 of each year.

ARTICLE X

AMENDMENTS

Except as otherwise expressly provided in these Bylaws, these Bylaws may be amended, revised, or repealed or new bylaws may be made adopted, only by a vote of (a) a majority of the Board, or (b)
stockholders representing not less than a majority of the voting power of the issued and outstanding stock entitled to vote at an annual or special meeting of the stockholders duly noticed and called in
accordance with the Bylaws.

ARTICLE XI

FORUM SELECTION
To the fullest extent permitted by law, and unless the Corporation consents in writing to the selection of an alternative forum, the Eighth Judicial District Court of Clark County, Nevada (or, if that
court does not have jurisdiction, the federal district court for the District of Nevada or other state courts of the State of Nevada) shall, to the fullest extent permitted by law, be the exclusive forums for
(a) any derivative action or proceeding brought in the name or right of the Corporation or on the Corporation’s behalf, (b) any action asserting or based upon a claim of breach of any duty owed by
any director, officer, employee or agent of the Corporation to the Corporation or to the Corporation’s stockholders, (c) any action or assertion of a claim arising pursuant to any provision of Chapter
78 or Chapter 92A of the NRS or the Articles of Incorporation or these Bylaws (as each may be amended from time to time), (d) any action to interpret, apply, enforce or determine the validity of the
Articles of Incorporation or these Bylaws or (e) any action asserting a claim against the Corporation governed by the internal affairs doctrine. Any person or entity purchasing or otherwise acquiring
any interest in shares of capital stock of the Corporation shall be deemed to have notice of, and consented to, the provisions of this Article XI.
CERTIFICATE OF SECRETARY

I certify that I am the Secretary of OptimizeRx Corporation, a Nevada corporation, and that the foregoing Third Amended and Restated Bylaws constitute the bylaws of OptimizeRx Corporation as
duly adopted by the Board of Directors as of March 7, 2023.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto subscribed my name this 7 day of March 2023. regards,

/s/ Marion Odence-Ford
Marion Odence-Ford
Secretary General Counsel & Chief Compliance Officer
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Acknowledged and agreed:

17
William J. Febbo
Printed Name
/s/ William J. Febbo April 12, 2024
Signature Date
Exhibit A
OptimizeRx Corporation
2021 Equity Incentive Plan
4
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Exhibit B
OptimizeRx Corporation
2021 Equity Incentive Plan
Forms of Award Agreements

5
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Exhibit C
OptimizeRx Corporation
2023 Executive Severance Plan

6
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Exhibit D
Febbo Business Protection Agreement
7

Exhibit 10.27

March 1, 2024

Stephen Silvestro

41 Fletcher Lane

Hollis, NH 03049

Dear Steve,

On behalf of OptimizeRx Corporation (the “Company”), we are excited to make this amended and restated employment offer to you for the full-time, exempt position of President (this “Amended
and Restatement Employment Agreement”), effective upon execution of this Amended and Restatement Employment Agreement (the “Effective Date”). For purposes of determining employment
tenure, April 29, 2019 shall be recognized as your start date of employment.

Base Salary. You will be entitled to receive an annual base salary of $400,000.00 at the rate of $16,666.66 per semi-monthly pay period, representing payment for all hours worked, with such
increases (but no decreases, unless mutually agreed) as may be determined by the Compensation Committee of the Company’s Board of Directors (the “Compensation Committee”) from time to time
(as increased from time to time, the “Base Salary”). Your Base Salary is payable in accordance with the Company’s regular payroll practices and subject to customary and required withholdings and
deductions.

Annual Bonus. In addition to the Base Salary, you will be eligible to receive annual cash bonuses under the Company’s 2022 Cash Bonus Plan and/or any other cash incentive plan maintained by the
Company (such plan, the “Bonus Plan”), as determined by the Compensation Committee in its sole discretion within the parameters, and subject to the terms and conditions, of the Bonus Plan, with a
target bonus of 60% of your Base Salary. Any bonus payments paid to you is entirely at the discretion of the Compensation Committee and will be subject to the Company’s and your personal
performance achievements and to customary tax deductions.

Equity. Following the Effective Date, you may receive grants of equity awards under the Company’s 2021 Equity Incentive Plan and/or any other equity-related incentive plan maintained by the
Company (such plan, the “Equity Plan”), as determined by the Compensation Committee in its sole discretion within the parameters, and subject to the terms and conditions, of the Equity Plan. The
treatment of any equity awards held by you under the Equity Plan in connection with the termination of your employment shall be determined under the Equity Plan and/or award agreement relating
to such award.

REFINITIV CORPORATE DISCLOSURES | www.refinitiv.com | Contact Us 117/142
©2024 Refinitiv. All rights reserved. Republication or redistribution of Refinitiv content, including by framing or similar means, is prohibited without the prior written R E F I N I T I V I ‘

consent of Refinitiv. 'Refinitiv' and the Refinitiv logo are registered trademarks of Refinitiv and its affiliated companies.


https://www.refinitiv.com/
https://www.refinitiv.com/en/contact-us

Consistent with the foregoing, any equity granted to you, whether restricted stock units (“RSUs”) or options to purchase the Company’s common stock (“Options”) will be granted to you pursuant to
the terms of the Equity Plan, as may be amended from time to time, attached hereto as Exhibit A, and the applicable award agreements in substantially similar forms to those attached hereto as
Exhibit B, and the Options for the awards shall be at an exercise price equal to the fair market value of the underlying common stock as determined by the closing trading price of the Company’s
common stock on the Nasdaq Stock Exchange on the grant date.

Additional Compensation. You shall be eligible to receive such other compensation as may from time to time be awarded to you by the Compensation Committee, in its sole discretion.

Severance Pay. If you undergo a Covered Termination as defined by the Company’s 2023 Executive Severance Plan (the “Severance Plan”), as amended, and attached hereto as Exhibit C, you shall
receive severance benefits within the parameters, and subject to the terms and conditions, of the Severance Plan, including your continued compliance with the terms and conditions of this
Agreement, your Business Protection Agreement, and execution of the Company Separation Agreement, waiver and release.

Employee Benefits. In addition to your compensation, you will continue to have the opportunity to participate in various Company benefit programs offered to employees, pursuant to the terms and
conditions of such programs, including a 401(k) plan, group medical, dental and vision insurance as well as life, AD&D insurance, short and long-term disability benefits. Our 401k plan includes a
company match of up to 4%, based on individual contribution. You will also be eligible to participate in our flexible Paid Time Off (PTO) policy. Please note that the Company reserves the right to
change or discontinue any of our benefits, plans, providers, and policies, at any time.

Job Responsibilities. As President, your responsibilities are outlined in the job description attached hereto as Exhibit D. You shall devote substantially all of your business time (excluding periods of
vacation and other approved leaves of absence) to the performance of your duties with the Company, provided the foregoing shall not prevent you from participating in charitable, civic, educational,
professional, community or industry affairs.

Expense Reimbursement. We will reimburse you for all approved business expenditures including travel costs incurred by you pursuant to the terms of the Company travel policy.

At-Will Employment. Please note that you are not being offered employment for a definite period of time, and that either you or the Company may terminate your employment at any time for any
reason, with or without cause or notice, except as prohibited by law. Nothing in this Amended and Restatement Employment Agreement should be interpreted as creating anything other than an at-
will employment relationship.

Business Protection Agreement. The Company considers the protection of its confidential information, proprietary materials and goodwill to be extremely important. The Business Protection
Agreement you executed on March 25, 2019, and as attached hereto as Exhibit E shall remain in full force and effect.

Certifications. As a condition of your employment, you certify and reaffirm to the Company that you are free to enter into and fully perform the duties of your position, and that you are not subject to
any employment, confidentiality, non-competition or other agreement that would restrict your performance for the Company. If you are subject to any such agreement, please forward it to the
Company as soon as possible.

Additionally, as a condition of your employment, you certify and reaffirm that you will not disclose to or use for the benefit of the Company any trade secret or confidential or proprietary information
of any previous employer. You further certify and reaffirm that you have not divulged or used any such information for the benefit of the Company, and that you have not and will not misappropriate
any such information from any former employer.

Entire Agreement. This Amended and Restatement Employment Agreement and your signed Business Protection Agreement, states the terms of your employment and supersedes and cancels any
prior oral or written representations, offers or promises made by the Company and any understandings or agreements, whether written or oral, between the Company and you, including the
employment offer made to you on March 18, 2019, as amended on March 10, 2020 and February 28, 2022 (the “Original Silvestro Employment Agreement”). Upon execution of this Amended and
Restatement Employment Agreement, the Original Silvestro Employment Agreement shall terminate and the terms set forth therein shall be null and void.

If you have any questions, please do not hesitate to call me to discuss. Please sign and date below and return one copy of this letter to the Company.

With best regards,

/s/Marion Odence-Ford

Marion Odence-Ford
General Counsel & Chief Compliance Officer
Acknowledged and agreed:

Stephen Silvestro

Printed Name

/s/ Stephen Silvestro April 12, 2024
Signature Date:
Exhibit A
OptimizeRx Corporation
2021 Equity Incentive Plan
4
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Exhibit B
OptimizeRx Corporation
2021 Equity Incentive Plan
Forms of Award Agreements

Exhibit C
OptimizeRx Corporation
2023 Executive Severance Plan
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Exhibit D
OptimizeRx Corporation
President Job Description
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Exhibit E
Silvestro Business Protection Agreement
8

Exhibit 10.18 10.28

OPTIMIZERX CORPORATION
EXECUTIVE SEVERANCE PLAN PLAN*

Plan Document/Summary Plan Description

OptimizeRx Corporation (the “Company”) has adopted this OptimizeRx Corporation Executive Severance Plan (the “Plan”) for the benefit of certain employees of the Company and its
subsidiaries (hereinafter referred to as the “Company Group™), on the terms and conditions hereinafter stated, effective as of the Effective Date.

The Plan is not intended to be an “employee pension benefit plan” or “pension plan” within the meaning of Section 3(2) of ERISA. Rather, the Plan is intended to be a “welfare benefit plan”
within the meaning of Section 3(1) of ERISA and to meet the descriptive requirements of a plan constituting a “severance pay plan” within the meaning of regulations published by the Secretary of
Labor at Title 29, Code of Federal Regulations, Section 2510.3-2(b). Accordingly, any benefits paid pursuant to the terms of the Plan are not deferred compensation for purposes of ERISA, and no
Participant shall have a vested right to such benefits. To the extent applicable, it is intended that portions of the Plan either comply with or be exempt from the provisions of Section 409A of the Code.
The Plan shall be administered in a manner consistent with this intent and any provision that would cause the Plan to fail to either constitute a welfare benefit plan under ERISA or comply with or be
exempt from Section 409A of the Code, as the case may be, shall have no force and effect. This document serves as both the plan document as required under Section 402 of ERISA as well as a
summary plan description as required under Section 104(b) of ERISA.

1. Definitions. Capitalized terms used in this Plan shall have the meanings ascribed to such terms in Appendix A.

2. Eligibility.

Except as otherwise provided under the Plan, each Participant is eligible to receive severance pay and severance benefits under the Plan if such Participant:

(a) remains in the employ of the Employer through the date of a Covered Termination, death or Disability;

(b) fulfills the normal responsibilities of such Participant’s position, including, but not limited to, meeting regular attendance, specific transitional activities, workload and other standards of
the Employer,

(c) executes and does not revoke the Release Agreement; and

(d) complies with and, during the term of the Severance Period (and in some instances, for some period following the expiration of the Severance Period in accordance with the terms of the
BPA), remains compliant with, all the terms of such BPA.

*Amended April 12, 2024
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3. Termination of Employment.

(a) Payments on Covered Termination. If a Participant designated on Appendix B hereto undergoes a Covered Termination, in addition to any Accrued Obligations, subject to such
Participant’s execution, delivery to the Company, and non-revocation of a Release Agreement, as contemplated in subsection (e) below, and continued compliance with the BPA during the Severance
Period (and in some instances, for some period following the expiration of the Severance Period in accordance with the terms of the BPA), such Participant shall be entitled to the following payments
and benefits:

(i) the Target Bonus, which will be payable to the Participant in a lump sum within 60 days following the date of termination, and

(ii) (A) the applicable Cash Severance Amount set forth on Appendix B, payable in substantially equal installments as continuous pay in accordance with the Company’s payroll
practices as in effect from time to time over the applicable number of months set forth on Appendix B, commencing on the 60th60th day following the date of termination, provided that the first such
payment shall include all amounts that would have been paid to the Participant in accordance with the Company’s payroll practices if such payments had begun on the date of the Participant’s
Covered Termination; and (B) the COBRA Payment, payable in monthly installments during the Subsidized COBRA Period (or apply such amount to the payment of such continuation coverage),
commencing on the 60th60th day following the date of termination, provided that the first such payment shall include all amounts that would have been paid or provided to Participant in accordance
with the Company’s payroll practices if such payments had begun on the date of the Participant’s Covered Termination.

(b) Payments on Change in Control Covered Termination. If a Participant undergoes a Change in Control Covered Termination, subject to such Participant’s execution, delivery to the
Company, and non-revocation of a Release Agreement, as contemplated in subsection (e) below, and continued compliance with the BPA during the Severance Period (and in some instances, for
some period following the expiration of the Severance Period in accordance with the terms of the BPA), such Participant shall be entitled to the following payment in addition to the payments and
benefits set forth in Section 3(a): a lump-sum cash payment equal to the applicable CIC Covered Termination Payment Amount set forth on Appendix C, payable within 60 days following the later of
(A) the date of the Participant’s Change in Control Covered Termination or (B) the closing date of the applicable Change in Control.For the avoidance of doubt, if a Participant’s name is not set forth
on Appendix C hereto, such Participant is ineligible to receive any payments under this Section 3(b).

Payments and benefits described under subsections (a) and (b) may be made by the Company or any other member of the Company Group, as determined by the Company in its sole discretion,
including, without limitation, the Employer.

(c) Payments on Death or Disability. In the event a Participant’s employment with the Employer is terminated due to such Participant’s death or Disability, in addition to any Accrued
Obligations, the Participant (or the Participant’s estate, as applicable) shall receive the Target Bonus, payable in a lump sum within 60 days following the date of termination; provided, however, in the
case of the Participant’s termination due to Disability, the Participant must execute, deliver to the Company, and not revoke the Release Agreement, as contemplated in subsection (e) below, and
continue to comply with the BPA during the Severance Period (and in some instances, for some period following the expiration of the Severance Period in accordance with the terms of the BPA).
*Amended April 12, 2024

(d) Other Termination Events. If a Participant’s employment is terminated for any reason other than pursuant to a Covered Termination, death or Disability, such Participant shall not be
entitled to the Severance Pay or other benefits under the Plan.

(e) Release Agreement. Notwithstanding any provision herein to the contrary, the payment of any amount or provision of any benefit pursuant to this Section 3 (other than the Accrued
Obligations) shall be conditioned upon a Participant’s execution, delivery to the Company, and non-revocation of the Release Agreement (and the expiration of any revocation period contained in
such Release Agreement) within 60 days following the date of a Covered Termination. If a Participant fails to execute the Release Agreement in such a timely manner or timely revokes his or her
acceptance of such release following its execution, such Participant shall not be entitled to Severance Pay or any other benefits under the Plan. Further, to the extent that any of the payments
hereunder constitute “nonqualified deferred compensation” for purposes of Section 409A of the Code, any payment of any amount or provision of any benefit otherwise scheduled to occur prior to the
60th60th day following the date of such Covered Termination, but for the condition of executing the Release Agreement as set forth herein, shall not be made until the first regularly scheduled payroll
date following such 60th60th day, after which any remaining payments shall thereafter be provided to the Participant according to the applicable schedule set forth herein.

(f) Clawback/Forfeiture. Notwithstanding any provision herein to the contrary, the payment of any amount or provision of any benefit pursuant to subsections (a) or (b) above (other than the
Accrued Obligations) shall be conditioned upon and subject to the Clawback Policy.

4. Treatment of Awards.

Any outstanding Awards granted to the Participant under (i) the Stock Plan shall vest in accordance with the terms of the Stock Plan and the applicable award agreement, or (ii) the
Company’s 2013 Equity Incentive Plan, as amended, shall vest in accordance with the terms of the 2013 Equity Incentive Plan, as amended, and the applicable award agreement.

5. Additional Terms.

(a) Taxes. Severance and other payments and benefits under the Plan will be subject to all required federal, state and local taxes and may be affected by any legally required withholdings.
Payments under the Plan are not deemed “compensation” for purposes of the retirement plans, savings plans, and incentive plans of the Company Group. Accordingly, no deductions will be taken for
any retirement and savings plan and such plans will not accrue any benefits attributable to payments under the Plan.

(b) Set-Off; Mitigation. The Company’s obligation to pay the Participant the amounts provided and to make the arrangements provided hereunder shall not be subject to set-off, counterclaim,
or recoupment of amounts owed by the Participant to the Company or its Affiliates. The Participant shall not be required to mitigate the amount of any payment provided pursuant to the Plan by
seeking other employment or otherwise, and the amount of any payment provided for pursuant to the Plan shall not be reduced by any compensation earned as a result of the Participant’s other
employment or otherwise.

*Amended April 12, 2024

(c) Specified Employees. Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, if (i) at the time of a Participant’s Covered Termination, such Participant is a “specified employee” as defined in
Section 409A of the Code, and the deferral of the commencement of any payments or benefits otherwise payable hereunder as a result of such termination of employment is necessary in order to
prevent the imposition of any accelerated or additional tax under Section 409A of the Code, then the commencement of the payment of any such payments or benefits hereunder will be deferred
(without any increase or decrease in such payments or benefits ultimately paid or provided to the Participant) until the date that is six months following such Participant’s Covered Termination (or the
earliest date that is permitted under Section 409A of the Code), and (ii) any other payments of money or other benefits due to the Participant hereunder would cause the application of an accelerated
or additional tax under Section 409A of the Code, such payments or other benefits shall be deferred if deferral will make such payment or other benefits compliant under Section 409A of the Code, or
otherwise such payment or other benefits shall be restructured, to the extent possible, in a manner, determined by or at the direction of the Committee, that does not cause such an accelerated or
additional tax or result in additional cost to the Company. The Company shall consult with its legal counsel and tax advisors in good faith regarding the implementation of this Section 5(c); provided,
however, that none of the Company any other member of the Company Group, or any of their respective employees or representatives, shall have any liability to the Participant with respect thereto.

6. Termination or Amendment of the Plan.

REFINITIV CORPORATE DISCLOSURES | www.refinitiv.com | Contact Us 122/142
©2024 Refinitiv. All rights reserved. Republication or redistribution of Refinitiv content, including by framing or similar means, is prohibited without the prior written R E F I N I T I V I ‘

consent of Refinitiv. 'Refinitiv' and the Refinitiv logo are registered trademarks of Refinitiv and its affiliated companies.


https://www.refinitiv.com/
https://www.refinitiv.com/en/contact-us

The Plan may be amended, terminated or discontinued in whole or in part, at any time and from time to time at the discretion of the Board or the Committee; provided, however, that no such
amendment, termination or discontinuance shall, without a Participant’s consent, adversely affect any Participant that has undergone a Covered Termination prior to the effective date of any such
amendment, termination or discontinuance; provided further, that following (x) the date the Company has entered into an agreement the consummation of which would result in a Change in Control
(until such time as the Change in Control occurs or such agreement is terminated) or (y) a Change in Control, the Plan may not be amended, terminated or discontinued in whole or in part, at any time
prior to the second anniversary of the date of such Change in Control without the written consent of each affected Participant.

7. Limitation of Certain Payments.

Except as otherwise provided in an individual employment agreement, in the event that any payments and/or benefits due to a Participant under the Plan and/or any other arrangements are
determined by the Company to constitute “excess parachute payments” as defined under Section 280G of the Code, any cash severance payable under the Plan shall be reduced by the minimum
amount necessary, subject to the last sentence of this paragraph, such that the present value of such “parachute payments” (as defined under Section 280G of the Code) is below 300% of such
Participant’s “base amount” (as defined under Section 280G of the Code)., and by accepting participation in the Plan. Notwithstanding the foregoing, no payments or benefits shall be reduced under
this Section 7 unless (a) the net amount of such payments and benefits, as so reduced (and after subtracting the net amount of federal, state and local income taxes on such reduced payments and after
taking into account the phase out of itemized deductions and personal exemptions attributable to such reduced payments and benefits), is greater than or equal to (b) the net amount of such payments
without such reduction (but after subtracting the net amount of federal, state and local income taxes on such payments and benefits and the amount of excise tax imposed under Section 4999 of the
Code as to which such Participant would be subject in respect of such unreduced payments and benefits and after taking into account the phase out of itemized deductions and personal exemptions
attributable to such unreduced payments). For purposes hereof, (i) the order in which any amounts are deemed to be reduced, if applicable, is (A) cash payments, (B) other non-cash forms of benefits,
and (C) equity-based payments and acceleration of vesting, and (ii) within any such category of payments and benefits (that is, (i)(A), (i)(B) or (i)(C) above), (A) a reduction shall occur first with
respect to amounts that are not “deferred compensation” within the meaning of Section 409A of the Code and then with respect to amounts that are and (B) to the extent that any such amounts are to
be made over time (e.g., in installments, etc.), then the amounts shall be reduced in reverse. reverse
*Amended April 12, 2024

8. Miscellaneous.

(a) No Right to Continued Employment. Nothing contained in the Plan shall confer upon any Participant any right to continue in the employ of any member of the Company Group nor
interfere in any way with the right of the Company Group to terminate his or her employment, with or without Cause.

(b) Plan Not Funded. Amounts payable under the Plan shall be payable from the general assets of the Company, and no special or separate reserve, fund or deposit shall be made to assure
payment of such amounts. No Participant, beneficiary or other Person shall have any right, title or interest in any fund or in any specific asset of the Company by reason of participation hereunder.
Neither the provisions of the Plan, nor the creation or adoption of the Plan, nor any action taken pursuant to the provisions of the Plan shall create, or be construed to create, a trust of any kind or a
fiduciary relationship between the Company and any Participant, beneficiary or other Person. To the extent that a Participant, beneficiary or other Person acquires a right to receive payment under the
Plan, such right shall be no greater than the right of any unsecured general creditor of the Company. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Company shall have the right to implement or set aside funds
in a grantor trust, subject to the claims of the Company’s creditors or otherwise, to discharge its obligations under the Plan.

(c) Non-Transferability of Benefits and Interests. All amounts payable under the Plan are non-transferable, and no amount payable under the Plan shall be subject in any manner to sale,
transfer, anticipation, alienation, assignment, pledge, encumbrance or charge. This Section 9(c) shall not apply to an assignment of a contingency or payment due (i) after the death of a Participant to
the deceased Participant’s legal representative or beneficiary, or (ii) after the disability of a Participant to the disabled Participant’s personal representative.

(d) Discretion of Company, Board and Committee. Any decision made or action taken by, or inaction of, the Company, the Board, or the Committee arising out of or in connection with the
creation, amendment, construction, administration, interpretation and effect of the Plan that is within its authority hereunder or applicable law shall be within the absolute discretion of such entity and
shall be conclusive and binding upon all Persons.

*Amended April 12, 2024

(e) Indemnification. Neither the Board nor the Committee, nor any employee of the Company, nor any Person acting at the direction thereof (each such Person an “Affected Person”), shall
have any liability to any Person (including without limitation, any Participant), for any act, omission, interpretation, construction or determination made in connection with the Plan (or any payment
made under the Plan). Each Affected Person shall be indemnified and held harmless by the Company against and from any loss, cost, liability or expense (including attorneys’ fees) that may be
imposed upon or incurred by such Affected Person in connection with or resulting from any action, suit or proceeding to which such Affected Person may be a party or in which such Affected Person
may be involved by reason of any action taken or omitted to be taken under the Plan and against and from any and all amounts paid by such Affected Person, with the Company’s approval, in
settlement thereof, or paid by such Affected Person in satisfaction of any judgment in any such action, suit or proceeding against such Affected Person; provided, that the Company shall have the
right, at its own expense, to assume and defend any such action, suit or proceeding and, once the Company gives notice of its intent to assume the defense, the Company shall have sole control over
such defense with counsel of the Company’s choice. The foregoing right of indemnification shall not be available to an Affected Person to the extent that a court of competent jurisdiction in a final
judgment or other final adjudication, in either case, not subject to further appeal, determines that the acts or omissions of such Affected Person giving rise to the indemnification claim resulted from
such Affected Person’s bad faith, fraud or willful wrongful act or omission. The foregoing right of indemnification shall not be exclusive of any other rights of indemnification to which Affected
Persons may be entitled under the Company’s organizational documents, as a matter of law, or otherwise, or any other power that the Company may have to indemnify such Person or hold them
harmless.

(f) Section 409A. Notwithstanding any provision of the Plan to the contrary, if any benefit provided under the Plan is subject to the provisions of Section 409A of the Code, the provisions of
the Plan will be administered, interpreted and construed in a manner necessary to comply with Section 409A of the Code or an exception thereto. Notwithstanding any provision of the Plan to the
contrary, in no event shall the Company (or its employees, officers or directors) have any liability to any Participant (or any other Person) due to the failure of the Plan to satisfy the requirements of
Section 409A of the Code or any other applicable law. For purposes of the application of Section 409A of the Code, each payment in a series of payments under this Plan will be deemed a separate
payment.

(g) No Duplication; Treatment of Other Severance Arrangements. In no event shall any Participant receive the severance benefits provided for herein in addition to severance benefits
provided for under any Other Severance Arrangement; provided, that if such Participant is covered by any Other Severance Arrangement, such Participant shall only be entitled to receive the greater
of (x) the payments and benefits set forth in this Plan and (y) the payments and benefits set forth in, and subject to the terms, conditions and restrictions of, the Other Severance Arrangement.

*Amended April 12, 2024

(h) Governing Law. All questions pertaining to the construction, regulation, validity and effect of the provisions of the Plan shall be determined in accordance with the laws of the State of
Nevada.

(i) Notice. Any notice or other communication required or which may be given pursuant to the Plan shall be in writing and shall be deemed to have been duly given when delivered by hand

or overnight courier or two days after it has been mailed by United States express or registered mail, return receipt requested, postage prepaid, addressed to the Company at the address set forth
below, or to the Participant at his or her most recent address on file with the Company.
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OptimizeRx Corporation
400 Water 260 Charles Street, Suite. 200 Suite 302
Rochester, MI 48307 Waltham, MA 02453
c/o General Counsel

(j) Captions. Captions and headings are given to the sections and subsections of the Plan solely as a convenience to facilitate reference. Such captions and headings shall not be deemed in
any way material or relevant to the construction or interpretation of the Plan or any provision thereof.

(k) Successors. The Plan shall inure to the benefit of and be binding upon the Company and its successors.
*Amended April 12, 2024

Appendix A
Definitions
1. Definitions.
(a) “Accrued Obligations” means (i) all accrued but unpaid Base Salary through the date of a Covered Termination, (ii) any unpaid or unreimbursed expenses incurred in accordance with the
policies of the Employer, and (iii) any benefits provided under the employee benefit plans and programs of the Company Group in which the Participant participates immediately prior to, and is due

upon or continues after, a termination of employment, including rights with respect to Company equity.

(b) “Affiliate” means any entity which, at the time of reference, directly, or indirectly through one or more intermediaries, controls, is controlled by, or is under common control with, the
Company.

(c) “Annual Bonus Program” means the annual cash incentive bonus program in which the Participant participates as of the date of such Participant’s Covered Termination, if any.
(d) “Anticipatory Termination” means a Covered Termination occurring within the three months prior to the occurrence of a Change in Control; provided, that it is reasonably demonstrated

that such termination (A) was at the request of a third party who has taken steps reasonably calculated or intended to effect the Change in Control (and such transaction is actually consummated) or
(B) otherwise arose in connection with or in anticipation of the Change in Control (and such transaction is actually consummated).

(e) “Asset Sale” means a Change in Control resulting from the consummation of a sale or other disposition of all or substantially all of the assets of the Company.
(f) “Award” has the meaning set forth in the Stock Plan.

(g) “Base Salary” means the Participant’s then current annual base salary rate immediately prior to his or her Covered Termination (or, if higher, the annual base salary immediately prior to
an event that constitutes Good Reason hereunder).

(h) “Board” means the Board of Directors of the Company.

(i) “Business Protection Agreement” or “BPA” shall mean the Business Protection Agreement executed by Participant, as may be updated or amended from time to time to reflect changes in
law and/or differences in applicable state law. BPA shall mean the agreement substantially in the form attached hereto as Exhibit A, as may be updated or amended from time to time to reflect changes
in law and/or differences in applicable state law.

(j) “Cash Severance Amount” means, with respect to any Participant, the “Cash Severance Amount,” as set forth on Appendix B, as attached hereto, as applicable.
*Amended April 12, 2024

(k) “Cause” means the occurrence of any of the following as determined by the Committee:

(i) the Participant’s conviction of, or plea of guilty or nolo contendere to, (1) a felony under federal law or the law of the state in which such action occurred or (2) any other crime
involving moral turpitude;

(ii) the Participant’s willful and continued failure to perform the Participant’s employment duties (other than any such failure resulting from the Participant’s incapacity due to a
Disability); provided, however, that the Company shall have provided the Participant with written notice that such actions are occurring and, where practical, the Participant has been afforded at least
15 days to cure same;

(iii) the Participant’s willfully engaging in misconduct in the performance of the Participant’s duties for the Employer (including, but not limited to, theft, fraud, embezzlement and
securities law violations, a violation of the Company’s “Code of Ethics and Business Conduct” or other written policies, or a material breach of the Business Protection Agreement or any other
restrictive covenants to which the Participant is subject) that is materially injurious to the Company, or, in the good faith determination of the Committee, is potentially materially injurious to the
Company, monetarily or otherwise.

For purposes of this Section 1(j), no act, or failure to act, on the part of the Participant shall be considered “willful,” unless done, or omitted to be done, by the Participant in bad faith and without a
reasonable belief that the Participant’s action or omission was in, or not opposed to, the best interests of the Company (including reputationally). Prior to any termination for Cause, the Participant
will be given five business days written notice specifying the alleged Cause event. After providing the notice in foregoing sentence, the Board or the Chief Executive Officer of the Company may
suspend the Participant with full pay and benefits until a final determination has been made.

(1) “Change in Control” has the meaning set forth in the Stock Plan.

(m) “Change in Control Covered Termination” means a (i) a Covered Termination occurring during the two-year period commencing on the date of a Change in Control or (ii) an
Anticipatory Termination.

(n) “CIC Covered Termination Payment Amount” means, with respect to any Participant, the “CIC Covered Termination Payment Amount,” as set forth on Appendix C, as attached hereto,
as applicable.(0) “Clawback Policy” means any clawback, forfeiture or other similar policy adopted by the Board or the Committee from time to time.

(0) “COBRA Payment” means, provided the Participant validly elects continuation coverage under COBRA or similar state law for the Participant, his spouse and/or dependents, an amount
equal to the monthly COBRA premium for continued health insurance coverage payable in monthly installments over the number of months in the Subsidized COBRA Period set forth on Appendix
B, as attached hereto, as applicable.

*Amended April 12, 2024
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(p) “Code” means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, and the rules, regulations or other interpretative guidance promulgated thereunder, as well as any successor laws in
replacement thereof.

(q) “Committee” means the Compensation Committee of the Board.

(r) “Covered Termination” means a Participant’s termination of employment with the Employer by the Employer without Cause or by the Participant for Good Reason; provided, however,
that no such termination shall be considered a Covered Termination if such Participant’s employment with the Employer is terminated:

(i) solely by reason of a transfer to the employ of another member of the Company Group;

(ii) upon the expiration of a leave of absence by reason of his or her failure to return to work at such time unless, at such time, there is not an available position for which such
Participant is qualified; or

(iii) in connection with an Asset Sale if either (A) in connection with such Asset Sale such Participant was offered employment with the purchaser or an Affiliate thereof in an Asset
Sale (I) within a 25-mile radius of such Participant’s current work site for a comparable position and (II) with the same or greater Base Salary, and with comparable annual bonus and equity
compensation opportunity, and the Participant fails to accept such employment offer, or (B) notwithstanding the comparable terms and conditions of employment being available within a 25-mile
radius, such Participant voluntarily elected not to participate in the selection process for employment with the purchaser or an Affiliate thereof in an Asset Sale.

(s) “Disability” means a Participant’s substantial inability to perform Participant’s duties due to partial or total disability or incapacity resulting from a mental or physical illness, injury or
other health-related cause for a period of 90 consecutive days or 180 non-consecutive days in any 12 months period.

(t) “Effective Date” means March 8, 2023, as amended on March 1, 2024.
(u) “Eligible Employee” means each non-union, salaried, full-time employee of the Company Group. Eligible Employees shall, in no event, include: (i) independent contractors, (ii)

temporary employees, (iii) individuals treated other than as employees for federal income and employment tax purposes at the time such individual performs services, (iv) employees who are
regularly scheduled to work less than 20 hours per week, and (v) individuals who the Company designates as “non-benefits eligible.”

(v) “Employer” means, with respect to any Participant, the member of the Company Group by which such Participant is employed.

(w) “ERISA” means the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as amended, and the rules, regulations or other interpretive guidance promulgated thereunder, as well as any
successor laws in replacement thereof.
*Amended April 12, 2024

(x) “Exchange Act” means the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and the rules, regulations or other interpretive guidance promulgated thereunder, as well as any successor laws
in replacement thereof.

(v) “Good Reason” means the occurrence of any of the following events without the Participant’s consent:
(i) a material diminution in the Participant’s title, authorities, duties or responsibilities;

(ii) any reduction in the Participant’s Base Salary, other than a reduction of not more than 15% implemented in connection with an across-the-board reduction affecting all similarly-
situated executive employees of the Company;

(iii) the assignment to the Participant of duties or responsibilities which are materially inconsistent with any of the Participant’s duties and responsibilities;

(iv) the failure of any purchaser (or an Affiliate thereof) in an Asset Sale by agreement in writing, to expressly, absolutely and unconditionally assume and agree to perform the Plan,
in the same manner and to the same extent that the Company would be required to perform the Plan if no such Asset Sale had taken place; or

(v) upon or within twenty-four (24) months following a Change in Control, (A) a reduction in the Participant’s Base Salary in effect immediately prior to the Change in Control or
(B) a material reduction in the sum of (1) the Participant’s Target Bonus for the last completed fiscal year immediately prior to the Change in Control plus (2) the grant date fair value of equity or
equity-based awards granted to the Participant under the Stock Plan for the last completed fiscal year immediately prior to the Change in Control;

provided, that any of the events described in clauses (i) — (iii) and (v) above shall constitute Good Reason only if the Participant provides the Company (or applicable employer following a Change in
Control) with written objection to the event or condition within 90 days following the occurrence thereof, the Company (or applicable employer following a Change in Control) does not reverse or
otherwise cure the event or condition within 30 days of receiving that written objection, and the Participant resigns employment within 30 days following the expiration of that cure period.

(z) “Other Severance Arrangements” means any plans, policies, guidelines, arrangements, agreements, letters and/or other communication, whether formal or informal, written or oral
sponsored by the Company or any of its Affiliates and/or entered into by any representative of the Company or any of its Affiliates that might otherwise provide severance benefits upon a Covered
Termination.

(aa) “Participant” means an Eligible Employee who is designated as a Participant by the Committee, subject to the requirements of Section 2. For purposes hereof, the Committee shall be
permitted to (i) designate groups of Eligible Employees by category, job title or other classification it deems appropriate as Participants without the need to identify any individual Participant by
name, provided that the Committee may determine in its sole discretion that any one or more Eligible Employees within a designated group shall not be a Participant in the Plan and (ii) delegate to
Company management the authority to determine whether specific individuals qualify as Participants within the parameters set forth by the Committee.

*Amended April 12, 2024

(bb) “Person” means any individual, entity or group (within the meaning of Section 13(d)(3) or 14(d)(2) of the Exchange Act).

(cc) “Release Agreement” means a release and/or waiver of claims in the form customarily provided by the Company Group to terminated employees, pursuant to which a Participant may be
required to (i) acknowledge the receipt of the severance payment and other benefits, and (ii) release the Company and its Affiliates (including the Employer and its Affiliates) and other Persons
designated by the Company from any and all claims and liabilities, whether known or unknown, or suspected or unsuspected, from the beginning of time until Participant’s execution of the Release
Agreement, including without limitation, those arising from his or her employment or termination thereof (other than with respect to the Participant’s rights under the Plan).

(dd) “Severance Pay” means the Cash Severance Amount set forth on Appendix B for each Participant, payable in substantially equal installments in accordance with the Company’s payroll
practices as in effect from time to time over the applicable number of months set forth on Appendix B.

(ee) “Severance Period” means the number of months set forth on Appendix B indicating the time the Cash Severance Amount will be paid to each Participant for a Covered Termination.
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(ff) “Stock Plan” means the OptimizeRx Corporation 2021 Equity Incentive Plan, as amended from time to time (or any successor plan thereto adopted by the Company for the purpose of
providing equity and other incentive compensation to the employees and other service providers of the Company or its Affiliates).

(gg) “Subsidized COBRA Period” means, with respect to any Participant, the period set forth on Appendix B, as attached hereto, as applicable.

(hh) “Target Bonus” means the Participant’s target annual bonus under the Annual Bonus Program.
*Amended April 12, 2024
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Appendix B
Severance Payments on Covered Termination

Participant

Subsidized COBRA Period

Cash Severance Amount

Edward Stelmakh William
Febbo

From the date of the Covered Termination until the earliest of (x) 12 months thereafter, (y) the date the Participant becomes
eligible for coverage under a subsequent employer’s health plan, or (z) the date the Participant and/or the Participant’s
beneficiary(ies) cease to be eligible under COBRA.

1.0 times the Participant’s Base Salary,
paid in installments over 12 months

Stephen L. Silvestro

From the date of the Covered Termination until the earliest of (x) 12 months thereafter, (y) the date the Participant becomes
eligible for coverage under a subsequent employer’s health plan, or (z) the date the Participant and/or the Participant’s
beneficiary(ies) cease to be eligible under COBRA.

1.0 1.5 times the Participant’s Base
Salary, paid in equal installments over
12 18 months

Stephen Silvestro

Marion Odence-Ford

From the date of the Covered Termination until the earliest of (x) 12 months thereafter, (y) the date the Participant becomes
eligible for coverage under a subsequent employer’s health plan, or (z) the date the Participant and/or the Participant’s
beneficiary(ies) cease to be eligible under COBRA.

1.0 1.5 times the Participant’s Base
Salary, paid in equal installments over
12 18 months

Edward Stelmakh

Todd Inman

From the date of the Covered Termination until the earliest of (x) 6 12 months thereafter, (y) the date the Participant becomes
eligible for coverage under a subsequent employer’s health plan, or (z) the date the Participant and/or the Participant’s
beneficiary(ies) cease to be eligible under COBRA.

0.5 1.0 times the Participant’s Base
Salary, paid in equal installments over
612 months

Marion Odence-Ford

From the date of the Covered Termination until the earliest of (x) 6 12 months thereafter, (y) the date the Participant becomes

0.5 1.0 times the Participant’s Base

beneficiary(ies) cease to be eligible under COBRA.

Douglas Besch eligible for coverage under a subsequent employer’s health plan, or (z) the date the Participant and/or the Participant’s | Salary, paid in equal installments over
beneficiary(ies) cease to be eligible under COBRA. 612 months

Douglas Besch
From the date of the Covered Termination until the earliest of (x) 6 months thereafter, (y) the date the Participant becomes

Andy D'Silva eligible for coverage under a subsequent employer’s health plan, or (z) the date the Participant and/or the Participant’s |0.5 times the Participant’s Base Salary,

paid in equal installments over 6 months

Theresa Greco

From the date of the Covered Termination until the earliest of (x) 6 months thereafter, (y) the date the Participant becomes
eligible for coverage under a subsequent employer’s health plan, or (z) the date the Participant and/or the Participant’s
beneficiary(ies) cease to be eligible under COBRA.

0.5 times the Participant’s Base Salary,
paid in equal installments over 6 months

*Amended April 12, 2024
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Appendix C
Payments on Change in Control Covered Termination

Participant CIC Covered Termination Payment Amount

Edward Stelmakh William Febbo 5.0 times the Participant’s Base Salary

Stephen Silvestro 2.0 times the Participant’s Base Salary

Stephen L. Silvestro Edward Stelmakh 2.0 times the Participant’s Base Salary

Marion Odence-Ford 2.0 times the Participant’s Base Salary

Todd Inman 1.0 times the Participant’s Base Salary

Douglas Besch 1.0 times the Participant’s Base Salary

Andy D’Silva Theresa Greco 1.0 times the Participant’s Base Salary
*Amended April 12, 2024

Exhibit A

OPTIMIZERX CORPORATION
BUSINESS PROTECTION AGREEMENT
In consideration of my employment with OptimizeRx Corporation, a Nevada corporation with its principal place of business in Rochester, Michigan, Waltham, Massachusetts, (the
“Company”), and in recognition that (i) as an employee of the Company I will have access to Confidential Information (defined in Section 9 below), customers and corporate opportunities of
Company, and (ii) if I become employed or affiliated with a Competing Organization (defined in Section 9 below), Company will be at risk, I agree with Company as follows:

1. Confidential Information.

a. No Unauthorized Disclosure or Use. While employed by Company and thereafter, I shall not, directly or indirectly, use or disclose to anyone outside of Company any Confidential
Information other than pursuant to my employment by and for the benefit of Company.

b. Ownership of Confidential Information. I agree that all originals and all copies of manuscripts, letters, notes, notebooks, reports, models, computer files and other materials containing,
representing, evidencing, recording, or constituting any Confidential Information (created by myself or others) shall be the sole property of Company or the property of third parties who lawfully
disclosed the Confidential Information under obligations of confidentiality.

c. Third Party Confidential Information. I understand that Company from time to time has in its possession information which is claimed by others to be proprietary or confidential and which
Company has agreed or is under an obligation to keep confidential. I agree that all such information shall be Confidential Information for purposes of this Agreement.

2. Developments.

a. Ownership. I agree that all Developments (defined in Section 9 below) created during the period of my employment with Company (whether or not made on Company’s premises, during
work hours or disclosed by me to Company), together with all products or services which embody these Developments, shall be the sole property of Company.

b. Assignment and Cooperation. I agree, for all Developments created during the period of my employment with Company or during the six month period following termination of my
employment with Company, (i) to make and maintain adequate and current written records of all Developments, and to disclose all Developments promptly, fully and in writing to Company
immediately upon development of the same and at any time upon request, (ii) that I hereby assign and will assign to Company all my right, title and interest in and to all Developments and to
anything tangible which evidences, incorporates, constitutes, represents or records any Developments, (iii) to cooperate and assist Company in obtaining and maintaining any governmental protection
it may seek for Developments, and to execute all documents that may be required therefor, and (iv) if any Developments constitute works made for hire under the laws of the United States, they shall
be exclusive property of the Company, and should any Developments be held by a court of competent jurisdiction not to be a ‘work made for hire’, I hereby and will assign to Company all copyrights,
patents and other proprietary rights I may have in any Developments, together with rights to file for and own wholly without restriction United States and foreign copyrights, patents, and trademarks
with respect thereto. In the event the Company is unable to secure my signature on any application for patent, copyright or other analogous protection relating to any Development, whether because of
my physical or mental incapacity or for any other reason whatsoever, I hereby irrevocably designate and appoint the Company and its duly authorized officers and agents as my agent and attorney-in-
fact (which designation and appointment shall be (i) deemed coupled with an interest and (ii) irrevocable, and shall survive my death or incapacity), to act for and in my behalf and stead to execute
and file any application and to do all other lawfully permitted acts to further the prosecution and issuance of patents, copyrights or other analogous protections with the same legal force and effect as
if executed by me.

*Amended April 12, 2024

c. Prior Developments. I agree that the foregoing assignment covers all results, outputs and products of my work for Company prior to the date hereof (whether as an employee or as a
consultant), and that all related copyrights, patents and other intellectual property rights, and that all such results, output and products are Developments and the sole property of Company.

3. Exceptions to this Agreement. I understand that Company does not desire to acquire from me any trade secrets or confidential business information that I may have acquired from others. I
have informed Company, in the space below, of any (i) continuing obligations that I may have to any previous employers which require me not to disclose information to Company or compete with
any such previous employers; and (ii) confidential information or developments which I claim as my own or otherwise intend to exclude from this Agreement because it was developed by me prior to
the date of this Agreement. I understand that after execution of this Agreement I shall have no right to exclude confidential information or developments from this Agreement.

(If there are none, please enter the word “None”; attach additional pages as necessary)

Note: For obligations not to disclose information to Company or compete with any such previous employers, give the date of each obligation, identify the parties owed each obligation and
the nature of any restriction. Please attach any such agreement(s) to this Agreement.

secure its rights hereunder and to carry out the intent of this Agreement.
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5. Return of Property. At any time upon the request of Company, and in any event upon cessation of employment, I shall return promptly to Company all Company property, including all
Confidential Information and Developments and any copies thereof.

6. Employment At-Will. Nothing in this Agreement shall require that Company employ me for any period of time. I understand that I am an employee-at-will and that my employment
relationship with Company may be terminated by Company or me at any time for any reason, with or without prior notice. I further understand that the employment-at-will relationship between me
and Company cannot be modified by oral or written statements from supervisors, managers or others at Company; the at-will nature of my employment with Company can only be modified by a
written agreement signed by the CEO of Company.

*Amended April 12, 2024

7. Restrictive Covenants.

a. I acknowledge and agree that Company has invested substantial time, money and resources in the development of its Confidential Information and the development and retention of its
customers, clients, collaborators, and employees. I further acknowledge that during the course of my employment, I may be introduced to customers, clients, and collaborators of Company, and agree
that any “goodwill” associated with any customer, client, or collaborator belongs exclusively to Company. In recognition of the foregoing, I specifically acknowledge and agree that while I am
employed by Company and for a period of one (1) year after termination of such employment (for any reason, whether voluntary or involuntary) I will not directly or indirectly in any position or
capacity engage in the following activities for myself or for any other person, business, corporation, partnership or other entity:

(i) call upon, solicit, divert, or accept, or attempt to solicit or divert any of Company’s business or prospective business from any of Company’s customers, clients, or collaborators, or
prospective customers, clients, or collaborators with whom I had contact or whose dealings with Company I coordinated or supervised or about whom I obtained Confidential Information, unless I
obtain prior written consent of Company;

(ii) refer, request, solicit, induce, hire (or attempt or assist in doing any of these actions) any employee or other persons (including consultants) who may have performed work or services for
Company within one (1) year prior to the termination of my employment with Company to perform work or services for any person or entity other than Company; or

(iii) become employed by, associated with or render services to any Competing Organization in connection with any Competing Product anywhere in the world where Company does
business or is planning to do business. I understand and agree that this covenant not to compete is reasonable in that I can continue my chosen profession when I leave the employment of Company so
long as I do not work for companies that are Competing Organizations in connection with Competing Products and so long as I do not disclose confidential, proprietary and trade secret information of
Company. I understand and agree that it does not impose an unnecessary restraint because of the nature of the confidential, proprietary and trade secret information of Company related to the
Competing Products which mandates protection in the geographical areas described above. I also understand and agree that the covenant is necessary to protect the goodwill and confidential,
proprietary and trade secret information of Company.

I ACKNOWLEDGE THAT THESE RESTRICTIONS SHALL APPLY AND BE BINDING REGARDLESS OF CHANGES IN MY POSITION, DUTIES, GEOGRAPHIC LOCATION,
RESPONSIBILITIES OR COMPENSATION DURING MY EMPLOYMENT.

b. Confirmation of Post-Employment Status. I agree to inform Company, for a period of one year following the termination of my employment, of every place of employment and every
affiliation I have in a company or business enterprise, directly or indirectly, as an employee, owner, manager, stockholder, consultant, director, officer, or partner. If I fail to so inform Company, and I
have violated the obligations set forth in this Section 7, the one-year period shall run from the date that Company first learned of my activity.

c. Small Ownership Exemption. The provisions of this Section 7 shall not apply to ownership of less than one percent (1%) of the stock of any publicly traded corporation.

8. Corporate Compliance. I agree that I will abide by all policies and procedures that Company may have in effect from time to time, including without limitation, the Code of Conduct,
Acceptable Use Policy, or any other corporate compliance programs or polices. I further acknowledge that failure to abide by policies and procedures may result in discipline, including immediate
termination of my employment. Nothing herein limits my at-will employment with Company, pursuant to paragraph six (6) above.

*Amended April 12, 2024

9. Definitions. The following terms, as used in this Agreement, shall have the meanings set forth below:

a. “Competing Organization” shall mean persons, organizations, or any other entity, including myself, engaged in, or considering to become engaged in, research or development, production,
distribution, marketing, providing or selling of a Competing Product.

b. “Competing Product” shall mean products, processes, or services of any person, organization, or entity other than Company, in existence or under development, which are substantially
similar, may be substituted for, or applied to substantially similar end use of the products, processes or services with which I worked on in any capacity, including a sales or marketing capacity, at any
time during my employment with Company or about which I acquired Confidential Information through my work with Company.

c. “Confidential “Confidential Information” shall mean all trade secrets, proprietary information, and other data or information (and any tangible evidence, record or representation thereof),
whether prepared, conceived or developed by an employee of Company (including myself) or received by Company from an outside source, which is in the possession of Company (whether or not
the property of Company) and which is maintained in confidence by Company, including, but not limited to: (i) technical and business information; (ii) information relating to the design,
manufacture, application, know-how, research and development of Company’s products and services including Developments; (iii) sources of supply and material; (iv) operating and other cost data;
(v) information relating to present, past or prospective customers, customer relationships, customer proposals, price lists and data relating to pricing of products or services; (vi) patient medical
records and all other information relating to patients; and (vii) any other information not generally known in the industry, including specifically, all information contained in manuals, memoranda,
formulae, plans, drawings and designs, specifications, supply sources, and records of Company whether or nor legended or otherwise identified by Company as “Confidential Information.”
Notwithstanding the foregoing, the term Confidential Information shall not apply to information which senior management of Company has voluntarily disclosed to the public without restriction or
which has otherwise lawfully entered the public domain.

d. “Developments” shall mean all Confidential Information and all other discoveries, inventions, ideas, concepts, research and other information, processes, products, methods and
improvements, or parts thereof (including, without limitation, all computer programs, algorithms, subroutines, source codes, object codes, designs, and improvements), conceived, developed, or
otherwise made by me, alone or jointly with others and in any way relating to the Corporation's Corporation’s present or proposed services, programs or products or to tasks assigned to me during the
course of my employment, whether or not patentable or subject to copyright protection and whether or not reduced to tangible form or reduced to practice.

e. “Company” includes OptimizeRx and all other companies or entities currently or which in the future are related or affiliated with OptimizeRx.

*Amended April 12, 2024

10. Miscellaneous Provisions.

a. Entire Agreement and Amendment. This Agreement contains the entire and only agreement between Company and me respecting the subject matter hereof, and it supersedes all prior
agreements and representations with regard to the subject matter hereof; provided however, to the extent I have a prior written agreement with Company regarding confidentiality, noncompetition,
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nonsolicitation, and/or developments, that agreement shall remain in full force and effect, as applicable. In the event of any inconsistency between this Agreement and any other contract between
Company and me, the provisions of this Agreement shall prevail (unless such other contract expressly supersedes this Agreement). No modification of this Agreement shall be binding upon me or
Company unless made in writing and signed by an authorized officer of Company.

b. Survival and Waivers. This Agreement will remain in effect if I am transferred, promoted, or reassigned to work on functions other than my present functions anywhere within Company.
My obligations under this Agreement shall survive the termination of my employment with Company regardless of the manner of or reasons for such termination, and regardless of whether such
termination constitutes a breach of any other agreement I may have with Company. This Agreement shall inure to the benefit of, and be binding upon, Company and me and our respective heirs, legal
representatives, successors and assigns. This Agreement may be assigned by Company for no additional consideration and without my consent to any successor entity in the event of a merger,
acquisition, change of control, or sale of all or a part of the business or assets of Company. I acknowledge that the term “Company,” as used in this Agreement, shall also mean any such successor
entity as the context requires. Failure by Company to insist upon strict compliance with any term of this Agreement shall not be deemed a waiver of that or any other right.

c. Interpretation. In the event that any provision of this Agreement shall be determined to be unenforceable by any court of competent jurisdiction by reason of its extending for too great a
period of time or over too large a geographic area or over too great a range of activities, it shall be interpreted to extend only over the maximum period of time, geographic area or range of activities
as to which it may be enforceable. If after application of the immediately preceding sentence, any provision of this Agreement shall be determined to be invalid, illegal or otherwise unenforceable by
any court of competent jurisdiction, the validity, legality and enforceability of the other provisions of this Agreement shall not be affected. Except as otherwise provided in this paragraph, any invalid,
illegal or unenforceable provision of this Agreement shall be severable and all other provisions hereof shall remain in full force and effect.

d. Equitable Relief. I acknowledge and agree that (i) the provisions set forth in this Agreement are necessary and reasonable to protect Company’s Confidential Information and goodwill; (ii)
the specific time, geography and scope provisions set forth in Section 7 are reasonable and necessary to protect Company’s business interests; and (iii) in the event of my breach of any of the
agreements set forth in this Agreement, Company would suffer substantial irreparable harm and that Company would not have an adequate remedy at law for such breach. In recognition of the
foregoing, I agree that in the event of a breach or threatened breach of any of these covenants, in addition to such other remedies as Company may have at law, without posting any bond or security,
Company shall be entitled to seek and obtain equitable relief, in the form of specific performance, or temporary, preliminary or permanent injunctive relief, or any other equitable remedy which then
may be available.

e. Governing Law and Jurisdiction. This Agreement shall be governed by, and construed and enforced in accordance with, the substantive laws of the state of Michigan Nevada without
regard to its principles of conflicts of laws, and shall be deemed to be effective as of the first day of my employment by Company. I further agree that I shall be subject to the jurisdiction of the courts
of the state of Michigan in any action brought by Company in connection with any of the provisions of this Agreement. Both parties further acknowledge that venue shall lie in Michigan, unless
another venue is designated by Company, and that material witnesses and documents are located in Michigan. Both parties further agree that any action, demand, claim or counterclaim relating to this
Agreement shall be resolved by a judge alone, and both parties hereby waive and forever renounce the right to a trial before a civil jury.

*Amended April 12, 2024

BY PLACING MY SIGNATURE HEREUNDER, I ACKNOWLEDGE THAT I HAVE HAD ADEQUATE OPPORTUNITY TO REVIEW THESE TERMS AND CONDITIONS AND TO
REFLECT UPON AND CONSIDER THE TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF THIS AGREEMENT. I FURTHER ACKNOWLEDGE THAT I FULLY UNDERSTAND ITS TERMS AND THAT I
VOLUNTARILY EXECUTED THIS AGREEMENT.

EMPLOYEE:
Date: By:
Print Name:
ACCEPTED:

ACCEPTED:

OPTIMIZERx CORPORATION
Date: By:

Name:

Its:
*Amended April 12, 2024
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Exhibit 19.1

OPTIMIZERX CORPORATION
INSIDER TRADING POLICY

This Insider Trading Policy (“Policy”) provides the standards of OptimizeRx Corporation (“OptimizeRx” or the “Company”) with respect to transactions in securities of the Company and the
handling of confidential information about OptimizeRx and the companies with which OptimizeRx does business. The federal securities laws prohibit insider trading. Insider trading occurs when a
person uses material non-public information obtained through involvement with the Company to make decisions to engage in transactions in the Company’s securities or transmits such information to
any other person who may trade on the information. Please note that this insider trading policy supplements the restrictions set forth in the Company’s Code of Business Conduct and Ethics.
This Policy applies to all transactions in the Company’s securities, including common stock, options and any other securities that the Company may issue, such as preferred stock, notes, bonds and
convertible securities, as well as to derivative securities relating to any of the Company’s securities, whether or not issued by the Company (referred to in this Policy as the “Company’s securities”).
The term “transactions” or “trading” means broadly any purchase, sale or other transaction to acquire, transfer or dispose of securities, including market option exercises, gifts or other contributions,
exercises of stock options granted under the Company’s equity plans, sales of stock acquired upon the exercise of options and the vesting of restricted stock and restricted stock units and trades made
under an employee benefit plan.
Section 1 hereof applies to all of the directors, officers and employees of the Company and its subsidiaries. Section 1 of this Policy also applies to such persons’ family members, other members of
such persons’ households and entities controlled by such persons, as described in more detail below. The Company may also determine that other persons should be subject to Section 1 of this Policy,
such as contractors or consultants. Section 2 hereof applies to all directors and Officers of the Company and the employees described in Appendix A hereto. Section 2 of this Policy also applies to
such persons’ family members, other members of such persons’ households and entities controlled by such persons, as described in more detail below. Section 3 hereof sets forth additional
requirements applicable to directors and Officers of the Company.
If this Policy applies to you, it also applies to family members who reside with you (including a spouse, a child, a child away at college, stepchildren, grandchildren, parents, stepparents,
grandparents, siblings, in-laws and adoptive relationships) or are financially dependent on you, and also includes other family members whose transaction in securities are directed by you or are
subject to your influence or control (collectively referred to as “Family Members”). This Policy also applies to any other person who lives in your household and to any legal entities (such as a
corporation, partnership or trust) that are influenced or controlled by you (collectively referred to as “Controlled Entities”).
Transactions by your Family Members, household members and Controlled Entities should be treated for the purposes of this Policy as if they were for your own account. Accordingly, all references

h ) hold h

to you with regard to all trading restrictions and pre-clearance procedures in this Policy also apply to your Family M S, s and Controlled Entities. You are personally
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responsible for the actions of your Family Members, household members and Controlled Entities.
The Company has established a “Compliance Committee,” consisting of the Company’s General Counsel, Chief Financial Officer and Chief Executive. All determinations and interpretations by a
member of the Compliance Committee shall be final and not subject to further review.
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Exhibit 10.19
Any violation of this Policy may result in immediate dismissal and may subject you to both civil and criminal penalties. This is an extremely important matter, and we urge you to read the following
with care. If you have any questions about this Policy, including its application to any proposed transaction, you may obtain additional guidance from a member of the Compliance Committee. Do not
try to resolve uncertainties on your own, as the rules relating to insider trading are often complex, not always intuitive and carry severe consequences.

March 8, 2023 Section 1: Trading Restrictions and Guidelines
Mr. William FebboSection 1 of this Policy applies to all of the directors, officers and employees of the Company and its subsidiaries. Section 1 of this Policy also applies to such persons’ Family

Members, household members and Controlled Entities. All references to you with regard to all trading restrictions in this Policy also apply to your Family Members, household members and
Controlled Entities. The Company may also determine that other persons should be subject to Section 1 of this Policy, such as contractors or consultants.

Re: Fourth General Policy - Prohibition Against Trading On or Tipping Material Non-Public Information
Addendum A.
While in the possession of material non-public information relating to OptimizeRx, you may not directly or indirectly through family members or other persons or entities:
il Engage in transactions in Company securities, except as otherwise specified in this Policy under the heading “Certain Exceptions to the Offer Letter, dated February 25, 2019, as
amended, by and between Trading Restrictions in this Policy.”
William Febbo
2. Recommend the purchase or sale of any Company securities; or
3. Communicate material non-public information concerning OptimizeRx to any other person (including relatives, friends or business associates), except to the extent necessary to

perform authorized work for OptimizeRx or as required or specifically permitted by law or legal process. Nor should such information be discussed with any person within
OptimizeRx under circumstances where it could be overheard. Written information should be appropriately safeguarded and should not be left where it may be seen by persons
not entitled to the information.

longer matt or (ii)_communicate that information or make any recommendation relating to the buying or selling_of securities of such company to any other person, including_family and
OptimizeRx Corporationfriends, business associates, or in any consulting capacity.

Dear Will, There are no exceptions to this Policy, except as specifically noted herein. Transactions that may be necessary or justifiable for independent reasons (such as the need to raise money for an
emergency expenditure), or small transactions, are not excepted from this Policy. The securities laws do not recognize any mitigating circumstances, and, in any event, even the appearance of an
improper transaction must be avoided to preserve the Company’s reputation for adhering to the highest standards of conduct. This means that you may have to forgo a proposed transaction in the
Company’s or another company’s securities even if you planned to make the transaction before learning the material non-public information and even though you believe that waiting may cause you
to suffer an economic loss or not realize anticipated profit.

This Policy continues to apply to transactions in Company securities even after termination of service to OptimizeRx. If an individual is in possession of material non-public information when his or
her service terminates, that individual may not trade in Company securities until that information has become public or is no longer material. Unless notified otherwise by the Company, persons who
leave during a blackout period will continue to be subject to such blackout period after termination of service to OptimizeRx. The pre-clearance procedures specified in Section 2 will cease to apply to
transactions in Company securities upon the expiration of any blackout period or other Company-imposed trading restrictions applicable at the time of the termination of service.
B. Definitions

Material Information. Material information is any information that a reasonable investor would consider important in determining whether to buy, sell or hold securities. Positive or negative
information may be material to investors. A determination as to whether information is material depends on all of the related facts and circumstances. Material information is not limited to historical
facts but may also include projections and forecasts. Materiality is based on an assessment of all the facts and circumstances and is often evaluated by courts and enforcement authorities with the
benefit of hindsight.

On Information that you should consider material includes, but is not limited to:
e  earnings information and quarterly results;

e financial forecasts, including earnings estimates;

e  changes in previously released forecasts;

e  significant merger, acquisition or divestiture proposals or agreements;
e  major customer wins or losses;

e  changes in auditors;

e  significant changes in the Company’s prospects;

e  significant or unusual borrowing or liquidity issues;

®  equity or debt offerings;

e  purchases or redemptions of securities;

e  change in management or the Company’s board of directors;

e  significant related party transactions;

e  development of a significant new product or service;

e  pending or threatened significant litigation, or the resolution of such litigation; and

e  significant cybersecurity incidents.

Non-public Information. Information that has not been disclosed to the public is generally considered to be non-public information. Information is considered to be public when it has been
released in a manner that is reasonably designed to provide broad, non-exclusionary distribution (e.g., by means of a press release or an SEC filing) and after enough time has elapsed to permit the
investment market to absorb and evaluate the information. As a general rule, information should not be considered fully absorbed by the market until after the second business day after the day on
which the information is released. Note that the information disseminated must be some form of “official” announcement. In other words, the fact that rumors, speculation, or statements attributed to
unidentified sources are public is insufficient to be considered broadly distributed even when the information is accurate.

Officer. Officer means the individuals classified by the Company as officers for purposes of SEC rules under Section 16 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange
Act”).

C| Trading Blackout Periods

Quarterly Blackout Periods. You cannot engage in transactions in Company securities during a blackout period. OptimizeRx has established four routine quarterly blackout periods
(“Quarterly Blackout Periods”). Each Quarterly Blackout Period begins at the close of trading on the 15th day of the final month of each fiscal quarter (i.e. March 15th, June 15th, September 15th, and
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December 15th) and ends on the commencement of trading on Nasdaq on the third trading day following the day on which OptimizeRx makes a public news release of its quarterly or annual earnings
for the prior fiscal quarter or fiscal year, as the case may be.

Under certain very limited circumstances, a person subject to this restriction may be permitted to trade during a Quarterly Blackout Period, but only if the Compliance Committee concludes that the
person does not in fact possess material non-public information. Persons wishing to trade during a Quarterly Blackout Period must contact the Compliance Committee for approval at least two
business days in advance of any proposed transaction involving Company securities. Such request may be granted in the sole discretion of the Compliance Committee. Exceptions to the Quarterly
Blackout Periods are granted infrequently and only in exceptional circumstances. All exception requests should be emailed to the Compliance Committee at preclearance@optimizerx.com.

Event-Specific Blackout Periods. In addition to the Quarterly Blackout Periods, the Compliance Committee may issue instructions from time to time advising some or all personnel that they
may not engage in transactions in Company securities for certain periods, or that our securities may not be traded without prior approval (an “Event-Specific Blackout Period”). Due to the
confidential nature of the events that may trigger these sorts of blackout periods, the Compliance Committee may find it necessary to inform affected individuals of a blackout period without
disclosing the reason. If you are made aware of such a blackout period, do not disclose its existence to anyone. Exceptions will not be granted during an Event-Specific Blackout Period.

D. Certain Exceptions to the Trading Restrictions in this Policy
The trading restrictions in this Policy (including the blackout period restrictions) do not apply in the case of the following transactions, except as specifically noted:

Exercise of Stock Options. The trading restrictions in this Policy do not apply to the exercise of an employee stock option acquired pursuant to the Company’s equity plans, or to the exercise
of a tax withholding right pursuant to which a person has elected to have the Company withhold shares subject to an option to satisfy tax withholding requirements. The trading restrictions in this
Policy do apply, however, to any sale of stock as part of a broker-assisted cashless exercise of an option, or any other market sale for the purpose of generating the cash needed to pay the exercise
price of an option.

Vesting_of Restricted Stock Awards and Restricted Stock Unit Awards. The trading restrictions in this Policy do not apply to the vesting of restricted stock or restricted stock units, or the
exercise of a tax withholding right pursuant to which you elect to have the Company withhold shares of stock to satisfy tax withholding requirements upon the vesting of any restricted stock or
restricted stock unit. The trading restrictions in this Policy do apply, however, to any market sale of restricted stock and shares of stock received upon the vesting of restricted stock units.

Rule 10b5-1 Trading Plan. The trading restrictions in this Policy do not apply to purchases or sales of the Company’s securities pursuant to a pre-approved Rule 10b5-1 trading program (a
“Rule 10b5-1 Plan”). Implementation of a Rule 10b5-1 Plan under the Exchange Act provides an affirmative defense (which must be proven) from insider trading liability under Rule 10b-5. A Rule
10b5-1 Plan must be entered into at a time when the person entering into the plan is not aware of material non-public information. Once the plan is adopted, the person must not exercise any influence
over the amount of securities to be traded, the price at which they are to be traded or the date of the trade. The plan must either specify the amount, pricing and timing of transactions in advance or
delegate discretion on these matters to an independent third party. Entry into a Rule 10b5-1Plan must comply with the requirements set forth in “Rule 10b5-1 Plans” below.

E. Rule 10b5-1 Plans

Entry into a Rule 10b5-1 Plan requires the prior written approval of the Compliance Committee (which approval may include an email confirmation). Any Rule 10b5-1 Plan must be submitted for
approval five days prior to the entry into the Rule 10b5-1 Plan. All pre-clearance submissions should be emailed to the Compliance Committee at preclearance@optimizerx.com. No further pre-
approval of transactions conducted pursuant to the Rule 10b5-1 Plan will be required. You may not adopt a Rule 10b5-1 Plan during any Quarterly Blackout Period or Event-Specific Blackout Period,
or at a time when you are aware of material non-public information. The following requirements apply to all Rule 10b5-1 Plans:

directors and Officers may not commence sales under a Rule 10b5-1 plan until the later of (i) 90 days following the date of adoption or modification of such plan; or (ii) two business

days following the disclosure of the Company’s financial results in a Form 10-K or Form 10-Q relating to the fiscal quarter in which the Rule 10b5-1 plan was adopted or modified

(but not to exceed 120 days following plan adoption or modification);

all persons other than directors and Officers, may not commence sales under a Rule 10b5-1 plan until 30 days following the date of adoption or modification of such plan;

directors and Officers must provide a representation in the Rule 10b5-1 plan certifying that, on the date of adoption or modification of the plan, they (i) are not aware of material
nonpublic information about the Company or its securities; and (ii) are adopting or modifying the plan in good faith and not as part of a plan or scheme to evade the prohibitions of
Rule 10b-5;

subject to the limited exceptions set forth in Rule 10b5-1, you may not maintain multiple, overlapping plans;
subject to the limited exceptions set forth in Rule 10b5-1, you can utilize only one single-trade plan (i.e. a plan designed to effect only a single transaction) during any 12 month
period; and
you must act in good faith with respect to the Rule 10b5-1 plan, not just in connection with entering into the plan.
The Company may impose additional restrictions on Rule 10b5-1 Plans, including without limitation:
e  requiring that all plans be managed by an administrator selected by the Company;

e  restrictions on termination or modification of plans;
e  prohibition on entry into new plans for extended periods following termination of an existing plan; and

e  prescribed periods during which persons may enter into plans.
Modification or termination of Rule 10b5-1 Plans are generally discouraged absent compelling circumstances. Any modification to any Rule 10b5-1 Plan is treated as the entry into a new plan and
must comply with all of the above requirements.

E. Violations of Insider Trading Laws
Penalties for trading on or communicating material non-public information can be severe, both for individuals involved in such unlawful conduct and their employers and supervisors, and may
include jail terms, criminal fines, civil penalties and civil enforcement injunctions. Given the severity of the potential penalties, compliance with this Policy is absolutely mandatory. Individuals also
may be prohibited from serving as directors or officers of the Company or any other public company. Keep in mind that there are no limits on the size of a transaction that will trigger insider trading
liability; relatively small trades have in the past occasioned SEC investigations and lawsuits.

Legal Penalties. A person who violates insider trading laws by engaging in transactions in a company’s securities when he or she has material non-public information can be sentenced to a
substantial jail term and required to pay a penalty of several times the amount of profits gained or losses avoided.

In addition, a person who tips others may also be liable for transactions by the tippees to whom he or she has disclosed material non-public information. Tippers can be subject to the same penalties
and sanctions as the tippees, and the SEC has imposed large penalties even when the tipper did not profit from the transaction. The SEC can also seek substantial penalties from any person who, at the
time of an insider trading violation, “directly or indirectly controlled the person who committed such violation,” which would apply to the Company and/or management and supervisory personnel.

Company-imposed Penalties. An individual who violates this Policy may be subject to disciplinary action by the Company, including dismissal or removal for cause.

G. Additional Guidelines
The Company considers it improper and inappropriate for those employed by or associated with the Company to engage in short-term or speculative transactions in the Company’s securities or in
other transactions in the Company’s securities that may lead to inadvertent violations of the insider trading laws. It therefore is the Company’s policy that any persons covered by this Policy may not
engage in any of the following transactions (even if they do not possess material non-public information):

Short Sales. You may not engage in short sales of the Company’s securities (sales of securities that are not then owned), including a “sale against the box” (a sale with delayed delivery).
Short sales of Company securities may evidence an expectation on the part of the seller that the securities will decline in value, and therefore have the potential to signal to the market that the seller
lacks confidence in the Company’s prospects. In addition, short sales may reduce a seller’s incentive to seek to improve the Company’s performance. For these reasons, short sales of Company
securities are prohibited.

Publicly Traded Options. You may not engage in transactions in publicly traded options related to the Company’s securities, such as puts, calls and other derivative securities, on an exchange
or in any other organized market. Given the relatively short term of publicly traded options, transactions in options related to the Company’s securities may create the appearance that you are trading
based on material non-public information and focus your attention on short-term performance at the expense of the Company’s long-term objectives. Accordingly, transactions in publicly traded
options related to the Company’s securities on an exchange or in any other organized market are prohibited by this Policy.

Hedging_Transactions. Hedging or monetization transactions can be accomplished through a number of possible mechanisms, including through the use of financial instruments such as
prepaid variable forwards, equity swaps, collars and exchange funds. Such hedging transactions may permit you to continue to own Company securities obtained through employee benefit plans or
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otherwise, but without the full risks and rewards of ownership. When that occurs, you may no longer have the same objectives as the Company’s other stockholders. Therefore, you are prohibited
from engaging in any such transactions.
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Margin Accounts and Pledges. Securities held in a margin account or pledged as collateral for a loan may be sold without your consent by the broker if you fail to meet a margin call or by
the lender in foreclosure if you default on the loan. A margin or foreclosure sale that occurs when you are aware of material non-public information may, under some circumstances, result in unlawful
insider trading. Therefore, you are prohibited from holding Company securities in margin accounts or pledging Company securities as collateral for a loan.

Section 2: Additional Restrictions Applicable to Directors, Officers and Designated Employees
Section 2 of this Policy imposes additional restrictions and applies to all directors and Officers of the Company and the employees described in Appendix A hereto (“Designated Employees”). This
section of the Policy also applies to such persons’ Family Members, household members and Controlled Entities.
A. Pre-Clearance
OptimizeRx requires that all directors, Officers and Designated Employees, as well as their respective Family Members, household members and Controlled Entities, obtain prior written approval
from the Compliance Committee (which approval may include an email confirmation) before engaging in any transaction in Company securities. A request for pre-clearance should be submitted to
the Compliance Committee at least two business days in advance of the proposed transaction. The Compliance Committee is under no obligation to approve a transaction submitted for pre-clearance,
and may determine not to permit the transaction. If a person seeks pre-clearance and permission to engage in the transaction is denied, then he or she should refrain from initiating any transaction in
Company securities, and should not inform any other person of the restriction. If approved, the transaction must be completed within five business days, but in no event after the commencement of a
blackout period. If the transaction does not occur during the five business day period, pre-clearance of the transaction must be re-requested. A form of “Request for Approval” is attached as Appendix
B hereto and should be used to request approval hereunder, unless otherwise notified by a member of the Compliance Committee. All pre-clearance requests should be emailed to the Compliance
Committee at preclearance@optimizerx.com.
The Compliance Committee’s approval of a transaction submitted for pre-clearance does not constitute legal advice, does not constitute confirmation that you do not possess material non-public
information and does not relieve you of any of your legal obligations.
A member of the Compliance Committee may not trade in our securities unless another member of the Compliance Committee has approved the trade(s) in accordance with this Policy’s procedures.
B. Use of Rule 10b5-1 Plans

Directors, Officers and Designated Employees, as well as their respective Family Members, household members and Controlled Entities, who wish to trade in Company securities are strongly
encouraged to trade such securities pursuant to a Rule 10b5-1 Plan. See Section 1E above.

Section 3: Additional Requirements Applicable to Directors and Officers
Directors and Officers of the Company (the “Section 16 Insiders”) are also subject to the reporting and short-swing profit rules under Section 16 of the Exchange Act.

A. Reporting Requirements
Section 16(a) requires the directors and Officers of the Company to file reports with the SEC that identify their beneficial ownership of the Company’s equity securities and any transactions they
make in those securities. A Form 3 must be filed no later than the tenth (10th) calendar day after an individual becomes a director or Officer of the Company, and any subsequent change in beneficial
ownership by a Section 16 Insider must, unless exempt from reporting or eligible for deferred reporting, be reported on a Form 4 filed within two business days. These reports must be filed with the
SEC via EDGAR and are therefore immediately publicly available upon filing. Section 16(a) imposes the obligation to file ownership reports with the SEC on the individual insiders, not on the
Company. However, the Company must disclose any delinquent Section 16 filers in its annual proxy statement and identify the trading information that was not properly filed. While it is not the
Company’s obligation to do so, it is the Company’s practice to assist each of its Section 16 Insiders in filing their Section 16(a) reports’ In order to facilitate timely compliance, a Section 16 Insider (or
his or her broker) must immediately report (no later than the same day such Section 16 Insider engages in the transaction) detailed trade information, in writing, to Company’s General Counsel and
Chief Financial Officer for all transactions made in Company securities by such insider, any family members, household members and entities that such insider controls. Although it is the individual
responsibility and legal obligation of each director and Officer to comply with the reporting requirements described herein, the Compliance Officers will, upon being advised of a transaction,
endeavor to prepare and, pursuant to a power of attorney, timely file Section 16(a) reports on behalf of each Section 16 Insider. A power of attorney (the “POA”) that authorizes Company personnel to
prepare, complete and file Section 16(a) reports, and otherwise act on a Section 16 Insider’s behalf regarding Section 16(a) reports, is attached hereto as Appendix C. Section 16 Insiders who would
like the Company to assist them with their Section 16(a) reports should sign the POA and return it to the Company’s General Counsel and Chief Financial Officer.
In addition to the disclosure requirements imposed by Section 16 of the Exchange Act, directors and Officers of the Company are required to file a Form 144 before making an open market sale of
OptimizeRx securities. Form 144 notifies the SEC of your intent to sell OptimizeRx securities. This form is generally prepared and filed by your broker.

B. Short-Swing Profit Rules
Section 16(b) provides for the recovery of “short-swing” profits from a Section 16 Insider resulting from certain transactions in Company securities “beneficially owned” by them. Specifically, a
Section 16 Insider is required by law to turn over to the Company any “profit” realized upon a purchase followed by a sale, or a sale followed by a purchase, of any equity security of the Company
that is beneficially owned by him or her and made within a period of less than six months. A profit may result even if the purchase and sale involve different types of equity securities. Moreover, any
sale or purchase may be matched with any purchase or sale within the period such that there may be recoverable “profit” even if there has been no economic benefit to the individual in question. The
good faith of a director or Officer is irrelevant to whether recovery is required under Section 16.
Transactions in the Company’s securities by persons related to a Section 16 Insider (e.g., spouse, children, grandchildren and in-laws), or by entities in which he or she may have an indirect interest
(e.g., partnerships, corporations and trusts) may be attributed to the Section 16 Insider. Accordingly, such related persons or entities should be advised not to engage in trades within six months of
trades engaged in by the Section 16 Insider, or engaged in by each other, without considering the implications of the short-swing profit rules.
Approved and adopted: June 22, 2021
Amended: March 7, 2023

Appendix A
DESIGNATED EMPLOYEES
Our current Designated Employees for purposes of our Insider Trading Policy are on file with the Compliance Committee. The Compliance Committee may alter the list of Designated Employees at
any time, in which case the Compliance Committee will provide written notice to any individuals added or removed from such list.

Appendix B
REQUEST FOR APPROVAL TO TRADE COMPANY SECURITIES

Number of Securities (e. g., shares):
Type of Security [check all applicable boxes]

0O Common stock

O Restricted stock

0 Stock Option

O Debt Securities

O Other
Type of Transaction [check all applicable boxes]

O Stock option exercise (must complete applicable exercise form)

O Purchase

0 Sale

O Gift (Name of Donnee)

O Rule 10b5-1 Plan (attach a copy of the 10b5-1 Plan to this request form)

O Sale under benefit plans

O Other
Broker Contact Information

Company Name

Contact Name.

Telephone

Fax

REFINITIV CORPORATE DISCLOSURES | www.refinitiv.com | Contact Us 135/142
©2024 Refinitiv. All rights reserved. Republication or redistribution of Refinitiv content, including by framing or similar means, is prohibited without the prior written R E F I N I T I V I ‘

consent of Refinitiv. 'Refinitiv' and the Refinitiv logo are registered trademarks of Refinitiv and its affiliated companies.


https://www.refinitiv.com/
https://www.refinitiv.com/en/contact-us

Account Number

Social Security or other Tax Identification Number
Status (check all applicable boxes and complete blanks)

O Employee — Citizenship, , Country in which you are based

0 Board Member
I am not currently in possession of any material non-public information relating to OptimizeRx Corporation. I hereby certify that the statements made on this form are true and correct. I have also
discussed any questions I had with respect to OptimizeRx’s insider trading policy and its applicability to the transactions contemplated hereby with a member of the Compliance Committee.
Signature Print Name
Date: Telephone Number

(office use only)
Request Approved (transaction must be completed within 5 business days after approval)
Request Denied

Request Approved with the following modification:
Signature & Date

Appendix C
POWER OF ATTORNEY

Know all by these presents, that the undersigned hereby constitutes and appoints each of Marion Odence-Ford and Ed Stelmakh, individually, with full power of substitution, the undersigned’s true
and lawful attorney-in-fact to:

1) execute for and on behalf of the undersigned, in the undersigned’s capacity as an officer and/or director of OptimizeRx Corporation (the “Company”), we are delighted to provide you Forms 3,
4, and 5 in accordance with this letter agreement (this “Fourth Addendum”), effective as Section 16(a) of March 8, 2023 (the “Effective Date”), which will update the Securities Exchange Act of 1934
and amend the letter agreement dated February 25, 2019, as amended on March 10, 2020, September 24, 2020 and September 22, 2021 (as amended, the “Offer Letter), by and between the Company
and William Febbo (the “Executive”).rules thereunder;

Change in Control Termination(2) do and perform any and all acts for and on behalf of the undersigned which may be necessary or desirable to complete and execute any such Form 3, 4, or 5,
complete and execute any amendment or amendments thereto, and timely file such form with the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission and any stock exchange or similar authority; and

If(3) take any other action of any type whatsoever in connection with the Executive’s employment is terminated (i) foregoing which, in the opinion of such attorney-in-fact, may be of benefit to,
in the best interest of, or legally required by, the Company without Cause, or (ii) by the Executive following an event constituting Good Reason (provided undersigned, it being understood that the
Executive has given written notice documents executed by such attorney-in-fact on behalf of the undersigned pursuant to this Power of Attorney shall be in such form and shall contain such terms and
conditions as such attorney-in-fact may approve in such attorney-in-fact’s discretion.

The undersigned hereby grants to each such attorney-in-fact, individually, full power and authority to do and perform any and every act and thing whatsoever requisite, necessary, or proper to be done
in the Company exercise of any of the rights and powers herein granted, as fully to all intents and purposes as the undersigned might or could do if personally present, with full power of substitution
or revocation, hereby ratifying and confirming all that each such event within forty-five (45) days attorney-in-fact, or each such attorney-in-fact’s substitute or substitutes, shall lawfully do or cause to
be done by virtue of its occurrence this Power of Attorney and the Company has failed to curerights and powers herein granted. The undersigned acknowledges that each such event within thirty
(30) days following receipt of attorney-in-fact, in serving in such notice), either (A) within the three (3) month period prior to a Change in Control and it is reasonably demonstrated by the Executive
that such termination (x) was capacity at the request of a third party who has taken steps reasonably calculated or intended to effect the Change in Control (and such transaction undersigned, is
actually consummated) or (y) otherwise arose in connection with or in anticipation of a Change in Control (and such transaction not assuming, nor is actually consummated), or (B) within twenty-four
(24) months following a Change in Control (all such terminations, a “CIC-Related Termination™), then the Company shall pay the Executive a lump-sum cash payment in an amount equal to 4.0 times
the Executive’s then current annual Base Salary (“CIC Severance”), payable within 60 days following the later of (Y) the dateassuming, any of the Executive’s termination or (Z) the closing
date undersigned’s responsibilities to comply with Section 16 of the applicable Change in Control. The payment Securities Exchange Act of any amount pursuant hereto shall be conditioned upon the
Executive’s execution, delivery to the Company, and non-revocation of a Release Agreement (and the expiration of any revocation period contained in such Release Agreement). 1934.

The CIC Severance would be provided in addition to any Change in Control Benefits for which the Executive may be eligible pursuant to the Offer Letter. If the Executive experiences a CIC-Related
Termination, the CIC Severance would be provided in lieu This Power of any severance benefits for which you may be eligible pursuant to the Offer Letter.

Definitions

Capitalized terms used in this Addendum and not otherwise defined herein shall have the meanings ascribed to such terms in the Offer Letter.
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“Release Agreement” means a release and/or waiver of claims in the form customarily provided by the Company to terminated employees, pursuant to which the Executive may be required to (i)
acknowledge the receipt of the severance payment, and (ii) release the Company and its affiliates and other persons designated by the Company from any and all claims and liabilities, whether known
or unknown, or suspected or unsuspected, from the beginning of time until Executive’s execution of the Release Agreement, including without limitation, those arising from his employment or
termination thereof (other than with respect to the Executive’s severance or change in control rights under the Offer Letter, as amended from time to time).

Except as otherwise expressly set forth herein, all other terms of the Offer Letter Attorney shall remain in full force and effect. effect until the undersigned is no longer required to file Forms 3, 4, and
5 with respect to the undersigned’s holdings of and transactions in securities issued by the Company, unless earlier revoked by the undersigned in a signed writing delivered to the foregoing attorney-
in-fact.

If you have any questions, please do not hesitate IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned has caused this Power of Attorney to call me to discuss. If this Fourth Addendum is acceptable, please
sign and date below and return one copy be executed as of this Fourth Addendum to the Company.
OPTIMIZERX CORPORATIONday of, 20___.

/s/ Marion Odence-Ford
Marion Odence-Ford Signature

General Counsel & Chief Compliance Officer

Acknowledged and agreed:

/s/ William J. Febbo March 8, 2023

William J. Febbo Date Print Name

C-1

Exhibit 21.1

OptimizeRx Corporation
List of Subsidiaries

e  Healthy Offers, Inc. (d/b/a Medicx Health), a Nevada corporation
e  CareSpeak Communications, Inc., a New Jersey corporation
e  CareSpeak Communications, d.o.o., a controlled foreign corporation incorporated in Croatia

e  Cyberdiet, a controlled foreign corporation incorporated in Israel
Exhibit 23.1

OptimizeRx Corporation, A Michigan corporation
CareSpeak Communications, Inc., a New Jersey corporation
CareSpeak Communications D.O.0., a controlled foreign corporation located in Croatia.
Cyberdiet, a controlled foreign corporation located in Israel

Exhibit 23.1

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We consent to the incorporation by reference in the following registration statements on Form S-3 (File No. 333-252844) and Forms S-8 (File Nos. 333-259218; 333-23760; 333-230212, 333-
210653 333-237630; 333-230212; 333-210653; and 333-189439) of OptimizeRx Corporation and Subsidiaries (the “Company”) of our report dated March 10, 2023 April 15, 2024, with respect to the
consolidated financial statements of the Company as of December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023 and 2021 2022 and for the years then ended, which is included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K of
the Company.

/s/ UHY LLP
Sterling Heights, Michigan
March 10, 2023

/s/ UHY LLP
Sterling Heights, Michigan
April 15, 2024

Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATIONS CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER AND
CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER
PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

1, William J. Febbo, certify that;

1. Ihave reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023, of OptimizeRx Corp (the “registrant”);

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the
circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations
and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
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The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-
15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a.a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating
to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b.b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance
regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

c.c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and
procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d.d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth
fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit
committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

a.a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the
registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b.b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

Date: March 10, 2023 April 15, 2024

/s/ William J. Febbo

By:
Title:

William J. Febbo
Chief Executive Officer, Principal Executive Officer

Exhibit 31.2

CERTIFICATIONS CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER AND
CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER
PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Edward Stelmakh, certify that;

I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023, of OptimizeRx Corp (the “registrant”);

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the
circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations
and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-
15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a.a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating
to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b.b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance
regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

c.c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and
procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d.d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth
fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit
committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
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a.a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the
registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b.b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

Date: April 15, 2024

Date: March 10, 2023

/s/ Edward Stelmakh

By: Edward Stelmakh

Title: Chief Financial Officer, Principal Financial Officer and Principal
Accounting Officer

Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER AND
CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER
PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the annual Report of OptimizeRx Corp (the “Company”) on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023 filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission (the “Report”), I, William J. Febbo, Chief Executive Officer of the Company, and I, Edward Stelmakh, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of
the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that: that

1. The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

2. The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the consolidated financial condition of the Company as of the dates presented and the consolidated result of
operations of the Company for the periods presented.

By: /s/ William J. Febbo

Name:  William J. Febbo

Title: Chief Executive Officer, Principal Executive Officer
Date: March 10, 2023 April 15, 2024

By: /s/ Edward Stelmakh
Name:  Edward Stelmakh
Title: Chief Financial Officer, Principal Financial Officer and Principal

Accounting Officer
Date: March 10, 2023 April 15, 2024

This certification has been furnished solely pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
Exhibit 97.1
OPTIMIZERX CORPORATION
CLAWBACK POLICY
The Board of Directors (the “Board”) of OptimizeRx Corporation (the “Company”) has determined that it is in the best interests of the Company to adopt this Clawback Policy (this “Policy”), which
provides for the recovery of certain incentive compensation in the event of an Accounting Restatement (as defined below). This Policy is designed to comply with, and shall be interpreted to be
consistent with, Section 10D of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”), Rule 10D-1 promulgated under the Exchange Act (“Rule 10D-1”) and Nasdaq Listing Rule
5608.
1. Definitions
For purposes of this Policy, the following capitalized terms shall have the meanings set forth below.

“Accounting Restatement” means an accounting restatement of the Company’s financial statements due to the Company’s material noncompliance with any financial reporting requirement
under the securities laws, including any required accounting restatement to correct an error in previously issued financial statements that is material to the previously issued financial statements, or
that would result in a material misstatement if the error were corrected in the current period or left uncorrected in the current period.

“Clawback Period” means the three completed fiscal years immediately preceding the date on which the Company is required to prepare an Accounting Restatement, as well as any
transition period (that results from a change in the Company’s fiscal year) within or immediately following those three completed fiscal years (except that a transition period that comprises a period of
at least nine months shall count as a completed fiscal year). The “date on which the Company is required to prepare an Accounting Restatement” is the earlier to occur of (a) the date the Board, a
committee of the Board, or the officer or officers of the Company authorized to take such action if the Board action is not required, concludes, or reasonably should have concluded, that the Company
is required to prepare an Accounting Restatement; or (b) the date a court, regulator or other legally authorized body directs the Company to prepare an Accounting Restatement.

“Erroneously Awarded Compensation” means, in the event of an Accounting Restatement, the amount of Incentive-Based Compensation previously received that exceeds the amount of
Incentive-Based Compensation that otherwise would have been received had it been determined based on the restated amounts in such Accounting Restatement, and must be computed without regard
to any taxes paid by the relevant Executive Officer; provided, however, that for Incentive-Based Compensation based on stock price or total stockholder return, where the amount of Erroneously
Awarded Compensation is not subject to mathematical recalculation directly from the information in an Accounting Restatement: (i) the amount of Erroneously Awarded Compensation must be based
on a reasonable estimate of the effect of the Accounting Restatement on the stock price or total stockholder return upon which the Incentive-Based Compensation was received; and (ii) the Company
must maintain documentation of the determination of that reasonable estimate and provide such documentation to The Nasdaq Stock Market (“Nasdag”).
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“Executive Officer” means the Company’s president, principal financial officer, principal accounting officer (or if there is no such accounting officer, the controller), any vice-president of the
Company in charge of a principal business unit, division, or function (such as sales, administration, or finance), any other officer who performs a policy-making function, or any other person who
performs similar policy-making functions for the Company. An executive officer of the Company’s parent or subsidiary is deemed an “Executive Officer” if the executive officer performs such policy
making functions for the Company.

“Financial Reporting Measure” means any measures that are determined and presented in accordance with the accounting principles used in preparing the Company’s financial statements,
and any measures that are derived wholly or in part from such measures; provided, however, that a Financial Reporting Measure is not required to be presented within the Company’s financial
statements or included in a filing with the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”) to qualify as a “Financial Reporting Measure.” For purposes of this Policy, Financial Reporting
Measures include, but are not limited to, stock price and total stockholder return.

“Incentive-Based Compensation” means any compensation that is granted, earned or vested based wholly or in part upon the attainment of a Financial Reporting Measure. Incentive-Based
Compensation is “received” for purposes of this Policy in the Company’s fiscal period during which the Financial Reporting Measure specified in the Incentive-Based Compensation award is
attained, even if the payment or grant of such Incentive-Based Compensation occurs after the end of that period.

2. Policy Application.

This Policy applies to Incentive-Based Compensation received by an Executive Officer (a) after beginning services as an Executive Officer; (b) if that person served as an Executive Officer at any
time during the performance period for such Incentive-Based Compensation; and (c) while the Company had a listed class of securities on a national securities exchange.

3. Policy Recovery Requirement.

In the event the Company is required to prepare an Accounting Restatement, the Company shall reasonably promptly recoup the amount of any Erroneously Awarded Compensation received by any
Executive Officer during the Clawback Period. In the event of an Accounting Restatement, the Board shall determine, in its sole discretion, the amount of any Erroneously Awarded Compensation for
each Executive Officer in connection with such Accounting Restatement.

4. Method of Recoupment.

The Board shall determine, in its sole discretion, the timing and method for promptly recouping such Erroneously Awarded Compensation, which may include without limitation: (a) seeking
reimbursement of all or part of any cash or equity-based award, (b) cancelling prior cash or equity-based awards, whether vested or unvested or paid or unpaid, (c) cancelling or offsetting against any
planned future cash or equity-based awards, (d) forfeiture of deferred compensation, subject to compliance with Section 409A of the Internal Revenue Code and the regulations promulgated
thereunder and (e) any other method authorized by applicable law or contract. Subject to compliance with any applicable law, the Board may affect recovery under this Policy from any amount
otherwise payable to the Executive Officer, including amounts payable to such individual under any otherwise applicable Company plan or program, including base salary, bonuses or commissions
and compensation previously deferred by the Executive Officer.

The Company is authorized and directed pursuant to this Policy to recoup Erroneously Awarded Compensation in compliance with this Policy unless the Compensation Committee has determined
that recovery would be impracticable solely for the following limited reasons, and subject to the following procedural and disclosure requirements:
e  The direct expense paid to a third party to assist in enforcing the Policy would exceed the amount to be recovered. Before concluding that it would be impracticable to recover any
amount of Erroneously Awarded Compensation based on expense of enforcement, the Company must make a reasonable attempt to recover such Erroneously Awarded Compensation,
document such reasonable attempt(s) to recover and provide that documentation to Nasdaq;

e  Recovery would violate home country law of the Company where that law was adopted prior to November 28, 2022. Before concluding that it would be impracticable to recover any
amount of Erroneously Awarded Compensation based on violation of home country law of the Company, the Company must obtain an opinion of home country counsel, acceptable to
Nasdag, that recovery would result in such a violation, and must provide such opinion to Nasdag; or

e  Recovery would likely cause an otherwise tax-qualified retirement plan, under which benefits are broadly available to employees of the Company, to fail to meet the requirements of
26 U.S.C. 401(a)(13) or 26 U.S.C. 411(a) and regulations thereunder.

5. No Indemnification of Executives Officers.
Notwithstanding the terms of any indemnification or insurance policy or any contractual arrangement with any Executive Officer that may be interpreted to the contrary, the Company shall not
indemnify any Executive Officers against the loss of any Erroneously Awarded Compensation, including any payment or reimbursement for the cost of third-party insurance purchased by any
Executive Officers to fund potential clawback obligations under this Policy.
6. Required Policy-Related Filings.
The Company shall file all disclosures with respect to this Policy in accordance with the requirements of the federal securities laws, including disclosures required by SEC filings.
7. Acknowledgement.
Each Executive Officer shall sign and return to the Company within thirty (30) calendar days following the later of (i) the effective date of this Policy set forth below or (ii) the date such individual
becomes an Executive Officer, the Acknowledgement Form attached hereto as Appendix A, pursuant to which the Executive Officer agrees to be bound by, and to comply with, the terms and
conditions of this Policy.
8.Administration
This Policy shall be administered by the Board or, if so designated by the Board, the Compensation Committee, in which case references herein to the Board shall be deemed references to the
Compensation Committee. Any determinations made by the Board shall be final and binding on all affected individuals.
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9. Policy Not in Limitation

The Board intends that this Policy shall be applied to the fullest extent of the law. Any right of recoupment under this Policy is in addition to, and not in lieu of, any other remedies or rights of
recoupment that may be available to the Company under applicable law or pursuant to the terms of any similar policy in any employment agreement, equity award agreement, or similar agreement
and any other legal remedies available to the Company.

Nothing contained in this Policy, and no recoupment or recovery as contemplated by this Policy, shall limit any claims, damages or other legal remedies the Company or any of its affiliates may have
against an Executive Officer arising out of or resulting from any actions or omissions by the Executive Officer.

10. Amendment; Termination.

The Board may amend, modify, supplement, rescind or replace all or any portion of this Policy at any time and from time to time in its discretion, and shall amend this Policy as it deems necessary to
comply with applicable law or any rules or standards adopted by a national securities exchange on which the Company’s securities are listed.

11. Successors.

This Policy is binding and enforceable against all Executive Officers and their beneficiaries, heirs, executors, administrators or other legal representatives.

12 Effective Date.

This Policy shall be effective as of October 2, 2023. The terms of this Policy shall apply to any Incentive-Based Compensation that is received by Executive Officers on or after October 2, 2023, even
if such Incentive-Based Compensation was approved, awarded or granted to Executive Officers prior to such date.

Approved and adopted: November 10, 2023

Appendix A
OPTIMIZERX CORPORATION
CLAWBACK POLICY

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT FORM
By signing below, the undersigned acknowledges and confirms that the undersigned has received and reviewed a copy of the OptimizeRx Corporation (the “Company”) Clawback Policy (the
“Policy”).
By signing this Acknowledgement Form, the undersigned acknowledges and agrees that the undersigned is and will continue to be subject to the Policy and that the Policy will apply both during and
after the undersigned’s employment or service with the Company. Further, by signing below, the undersigned agrees to abide by the terms of the Policy, including, without limitation, by returning any
Erroneously Awarded Compensation (as defined in the Policy) to the Company to the extent required by, and in a manner consistent with, the Policy.

EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Signature
Print Name
Date
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DISCLAIMER

THE INFORMATION CONTAINED IN THE REFINITIV CORPORATE DISCLOSURES DELTA REPORT™ |S A COMPARISON OF TWO FINANCIALS PERIODIC
REPORTS. THERE MAY BE MATERIAL ERRORS, OMISSIONS, OR INACCURACIES IN THE REPORT INCLUDING THE TEXT AND THE COMPARISON DATA
AND TABLES. IN NO WAY DOES REFINITIV OR THE APPLICABLE COMPANY ASSUME ANY RESPONSIBILITY FOR ANY INVESTMENT OR OTHER
DECISIONS MADE BASED UPON THE INFORMATION PROVIDED IN THIS REPORT. USERS ARE ADVISED TO REVIEW THE APPLICABLE COMPANY’S
ACTUAL SEC FILINGS BEFORE MAKING ANY INVESTMENT OR OTHER DECISIONS.

©2024, Refinitiv. All rights reserved. Patents Pending.

REFINITIV CORPORATE DISCLOSURES | www.refinitiv.com | Contact Us 142/142
©2024 Refinitiv. All rights reserved. Republication or redistribution of Refinitiv content, including by framing or similar means, is prohibited without the prior written R E F I N I T I V I ‘

consent of Refinitiv. 'Refinitiv' and the Refinitiv logo are registered trademarks of Refinitiv and its affiliated companies.



https://www.refinitiv.com/
https://www.refinitiv.com/en/contact-us

